
TABLE OF CONTENTS  

UNITED STATES  
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  

Washington, D.C. 20549  

Form 10-K  

(Mark One)  

For the Year ended December 31, 2014  
OR  

For the transition period from                 to                  
1-35573  

(Commission file number)  

TRONOX LIMITED  
(ACN 153 348 111)  

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)  

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (203) 705-3800  
Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:  

Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None  
Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes � No �  

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act. Yes � No �  

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing 
requirements for the past 90 days. Yes � No �  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Website, if any, every Interactive Data File required 
to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that 
the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes � No �  

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and 
will not be contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-
K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. �  

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See 
the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):  

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes � No �  

The aggregate market value of the ordinary shares held by non-affiliates of the Registrant as of June 30, 2014 was approximately $3,072,038,884.  

� ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

� � � � TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

Western Australia, Australia  
(State or Other Jurisdiction of  
Incorporation or Organization) 

98-1026700  
(I.R.S. Employer  

Identification Number) 

263 Tresser Boulevard, Suite 1100  
Stamford, Connecticut 06901 

1 Brodie Hall Drive  
Technology Park  

Bentley, Australia 6102 

Title of each class  Name of each exchange on which registered  

Class A Ordinary Shares, par value $0.01 per share New York Stock Exchange 

Large accelerated filer � Accelerated filer � 

Non-accelerated filer � Smaller reporting company � 



Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Section 12, 13 or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 subsequent to the distribution of securities under a plan confirmed by a court. Yes � No �  

As of January 30, 2015, the Registrant had 64,130,178 shares of Class A ordinary shares and 51,154,280 shares of Class B ordinary shares outstanding.  
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE  

Portions of the Registrant’s proxy statement for its 2015 annual general meeting of shareholders are incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K in 
response to Part III Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14.  



TABLE OF CONTENTS  

TRONOX LIMITED  
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014  
INDEX  

Form 10-K Item Number  Page  

PART I         
Item 1. Business   3    
Item 1A. Risk Factors   13    
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments   23    
Item 2. Properties   23    
Item 3. Legal Proceedings   38    
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures   38    
PART II         
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities   38    
Item 6. Selected Financial Data   38    
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations   41    
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk   57    
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data   59    
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure   114    
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures   114    
Item 9B. Other Information   115    
PART III         
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance   115    
Item 11. Executive Compensation   115    
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters   115    
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence   116    
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services   116    
PART IV         
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules   116    
SIGNATURES   121    

1  



TABLE OF CONTENTS  

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  

We have made statements under the captions “Business,” “Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations”, and in other sections of this Form 10-K that are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking 
statements also can be identified by words such as “future,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” 
“predicts,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “can,” “may,”  and similar terms. These forward-looking statements, which are subject to known 
and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us, may include projections of our future financial performance based on our 
growth strategies and anticipated trends in our business. These statements are only predictions based on our current expectations and 
projections about future events. There are important factors that could cause our actual results, level of activity, performance or 
achievements to differ materially from the results, level of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-
looking statements. In particular, you should consider the numerous risks and uncertainties outlined in “Risk Factors.”  

These risks and uncertainties are not exhaustive. Other sections of this Form 10-K may include additional factors, which could 
adversely impact our business and financial performance. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing 
environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for our management to predict all risks and 
uncertainties, nor can management assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of 
factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.  

Although we believe the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future 
results, level of activity, performance or achievements. Moreover, neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the 
accuracy or completeness of any of these forward-looking statements. You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as 
predictions of future events. We are under no duty to update any of these forward-looking statements after the date of this Form 10-K to 
conform our prior statements to actual results or revised expectations and we do not intend to do so.  

We are committed to providing timely and accurate information to the investing public, consistent with our legal and regulatory 
obligations. To that end, we use our website to convey information about our businesses, including the anticipated release of quarterly 
financial results, quarterly financial and statistical and business-related information. Investors can link to the Tronox Limited website 
through http://www.tronox.com . Our website and the information contained therein or connected thereto shall not be deemed to be 
incorporated into this Form 10-K.  
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PART I  

For the purposes of this discussion, references to “we,” “us,” and, “our” refer to Tronox Limited, together with its consolidated 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Tronox”), when discussing the business following the completion of the Transaction, and to 
Tronox Incorporated, together with its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Tronox Incorporated”), when discussing 
the business prior to the completion of the Transaction.  

Item 1. Business  

Tronox Limited, a public limited company registered under the laws of the State of Western Australia and its subsidiaries is a 
global leader in the production and marketing of titanium bearing feedstocks and titanium dioxide pigment (“TiO 2 ”). Our world-class, 
high performance TiO 2 products are critical components of everyday applications such as paint and other coatings, plastics, paper and 
other applications. Our mineral sands business consists primarily of three product streams — titanium feedstock, zircon and pig iron. 
Titanium feedstock is primarily used to manufacture TiO 2 . Zircon, a hard, glossy mineral, is used for the manufacture of ceramics, 
refractories, TV screen glass and a range of other industrial and chemical products. Pig iron is a metal material used in the steel and 
metal casting industries to create wrought iron, cast iron and steel.  

On September 25, 2011, Tronox Incorporated entered into a definitive agreement (as amended) with Exxaro Resources Limited 
(“Exxaro”) and certain of its affiliated companies, to acquire 74% of Exxaro’s South African mineral sands operations, including its 
Namakwa and KwaZulu-Natal (“KZN”) Sands mines, separation and slag furnaces, along with its 50% share of the Tiwest Joint 
Venture in Western Australia (together the “mineral sands business”) (the “Transaction”). On June 15, 2012, the date of the 
Transaction, Tronox Limited issued Class B ordinary shares (“Class B Shares”) to Exxaro and one of its subsidiaries in consideration 
for the mineral sands business, and the existing business of Tronox Incorporated was combined with the mineral sands business in an 
integrated series of transactions whereby Tronox Limited became the parent company.  

Under the terms of the Shareholder’s Deed entered into upon completion of the Transaction, Exxaro agreed that for a three-year 
period after the completion of the Transaction (the “Standstill Period”), it would not engage in any transaction or other action that 
would result in its beneficial ownership of the voting shares of Tronox Limited exceeding 45% of the total issued shares of Tronox 
Limited. At December 31, 2014, Exxaro held approximately 44% of the voting securities of Tronox Limited. In addition, except under 
certain circumstances, Exxaro agreed not to sell, pledge or otherwise transfer any such voting shares during the Standstill Period. After 
the Standstill Period, Exxaro has agreed not to acquire any voting shares of Tronox Limited if, following such acquisition, Exxaro will 
have a voting interest in Tronox Limited of 50% or more unless Exxaro brings any proposal to make such an acquisition to the Board of 
Directors of Tronox Limited on a confidential basis. In the event an agreement regarding the proposal is not reached, Exxaro is 
permitted to make a takeover offer for all the shares of Tronox Limited not held by affiliates of Exxaro, subject to certain non-waivable 
conditions. In connection with the Transaction, Exxaro retained a 26% ownership interest in our South African operations that are part 
of the mineral sands business in order to comply with the Black Economic Empowerment (“BEE”) legislation of South Africa.  

Principal Business Lines  

We have two reportable operating segments, Mineral Sands and Pigment. Corporate and Other consists of our electrolytic 
manufacturing and marketing operations, as well as our corporate activities.  

Mineral Sands  

Our Mineral Sands segment includes the exploration, mining and beneficiation of mineral sands deposits, and is comprised of the 
following:  

• Our KZN Sands operations consist of the Fairbreeze mine (which has not yet entered into commercial production), a 
concentration plant, a mineral separation plant, and a smelter complex with two furnaces; 

• Our Namakwa Sands operations include the Namakwa Sands mine, a primary concentration plant, a secondary concentration 
plant, a mineral separation plant, and a smelter complex with two furnaces; and, 
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Our mineral sands operations have a combined annual production capacity of approximately 753,000 metric tons of titanium 
feedstock, which is comprised of 97,000 metric tons of rutile, 26,000 metric tons of leucoxene, 220,000 metric tons of synthetic rutile, 
and 410,000 metric tons of titanium slag. Our mining operations also produce 265,000 metric tons of zircon and 221,000 metric tons of 
pig iron.  

To ensure we are in the best position to meet future feedstock needs and take advantage of our vertical integration, we continue to 
evaluate future mine sites through our mineral sands exploration programs in Australia and South Africa. Our most notable project is 
the development of the Fairbreeze mine near our KZN Sands operations in South Africa. Depending on construction, the Fairbreeze 
mine is expected to begin operations at the end of 2015, and be fully operational in 2016. The Fairbreeze mine is estimated to have a 
life expectancy of approximately 15 years.  

Minerals Sands Products  

“Mineral sands” refers to concentrations of heavy minerals in an alluvial environment (sandy or sedimentary deposits near a sea, 
river or other water source).  

Titanium Feedstock  

Ilmenite, rutile, leucoxene, titanium slag and synthetic rutile are all used primarily as feedstock for the production of TiO 2 . 
According to the latest data provided by TZ Minerals International Pty Ltd (“TZMI”), more than 90% of the world’s consumption of 
titanium feedstock is used for the production of TiO 2 .  

Titanium feedstock can be segmented based on the level of titanium contained within the feedstock, with substantial overlap 
between each segment. Different grades of titanium feedstock have similar characteristics. As such, TiO 2 producers generally source 
and supply a variety of feedstock grades, and often blend them into one feedstock. The lower amount of titanium used in the TiO 2 
manufacturing process, the more feedstock required and waste material produced. Naturally occurring high-grade titanium minerals 
required for the production of TiO 2 are limited in supply. Two processes have been developed commercially: one for the production of 
titanium slag and the other for the production of synthetic rutile. Both processes use ilmenite as a raw material, and involve the removal 
of iron oxides and other non-titanium material.  

Ilmenite — Ilmenite is the most abundant titanium mineral, with naturally occurring ilmenite having a titanium dioxide content 
ranging from approximately 35% to 65%, depending on its geological history. The weathering of ilmenite in its natural environment 
results in oxidation of the iron, which increases titanium content.  

Rutile — Rutile is essentially composed of crystalline titanium and, in its pure state, would contain close to 100% titanium 
dioxide. Naturally occurring rutile, however, usually contains minor impurities and therefore, commercial concentrates of this mineral 
typically contain approximately 94% to 96% titanium dioxide.  

Leucoxene — Leucoxene is a natural alteration of ilmenite with a titanium dioxide content ranging from approximately 65% to 
more than 90%. The weathering process is responsible for the alteration of ilmenite to leucoxene, which results in the removal of iron, 
leading to an upgrade in titanium dioxide content.  

Titanium Slag — The production of titanium slag involves smelting ilmenite in an electric arc furnace under reducing conditions, 
normally with anthracite (coal) used as a reducing agent. The slag forms a liquid layer on top of the liquid pig iron. Slag, containing the 
bulk of the titanium and impurities other than iron, and a high purity pig iron are both produced in this process. The final quality of the 
slag is highly dependent on the quality of the original ilmenite and the ash composition of the anthracite used in the furnace. Titanium 
slag has a titanium content of approximately 75% to 90%. Our slag typically contains 85% to 88% titanium dioxide.  

Synthetic Rutile — A number of processes have been developed for the beneficiation of ilmenite into products containing between 
approximately 90% and 95% titanium. These products are known as synthetic rutile or upgraded ilmenite. The processes employed 
vary in terms of the extent to which the ilmenite grain is reduced,  

• Our Western Australia operations, which consist of the Cooljarloo Sands mine and concentration plant and the Chandala 
processing plant, which includes a mineral separation plant, and a synthetic rutile plant. 
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and the precise nature of the reducing reaction and the conditions used in the subsequent removal of iron. All of the existing 
commercial processes are based on the reduction of ilmenite in a rotary kiln, followed by leaching under various conditions to remove 
the iron from the reduced ilmenite grains. Our synthetic rutile has a titanium dioxide content of approximately 90% to 93%.  

Co-products  

Zircon — Zircon is frequently, but not always, found in the mineral sands deposits containing ilmenite. It is extracted, alongside 
ilmenite and rutile, as part of the initial mineral sands beneficiation process. Zircon is a mineral which is primarily used as an additive 
in ceramic glazes to add hardness, which makes the ceramic glaze more water, chemical and abrasion resistant. It is also used for the 
production of zirconium and zirconium chemicals, in refractories, as molding sand in foundries, and for TV screen glass, where it is 
noted for its structural stability at high temperatures and resistance to abrasive and corrosive conditions. Zircon typically represents a 
relatively low proportion of the in-situ heavy mineral sands deposits, but has a relatively higher value compared to other heavy mineral 
products. Refractories containing zircon are expensive and are only used in demanding, high-wear and corrosive applications in the 
glass, steel and cement industries. Foundry applications use zircon when casting articles of high quality and value where accurate sizing 
is crucial, such as aerospace, automotive, medical, and other high-end applications.  

High Purity Pig Iron — The process by which ilmenite is converted into titanium slag results in the production of high purity pig 
iron containing low levels of manganese. When pig iron is produced in this manner, the molten iron is tapped from the ilmenite furnace 
during the smelting process, alloyed by adding carbon and silicon and treated to reduce the sulfur content, and is then cast into ingots, 
or “pigs.” The pig iron produced as a co-product of our titanium slag production is known as high purity pig iron.  

Mining  

The mining of mineral sands deposits is conducted either “wet,” by dredging or hydraulic water jets, or “dry,” using earth-moving 
equipment to excavate and transport the sands. Dredging, as used at the Cooljarloo mine, is generally the favored method of mining 
mineral sands, provided that the ground conditions are suitable and water is readily available. In situations involving hard ground, 
discontinuous ore bodies, small tonnage, high slimes contents or very high grades, dry mining techniques are generally preferred.  

Dredge Mining — Dredge mining, or wet mining, is best suited to ore reserves located below the water table. A floating dredge 
removes the ore from the bottom of an artificial pond through a large suction pipe. The bulk sand material is fed as slurry through a 
primary, or “wet,” concentrator that is typically towed behind the dredge unit. The dredge slowly advances across the pond and deposits 
clean sand tailings behind the pond for subsequent revegetation and rehabilitation. Because of the capital cost involved in the 
manufacturing and location, dredge mining is most suitable for large, long-life deposits. The dredging operations at Cooljarloo use two 
large floating dredges in a purpose-built pond. The slurry is pumped to a floating concentrator, which recovers heavy minerals from the 
sand and clay.  

Hydraulic Mining — We employ a unique hydraulic mining method at KZN Sands for mineral sands due to the topography of the 
ore body and the ore characteristics. A jet of high-pressure water is aimed at the mining face, thereby cutting into and loosening the 
sand so that it collapses on the floor. The water acts as a carrier medium for the sand, due to the high fines content contained in the ore 
body. The slurry generated by the hydraulic monitors flows to a collection sump where oversize material is removed and the slurry is 
then pumped to the primary concentration plant.  

Dry Mining — Dry mining is suitable where mineral deposits are shallow, contain hard bands of rock, or are in a series of 
unconnected ore bodies. Dry mining is performed at Namakwa Sands, which is located in an arid region on the west coast of South 
Africa. The ore is mined with front end loaders in a load and carry operation, dumping the mineral bearing sands onto a conveyor belt 
system that follows behind the mining face. The harder layers are mined using hydraulic excavators in a backhoe configuration or by 
bulldozer. Namakwa Sands does not use blasting in its operations. The mined material is transported by trucks to the mineral sizers 
where primary reduction takes place.  

Processing  

Both wet and dry mining techniques utilize wet concentrator plants to produce a high grade of heavy mineral concentrate 
(typically approximately 90% to 98% heavy mineral content). Screened ore is first deslimed,  
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a process by which slimes (mineral particles that are too fine to be economically extracted and other materials that remain after the 
valuable fraction of an ore has been separated from the uneconomic fraction) are separated from larger particles of minerals, and then 
washed through a series of spiral separators that use gravity to separate the heavy mineral sands from lighter materials, such as quartz. 
Residue from the concentration process is pumped back into either the open pits or slimes dams for rehabilitation and water recovery. 
Water used in the process is recycled into a clean water dam with any additional water requirements made up from pit dewatering or 
rainfall.  

Mineral Separation  

The non-magnetic (zircon and rutile) and magnetic (ilmenite) concentrates are passed through a dry mill to separate out the 
minerals. Electrostatic and dry magnetic methods are used to further separate the ilmenite, rutile and zircon. Electrostatic separation 
relies on the difference in surface conductivity of the materials to be separated. Conductive minerals (such as ilmenite, rutile and 
leucoxene) behave differently from non-conductive minerals (such as zircon) when subjected to electrical forces. Magnetic separation 
techniques are dependent on the iron content of a mineral. Magnetic minerals (such as ilmenite) will separate from non-magnetic 
minerals (such as rutile and leucoxene) when subjected to a magnetic field. A combination of gravity and magnetic separation is used to 
separate zircon from the non-magnetic portion of the heavy mineral concentrate. The heavy mineral concentrate at KZN Sands and 
Namakwa Sands is passed through wet high-intensity magnetic separation to produce a non-magnetic fraction and a magnetic fraction.  

Smelting — Ilmenite at KZN Sands and Namakwa Sands is processed further through direct current arc furnaces to produce 
titanium slag with a titanium content of approximately 86% to 89%. The smelting process comprises the reduction of ilmenite to 
produce titanium slag and pig iron. Ilmenite and as-received anthracite (dried to remove water before smelting) are fed in a tightly 
controlled ratio through a hollow electrode into an operating furnace where the endothermic reduction of ilmenite occurs. The resultant 
titanium slag has a lower density than the iron, and separation of the two liquid products occurs inside the furnace. The slag and iron 
are tapped periodically from separate sets of tapholes located around the circumference of the furnace. Slag is tapped into steel pots and 
cooled for several hours in the pots before the slag blocks are tipped out. The blocks are subsequently transported to the blockyard 
where they are cooled under water sprays for a number of days. They are then crushed, milled, and separated according to size 
fractions, as required by the customers. The tapped pig iron is re-carburized and de-sulfurized, and cast into pigs.  

Synthetic Rutile Production — Higher grade ilmenite may also be upgraded into synthetic rutile. Synthetic rutile, or upgraded 
ilmenite, is a chemically modified form of ilmenite that has the majority of the ferrous, non-titanium components removed, and is also 
suitable for use in the production of titanium metal or TiO 2 using the chloride process. Ilmenite is converted to synthetic rutile in a 
two-stage pyrometallurgical and chemical process. The first stage involves heating ilmenite in a large rotary kiln. Coal is used as a heat 
source and, when burned in a limited air environment, it produces carbon monoxide, which promotes a reducing environment that 
converts the iron oxide contained in the ilmenite to metallic iron. The intermediate product, called reduced ilmenite, is a highly 
magnetic sand grain due to the presence of the metallic iron. The second stage involves the conversion of reduced ilmenite to synthetic 
rutile by removing the metallic iron from the reduced ilmenite grain. This conversion is achieved through aeration (oxidation), 
accelerated through the use of ammonium chloride as a catalyst, and acid leaching of the iron to dissolve it out of the reduced ilmenite. 
Activated carbon is also produced as a co-product of the synthetic rutile production process.  

Raw Materials  

Our smelters at KZN Sands and Namakwa Sands use anthracite as a reducing agent, which although available from a variety of 
suppliers, is metallurgically specific in certain conditions. Namakwa Sands imports high-quality anthracite for its smelter from 
Vietnam. Vietnam has a large anthracite resource; however, the Vietnamese government regulates both the price and sales volumes of 
anthracite. Both of the KZN Sands furnaces use anthracite from two local suppliers. Low ash and sulfur content are the main quality 
considerations. Anthracite suppliers with similar cost and availability to the Vietnamese supplier are available in Russia and Ukraine, as 
well as locally to our South African operations. Alternatively, char may be used as a substitute reducing agent for anthracite.  

Our KZN Sands operations currently use Sasol gas, which is available only from Sasol Limited (“Sasol”). However, Sasol gas 
could be replaced with furnace off-gas produced by KZN Sands, if necessary. KZN Sands is  
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currently in the process of increasing its use of furnace off-gas. Construction of a 13.6 megawatt co-generation plant at Namakwa 
Sands has been completed. The plant, which consumes all furnace off-gas, produces electricity that is offset against current 
consumption sourced from Eskom, the state-owned electricity supplier.  

Our synthetic rutile operation at Chandala uses coal as a reducing agent, which is available locally from two suppliers, both of 
which have extensive coal resources. The synthetic rutile process relies on the quality of coal from southwest Western Australia for the 
efficient production of quality synthetic rutile and activated carbon from the synthetic rutile kiln. Other types of coal could be used if 
both of the current coal suppliers were unavailable, but some temporary adverse impact on the production and cost of synthetic rutile at 
Chandala would be likely.  

Sales and Marketing  

We currently produce more chloride and sulfate slag than we consume at our TiO 2 production facilities. As such, this slag is 
available for sale to third parties. The geographic market for titanium feedstock is global in scope, and TiO 2 producers regularly source 
and transport titanium feedstock from suppliers located around the world. During 2014, 77% of feedstock revenue was derived from 
intercompany sales, with the remaining attributable to third-party sales.  

Although we use agents and distributors for some sales in the Asia-Pacific region, direct relationship marketing is the primary 
technique that we employ for the marketing of titanium feedstocks. Multi-year contracts are negotiated with periodic pricing for the 
pigment industry, while the contract period for other industries tends to be less than one year (either per shipment, quarterly, half year 
or one year). Pricing for titanium feedstocks is usually adjusted either on a quarterly or half-year basis. A portion of the zircon 
produced at Namakwa Sands is supplied pursuant to long-term multi-year contracts with some of our larger European customers. The 
tonnage is subject to agreement on pricing, which we negotiate at quarterly intervals or on a shipment-by-shipment basis. For customers 
of KZN Sands, and for smaller customers of Namakwa Sands, we contract zircon tonnage and pricing on a quarterly basis. We seek to 
avoid the use of agents and traders for the sale of zircon, favoring long-term relationships directly with end users.  

Seasonality  

Because TiO 2 is widely used in paint and other coatings, titanium feedstocks are in higher demand prior to the painting season in 
the Northern Hemisphere (spring and summer), and pig iron is in lower demand during the European summer holidays, when many 
steel plants and foundries undergo maintenance. Zircon generally is a non-seasonal product; however, it is negatively impacted by the 
winter and Chinese New Year celebrations due to reduced zircon demand from China.  

Competitive Conditions  

According to TZMI data, globally, there are a small number of large mining companies or groups that are involved in the 
production of titanium feedstock, and these are dominated by close relationships between miners and consumers (predominately 
pigment producers). Additionally, according to TZMI data, we are the second largest titanium feedstock producer with approximately 
10% of global titanium feedstock production. Rio Tinto, through its ownership of Canadian-based Fer et Titane, its share in Richards 
Bay Minerals (“RBM”) in South Africa, and ownership of QMM Madagascar, is the largest producer of titanium feedstock in the 
world. Australian-based Iluka Resources Limited is the third largest manufacturer, with operations in Australia and the United States. A 
number of other manufacturers, such as Cristal Global (Saudi Arabia), E. I. du Pont de Nemours and Company (United States), 
Kenmare Resources plc (Ireland), Kronos Worldwide Inc. (Europe), Pangang Titanium Industry Co Ltd (China), VV Mineral (India), 
Kerala Mines and Metals Limited (India), and Ostchem Holding AG (Eastern Europe) also supply titanium feedstock to the global 
market.  

Pigment  

Our Pigment segment primarily produces and markets TiO 2 , and has production facilities at the following locations: Hamilton, 
Mississippi; Botlek, The Netherlands; and Kwinana, Western Australia, representing an aggregate of 465,000 metric tons of annual TiO 

2 production capacity.  

TiO 2 is a critical component of everyday consumer applications due to its brightness and superior ability to cover or mask other 
materials effectively and efficiently relative to alternative white pigments and extenders.  
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TiO 2 is considered to be a quality of life product, and some research indicates that consumption generally increases as disposable 
income increases. At present, it is our belief that there is no effective mineral substitute for TiO 2 because no other white pigment has 
the physical properties for achieving comparable opacity and brightness, or can be incorporated as cost effectively.  

TiO 2 is used in a wide range of products due to its ability to impart whiteness, brightness and opacity, and is designed, marketed 
and sold based on specific end-use applications. TiO 2 is used extensively in the manufacture of paint and other coatings, plastics and 
paper and in a wide range of other applications, including inks, fibers, rubber, food, cosmetics and pharmaceuticals. According to 
TZMI data, the paint and coatings sector is the largest consumer of pigment with 56% of total pigment consumption in 2014, while the 
plastics sector accounted for 24% and the remaining 20% was divided between paper, inks, fibers, and other.  

TiO 2 Manufacturing Process 
 

TiO 2 is produced using a combination of processes involving the manufacture of base pigment particles followed by surface 
treatment, drying and milling (collectively known as finishing). Two commercial production processes are used by manufacturers: the 
chloride process and the sulphate process. All of our TiO 2 is produced using the chloride process. We are one of a limited number of 
TiO 2 producers in the world with chloride production technology. TiO 2 produced using the chloride process is preferred for some of 
the largest end-use applications.  

The chloride process is a newer technology, and we believe it has several advantages over the sulphate process: it generates less 
waste, uses less energy, is less labor intensive, permits the direct recycle of chlorine, a major process chemical, back into the production 
process, and produces what is considered a high quality product. In the chloride process, high quality feedstock ores (slag, synthetic 
rutile, natural rutile or, in limited cases, high titanium content ilmenite ores) are reacted with chlorine (the chlorination step) and carbon 
to form titanium tetrachloride (“TiCl 4 ”) in a continuous fluid bed reactor. Purification of TiCl 4 to remove other chlorinated products 
is accomplished using a distillation process. The purified TiCl 4 is then oxidized in a vapor phase form to produce raw pigment particles 
and chlorine gas. The latter is recycled back to the chlorination step for reuse. Raw pigment is then typically slurried with water and 
dispersants prior to entering the finishing step. The chloride process currently accounts for substantially all of the industry-wide TiO 2 
production capacity in North America, and approximately 46% of industry-wide capacity globally.  

Commercial production of TiO 2 results in one of two different crystal forms: rutile, which is manufactured using either the 
chloride process or the sulphate process, or anatase, which is only produced using the sulfate process. All of our global production 
capacity utilizes the chloride process to produce rutile TiO 2 . Rutile TiO 2 is preferred over anatase TiO 2 for many of the largest end-
use applications, such as coatings and plastics, because its higher refractive index imparts better hiding power at lower quantities than 
the anatase crystal form and it is more suitable for outdoor use because it is more durable. Although rutile TiO 2 can be produced using 
either the chloride process or the sulphate process, some customers prefer rutile produced using the chloride process because it typically 
has a bluer undertone and greater durability.  

Raw Materials  

Titanium Feedstock — The primary raw materials used to produce TiO 2 are titanium feedstock, chlorine and coke. During 2014, 
100% of our Pigment segment feedstock purchases were from our Mineral Sands segment. Currently, we believe we are the only TiO 2 
manufacturer in the world to have 100% of our feedstock supply requirements under common ownership.  

Chemicals — Other chemicals used in the production of TiO 2 , such as chlorine, oxygen, nitrogen and coke, are purchased from 
various companies under long-term supply contracts. In the past we have been, and we expect that we will continue to be, successful in 
obtaining short-term and long-term extensions to these and other existing supply contracts prior to their expiration. We expect the raw 
materials purchased under these contracts, and contracts that we may enter into in the near term, to meet our requirements over the next 
several years.  
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Sales and Marketing  

We supply and market TiO 2 under the brand name TRONOX ® to approximately 1,100 customers in approximately 90 countries, 
including market leaders in each of the key end-use markets for TiO 2, and we have supplied each of our top ten customers with TiO 2 
for more than 10 years. The tables below summarize our 2014 TiO 2 sales volume by geography and end-use market:  

In addition to price and product quality, we compete on the basis of technical support and customer service. Our direct sales and 
technical service organizations execute our sales and marketing strategy, and work together to provide quality customer service. Our 
direct sales staff is trained in all of our products and applications. Due to the technical requirements of TiO 2 applications, our technical 
service organization and direct sales offices are supported by a regional customer service staff located in each of our major geographic 
markets.  

We believe our TiO 2 operations, and specifically our plant in Hamilton, Mississippi, are among the lowest-cost producers of TiO 

2 globally. This is of particular importance as it positions us to be competitive through all facets of the TiO 2 cycle. Moreover, our three 
TiO 2 production facilities are strategically positioned in key geographies. The Hamilton facility is currently the third-largest TiO 2 
production facility in the world, and has the size and scale to service customers in North America and around the globe. Our Kwinana 
plant, located in Australia, is well positioned to service the growing demand from Asia. Our Botlek facility, located in The Netherlands, 
services our European customers and certain specialized applications globally.  

Our sales and marketing strategy focuses on effective customer management through the development of strong relationships. We 
develop customer relationships and manage customer contact through our sales team, technical service organization, research and 
development team, customer service team, plant operations personnel, supply chain specialists, and senior management visits. We 
believe that multiple points of customer contact facilitate efficient problem solving, supply chain support, formula optimization, and 
product co-development.  

Seasonality  

The demand for TiO 2 during a given year is subject to seasonal fluctuations. Because TiO 2 is widely used in paint and other 
coatings, TiO 2 is in higher demand prior to the painting season in the Northern Hemisphere (spring and summer).  

Competitive Conditions  

According to the latest TZMI data, industry production grew 8% to 5.5 million metric tons in 2014 compared to a decline of 2% 
with 5.1 million metric tons in 2013 and 5.2 million metric tons in 2012.We compete in a global market that has multiple other vendors. 
The global market in which our TiO 2 business operates is competitive. Competition is based on a number of factors such as price, 
product quality, and service. We face competition not only from chloride process pigment producers, but from sulfate process pigment 
producers as well. Moreover, because transportation costs are minor relative to the cost of our product, there is also competition 
between products produced in one region versus products produced in another region.  

During 2014, we had global TiO 2 production capacity of 465,000 metric tons per year, which was approximately 6.5% of global 
pigment capacity. We face competition from competitors with facilities in multiple regions, including E. I. du Pont de Nemours and 
Company, Cristal Global, Huntsman Pigments, and Kronos Worldwide Inc. We estimate that, based on nameplate capacity, these five 
companies (including Tronox) accounted for approximately 58% of the global capacity. In addition to the major competitors discussed 
above,  

2014 Sales Volume by Geography  

North America    41 % 
Latin America    5 % 
Europe    24 % 
Asia-Pacific    30 % 

2014 Sales Volume by End-Use Market  

Paints and Coatings    80 % 
Plastics    18 % 
Paper and Specialty    2 % 
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we compete with numerous smaller, regional producers, including producers in China that have expanded their sulphate production 
capacity during the previous five years.  

Research and Development  

We have research and development facilities that service our products, and focus on applied research and development of both 
new and existing processes. Our research and development facilities supporting our mineral sands business are located in South Africa, 
while the majority of scientists supporting our pigment and electrolytic research and development efforts are located in Oklahoma City, 
Oklahoma.  

New process developments are focused on increased throughput, efficiency gains and general processing equipment-related 
improvements. Ongoing development of process technology contributes to cost reduction, enhanced production flexibility, increased 
capacity, and improved consistency of product quality. In 2014, our product development and commercialization efforts were focused 
on several TiO 2 products that deliver added value to customers across all end use segments by way of enhanced properties of the 
pigment.  

Patents, Trademarks, Trade Secrets and Other Intellectual Property Rights  

Protection of our proprietary intellectual property is important to our business. At December 31, 2014, we held 49 U.S. patents, 9 
patent applications, and approximately 240 in foreign counterparts, including both issued patents and pending patent applications. Our 
U.S. patents have expiration dates ranging from 2015 through 2131. Additionally, we have 4 trademark registrations and 1 pending 
trademark registration in the U.S., as well as 38 trademark registrations and 2 pending trademark registrations in foreign counterparts.  

We rely upon, and have taken steps to secure our unpatented proprietary technology, know-how and other trade secrets. The 
substantial majority of pigment business patents relate to our chloride products and production technology. Our proprietary chloride 
production technology is an important part of our overall technology position. However, much of the fundamental intellectual property 
associated with both chloride and sulfate pigment production is no longer subject to patent protection. At Namakwa Sands, we rely on 
intellectual property for our smelting technology, which was granted to us in perpetuity by Anglo American South Africa Limited for 
use on a worldwide basis, pursuant to a non-exclusive license.  

We protect the trademarks that we use in connection with the products we manufacture and sell, and have developed value in 
connection with our long-term use of our trademarks; however, there can be no assurance that the trademark registrations will provide 
meaningful protection against the use of similar trademarks by competitors, or that the value of our trademarks will not be diluted. We 
also use and rely upon unpatented proprietary knowledge, continuing technological innovation and other trade secrets to develop and 
maintain our competitive position. We conduct research activities and protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets through reasonable 
measures, including confidentiality agreements and security procedures. While certain patents held for our products and production 
processes are important to our long-term success, more important is the operational knowledge we possess.  

Employees  

As of December 31, 2014, Tronox had approximately 3,400 employees worldwide, of which 700 are located in the United States, 
600 in Australia, 1,800 in South Africa, and 300 in The Netherlands and other international locations. Our employees in the United 
States are not represented by a union or collective bargaining agreement. In South Africa, over 70% of our workforce belongs to a 
union. In Australia, most employees are not currently represented by a union, but 50% are represented by a collective bargaining 
agreement. In The Netherlands, 50% of our employees are represented by a collective bargaining agreement and 30% are members of a 
union. We consider relations with our employees and labor organizations to be good.  

Environmental, Health and Safety Authorizations  

Mineral Sands  

Our facilities and operations are subject to extensive general and industry-specific environmental, health and safety regulations in 
South Africa and Australia. These regulations include those relating to mine rehabilitation, liability provision, water management, the 
handling and disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous materials, and occupational health and safety. The various legislation and 
regulations are subject to a number of internal and external audits. We believe our mineral sands operations are in compliance, in all 
material respects, with existing health, safety and environmental legislation and regulations.  
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Fairbreeze Authorizations  

In September 2012, the South African Department of Mineral Resources (the “DMR”) approved our amendment application to the 
Environmental Management Program for Fairbreeze. This approval allowed us to commence with selected early-phase construction 
activities while awaiting further authorizations. In September 2013, the South African Department of Water Affairs (the “DWA”) 
issued the Fairbreeze Mine a water-use license for an area covering the majority of the Fairbreeze ore bodies and fines dams. 
Construction activities on these areas commenced soon after receipt of this license. Subsequently, a local conservancy group lodged an 
appeal, which by law automatically suspended the water-use license. Tronox submitted a petition to the DWA in protest of the 
suspension, requesting that the suspension be lifted pending the outcome of the appeal. On February 5, 2014, the DWA approved our 
request to lift the suspension, and we intend to continue with planned construction activities pending the appeal. The appeal process 
makes provision for the appeal to be adjudicated by the Water Tribunal, which is a quasi-judicial body of government. However, the 
legal appointment term of the tribunal ended in 2012, and to date, this body has not been reconstituted and the appeal process has not 
been amended. In order to address the appeal, we have agreed with the DWA to participate in a mediation process to attempt to reach a 
resolution of this matter. During such mediation process, we will continue with planned construction.  

Regulation of the Mining Industry in South Africa  

There are numerous mining-related laws and regulatory authorizations that may impact the performance of our business. These 
include but are not limited to: the Mineral and Petroleum Resources Royalty Act, which imposes a royalty on refined and unrefined 
minerals payable to the South African government; the Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development ACT (the “MPRDA”), which 
governs the acquisition, use and disposal of mineral rights; the South African Minerals Act, which requires each new mine to prepare 
an Environmental Management Program Report for approval by the DMR; the Revised Mining Charter, effective as of September 13, 
2010, which requires, among other conditions, that mining entities achieve a 26% historically disadvantaged persons ownership of 
mining assets by 2014; and, the BEE legislation in South Africa.  

Regulation of the Mining Industry in Australia  

Mining operations in Western Australia are subject to a variety of environmental protection regulations including but not limited 
to: the Environmental Protection Act, the primary source of environmental regulation in Western Australia; and, the Environment 
Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (Cth), which established the federal environment protection regime and prohibits 
the carrying out of a “controlled action” that may have a significant impact on a “matter of national environmental significance.”  

Prescriptive legislation regulates health and safety at mining workplaces in Western Australia. The principal general occupational 
health and safety legislation and regulations are the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 (WA), the Occupational Health and 
Safety Regulations 1996 (WA) and the guidelines. The Mines Safety and Inspection Act 1994 (WA) and Mines Safety and Inspection 
Regulations 1995 (WA) and guidelines provide the relevant legislation for mining operations in Western Australia. The Dangerous 
Goods Act 2004 (WA) applies to the safe storage, handling and transport of dangerous goods.  

Each Australian state and territory has its own legislation regulating the exploration for and mining of minerals. Our operations are 
principally regulated by the Western Australian Mining Act 1978 (WA) and the Mining Regulations 1981 (WA).  

State Agreements  

State Agreements are contracts between the State of Western Australia and the proponents of major resources projects, and are 
intended to foster resource development and related infrastructure investments. These agreements are approved and ratified by the 
Parliament of Western Australia. The State Agreement relevant to our Australian operations and our production of mineral sands is the 
agreement authorized by the Mineral Sands (Cooljarloo) Mining and Processing Agreement Act 1988 (WA). State Agreements may 
only be amended by mutual consent, which reduces the sovereign risk and increases the security of tenure, however Parliament may 
enact legislation that overrules or amends the particular State Agreement.  
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Pigment  

Our pigment business is subject to extensive regulation by federal, state, local and foreign governments. Governmental authorities 
regulate the generation and treatment of waste and air emissions at our operations and facilities. At many of our operations, we also 
comply with worldwide, voluntary standards developed by the International Organization for Standardization (“ISO”), a 
nongovernmental organization that promotes the development of standards and serves as a bridging organization for quality and 
environmental standards, such as ISO 9002 for quality management and ISO 14001 for environmental management.  

Chemical Registration  

The European Union adopted a regulatory framework for chemicals in 2006 known as Registration, Evaluation and Authorization 
of Chemicals (“REACH”). Manufacturers and importers of chemical substances must register information regarding the properties of 
their existing chemical substances with the European Chemicals Agency. The timeline for existing chemical substances to be registered 
is based on volume and toxicity. The first group of chemical substances was required to be registered in 2010, with additional 
registrations due in 2013 and 2018. We registered those products requiring registration by the 2010 and 2013 deadlines. The REACH 
regulations also require chemical substances which are newly imported or manufactured in the European Union to be registered before 
being placed on the market. We are now focused on the authorization phase of the REACH process, and are making efforts to address 
“Substances of Very High Concern” and evaluating potential business implications. As a chemical manufacturer with global operations, 
we are also actively monitoring and addressing analogous regulatory regimes being considered or implemented outside of the EU, for 
example, in Korea and Taiwan. We do not expect the costs of REACH compliance to be material to our operations at this time.  

Greenhouse Gas Regulation  

Globally, our operations are subject to regulations that seek to reduce emissions of “greenhouse gases” (“GHGs”). We currently 
report and manage GHG emissions as required by law for sites located in areas requiring such managing and reporting (European 
Union/Australia). While the United States has not adopted any federal climate change legislation, the EPA has introduced some GHG 
programs. For example, under the EPA’s GHG “Tailoring Rule,” expansions or new construction could be subject to the Clean Air 
Act’s Prevention of Significant Deterioration requirements. Some of our facilities are currently subject to GHG emissions monitoring 
and reporting. Changes or additional requirements due to GHG regulations could impact our capital and operating costs; however, it is 
not possible at the present time to estimate any financial impact to these U.S. operating sites. Also, some in the scientific community 
believe that increasing concentrations of GHGs in the atmosphere may result in climatic changes. Depending on the severity of climatic 
changes, our operations could be adversely affected.  

Segment and Geographic Revenue Information  

Financial information by segment and geographic region is set forth in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Note 25 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Available Information  

Our public internet site is http://www.tronox.com. The content of our internet site is available for information purposes only. It 
should not be relied upon for investment purposes, nor is it incorporated by reference into this annual report unless express noted. We 
make available, free of charge, on or through the investor relations section of our internet site, our annual reports on Form 10-K, 
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed on behalf of directors and 
executive officers, as well as any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably 
practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).  

We file current, annual and quarterly reports, proxy statements and other information required by the Exchange Act with the SEC. 
You may read and copy any document we file at the SEC’s public reference room located at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 
20549, USA, or by calling +1-800-SEC-0330. Our SEC filings are also available to the public from the SEC’s internet site at 
http://www.sec.gov .  
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Item 1A. Risk Factors  

You should carefully consider the risk factors set forth below, as well as the other information contained in this Form 10-K, including 
our consolidated financial statements and related notes. This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and 
uncertainties. Any of the following risks could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. 
Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or those we currently view to be immaterial may also materially and 
adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.  

Economic Factors  

Market conditions, as well as global and regional economic downturns that adversely affect the demand for the end-use products 
that contain TiO 2 or our other products, could adversely affect the profitability of our operations and the prices at which we can 
sell our products, negatively impacting our financial results.  

Our revenue and profitability is largely dependent on the TiO 2 industry either through direct sales of TiO 2 by our pigment 
business, or to TiO 2 producers by our mineral sands business sales. TiO 2 is a chemical used in many “quality of life” products for 
which demand historically has been linked to global, regional and local GDP and discretionary spending, which can be negatively 
impacted by regional and world events or economic conditions. Such events are likely to cause a decrease in demand for our products 
and, as a result, may have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.  

The markets for many of our products have seasonally affected sales patterns.  

The demand for TiO 2 during a given year is subject to seasonal fluctuations. Because TiO 2 is widely used in paint and other 
coatings, titanium feedstock is in higher demand prior to the painting season in the Northern Hemisphere (spring and summer), and pig 
iron is in lower demand during the European summer holidays, when many steel plants and foundries undergo maintenance. Zircon 
generally is a non-seasonal product but is negatively impacted by the winter and Chinese New Year celebrations due to reduced zircon 
demand from China. We may be adversely affected by existing or future cyclical changes, and such conditions may be sustained or 
further aggravated by anticipated or unanticipated changes in regional weather conditions. For example, poor weather conditions in a 
region can lead to an abbreviated painting season, which can depress consumer sales of paint products that use TiO 2 .  

Our results of operations may be adversely affected by fluctuations in currency exchange rates.  

The financial condition and results of operations of our operating entities outside the United States are reported in various foreign 
currencies, primarily South African Rand, Australian Dollars and Euros, and then converted into U.S. dollars at the applicable exchange 
rate for inclusion in the financial statements. As a result, any volatility of the U.S. dollar against these foreign currencies creates 
uncertainty for and may have a negative impact on reported sales and operating margin. We have made a U.S. dollar functional 
currency election for both Australian financial reporting and federal income tax purposes. On this basis, our Australian entities report 
their results of operations on a U.S. dollar basis. In addition, our operating entities often need to convert currencies they receive for 
their products into currencies in which they purchase raw materials or pay for services, which could result in a gain or loss depending 
on fluctuations in exchange rates.  

In order to manage this risk, we have, from time to time, entered into forward contracts to buy and sell foreign currencies as 
“economic hedges” for these foreign currency transactions.  

Our operations may be negatively impacted by inflation.  

Our profits and financial condition could be adversely affected when cost inflation is not offset by devaluation in operating 
currencies or an increase in the price of our products. Our operations have been affected by inflation in the countries in which they have 
operated in recent years. Working costs and wages in South Africa and Australia have increased in recent years, resulting in significant 
cost pressures for the mining industry.  
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As an emerging market, South Africa poses a challenging array of long-term political, economic, financial and operational risks.  

• South Africa has been undergoing political and economic challenges. Changes to or instability in the economic or political 
environment in South Africa, especially if such changes create political instability, actual or potential shortages of production 
materials or labor unrest, could result in production delays and production shortfalls, and materially impact our production 
and results of operations. 

• In South Africa, our mining and smelting operations depend on electrical power generated by Eskom, the state-owned sole 
energy supplier. The contractual Notified Maximum Demand for the Namakwa Sands smelter and KZN Sands smelter sites 
are 72 mega volt amperes (“MVA”) and 87 MVA, respectively. South African electricity prices have risen during the past 
few years, and future increases are likely. Additionally, our KZN Sands operations currently use 245,277 gigajoules of Sasol 
gas, which is available only from Sasol Limited; however, we could replace approximately 30% to 40% of our current Sasol 
gas usage with furnace off-gas produced by KZN Sands, if necessary. KZN Sands is currently in the process of increasing its 
use of furnace off-gas. Construction of a 13.6 megawatt co-generation plant at Namakwa Sands has been completed. The 
plant, which consumes all furnace off-gas, produces electricity that is offset against current consumption sourced from 
Eskom. 

• We use significant amounts of water in our operations, which could impose significant costs. Use of water in South Africa is 
governed by water-use license. Our KZN mining operation in South Africa uses water to transport the slimes or sand from 
reclaimed areas to the processing plant and to the tailings facilities. Reduced water availability may result in rationing, which 
could impact production rates or result in increased water costs. However, our KZN Sands operation can use sea water, which 
is readily available since KZN Sands is located in a coastal region, although using sea water instead of fresh water would 
increase operational costs due to the desalination process, which may not be offset against lower water operating costs. 

• Under South African law, our South African mining operations are subject to water-use licenses that govern each operation. 
These licenses require, among other conditions, that mining operations achieve and maintain certain water quality limits for 
all water discharges, where applicable. Our South African operations that came into existence after the adoption of the 
National Water Act, No. 36 of 1998 have applied for and been issued the required water-use licenses. However, changes to 
water-use licenses could affect our operational results and financial condition. 

• The South African government may sharpen its focus on intervention in mining through various means including increased 
taxation, greater control and conditions on the distribution of mineral rights, poverty alleviation, and job creation. Such 
measures have not yet been defined, and the impact the measures may have on our business remains uncertain. 

• Changes to the revised MPRDA have been incorporated into the 2013 MPRDA amendment, and are awaiting approval by the 
South African Parliament before being promulgated. Some of the proposed changes may have an adverse effect on our 
business, operating results and financial condition. Although we expect the bulk of the original act to remain intact, there 
could be substantial changes, based on the current draft. This could have adverse effects on our business, operating results 
and financial condition. 

• South Africa’s exchange control regulations require resident companies to obtain the prior approval of the South African 
Reserve Bank to raise capital in any currency other than the Rand, and restrict the export of capital from South Africa. While 
the South African government has relaxed exchange controls in recent years, it is difficult to predict whether or how it will 
further relax or abolish exchange control measures in the future. These exchange control restrictions could hinder our 
financial and strategic flexibility, particularly our ability to use South African capital to fund acquisitions, capital 
expenditures, and new projects outside of South Africa. 

• Our operations in South Africa are reliant on services provided by the State agency, Transnet, for limited rail transport 
services at Namakwa Sands. Furthermore, they provide extensive dock-side services at both the ports of Richards Bay and 
Saldanha Bay. Delays, particularly industrial actions, could have a negative impact on our business, operating results and 
financial condition. 
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The labor and employment laws in many jurisdictions in which we operate are more onerous than those of the United States; and 
some of our labor force has substantial works’ council or trade union participation, which creates a risk of disruption from labor 
disputes and new laws affecting employment policies.  

Labor costs constituted approximately 25% of our production costs in 2014. The majority of our employees are located outside the 
United States. In most of those countries, labor and employment laws are more onerous than in the United States and, in many cases, 
grant significant job protection to employees, including rights on termination of employment.  

In South Africa, over 70% of our workforce belongs to a union. In Australia, most employees are not currently represented by a 
union, but 50% are represented by a collective bargaining agreement. In The Netherlands, 50% of our employees are represented by a 
collective bargaining agreement and 30% are members of a union.  

Our South African operations have entered into various agreements regulating wages and working conditions at our mines. There 
have been periods when various stakeholders have been unable to agree on dispute resolution processes, leading to threats of disruptive 
labor disputes, although only two strikes have ever occurred in the history of these operations. Due to the high level of employee union 
membership, our South African operations are at risk of production stoppages for indefinite periods due to strikes and other labor 
disputes. In the past five years, employees of KZN Sands went on strike once, for a 22-day period, from August 23 to September 13, 
2010, in a dispute over wages and employment conditions, which resulted in an average daily production loss of 20,000 metric tons and 
1,398 metric tons of heavy mineral concentrate, but had no significant impact on the smelter or furnace operations. Although we 
believe that we have good labor relations with our South African employees, we may experience labor disputes in the future.  

South African employment law, which is based on the minimum standard set by the International Labour Organization, sets out 
minimum terms and conditions of employment for employees. Although these may be improved by agreements between an employer 
and the trade unions, prescribed minimum terms and conditions form the benchmark for all employment contracts. Our South African 
operations are required to submit a report to the South African Department of Labour under South African employment law detailing 
the progress made towards achieving employment equity in the workplace. Failing to submit this report in a timely manner could result 
in substantial penalties. In addition, future legislative developments that affect South African employment policies may increase 
production costs or negatively impact relationships with employees and trade unions, which may have an adverse effect on our 
business, operating results and financial condition.  

We are required to consult with, and seek the consent or advice of, various employee groups or works’ councils that represent our 
employees for any changes to our activities or employee benefits. This requirement could have a significant impact on our flexibility in 
managing costs and responding to market changes.  

Business Factors  

Fluctuations in costs of our raw materials or our access to supplies of our raw materials could have an adverse effect on our results 
of operations and financial condition.  

In 2014, raw materials used in the production of TiO 2 constituted approximately 53% of our operating expenses. Fuel and energy 
linked to commodities, such as diesel, heavy fuel oil and coal, and other consumables, such as chlorine, illuminating paraffin, 
electrodes, and anthracite, consumed in our manufacturing and mining operations form an important part of our operating costs. We 
have no control over the costs of these consumables, many of which are  

• South African law governs the payment of compensation and medical costs to a compensation fund against which mining 
employees and other people at sites where ancillary mining activities are conducted can claim for mining activity-related 
illnesses or injuries. Should claims against the compensation fund rise significantly due to our mining activity or if claims 
against us are not covered by the compensation fund, the amount of our contribution or liability to claimants may increase, 
which could adversely impact our financial condition. In addition, the HIV/AIDS epidemic in South Africa poses risks to our 
South African operations in terms of potentially reduced productivity, and increased medical and other costs. If there is a 
significant increase in the incidence of HIV/AIDS infection and related diseases among the South African workforce over the 
next several years, our operations, projects and financial condition may be adversely affected. 
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linked to some degree to the price of oil and coal, and the costs of many of these raw materials may fluctuate widely for a variety of 
reasons, including changes in availability, major capacity additions or reductions, or significant facility operating problems. These 
fluctuations could negatively affect our operating margins and our profitability. As these costs rise, our operating expenses will increase 
and could adversely affect our business, especially if we are unable to pass price increases in raw materials through to our customers.  

Shortages or price increases by our single source suppliers, such as the suppliers of chlorine to our Australian operations or high-
quality anthracite to Namakwa Sands could decrease revenue or increase production costs, reducing the profitability of operations. 
Fluctuations in oil and coal prices impact our operating cost and capital expenditure estimates and, in the absence of other economic 
fluctuations, could result in significant changes in the total expenditure estimates for our operations or new expansion projects, and 
when taken into account with other production costs, such as wages, equipment and machinery costs, may render certain operations 
nonviable.  

Given the nature of our chemical, mining and smelting operations, we face a material risk of liability, delays and increased cash 
costs of production from environmental and industrial accidents and operational breakdowns.  

Our business involves significant risks and hazards, including environmental hazards, industrial accidents, and breakdowns of 
equipment and machinery. Our business is exposed to hazards associated with chemical process manufacturing and the related storage, 
handling and transportation of raw materials, products and wastes, and our furnace operations that are subject to explosions, water 
ingress and refractory failure, and our open pit (also called open-cut) and dredge mining operations that are subject to flooding and 
accidents associated with rock transportation equipment and conveyor belts. Furthermore, during operational breakdowns, the relevant 
facility may not be fully operational within the anticipated timeframe, which could result in further business losses. The occurrence of 
any of these or other hazards could delay production, suspend operations, increase repair, maintenance or medical costs and, due to the 
integration of our facilities, could have an adverse effect on the productivity and profitability of a particular manufacturing facility or 
on our business as a whole. Over our operating history, we have incurred incidents of this nature.  

There is also a risk that our key raw materials or our products may be found to have currently unrecognized toxicological or 
health-related impact on the environment or on our customers or employees. Such hazards may cause personal injury and loss of life, 
damage to property and contamination of the environment, which could lead to government fines or work stoppage injunctions and 
lawsuits by injured persons. If such actions are determined to be adverse to us, we may have inadequate insurance to cover such claims, 
or insufficient cash flow to pay for such claims. Such outcomes could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.  

We are a holding company that is dependent on cash flows from our operating subsidiaries to fund our debt obligations, capital 
expenditures and ongoing operations.  

All of our operations are conducted and all of our assets are owned by our operating companies, which are our subsidiaries. We 
intend to continue to conduct our operations at the operating companies and any future subsidiaries. Consequently, our cash flow and 
our ability to meet our obligations or make cash distributions depends upon the cash flow of our operating companies and any future 
subsidiaries, and the payment of funds by our operating companies and any future subsidiaries in the form of dividends or otherwise. 
The ability of our operating companies and any future subsidiaries to make any payments to us depends on their earnings, the terms of 
their indebtedness, including the terms of any credit facilities, and legal restrictions regarding the transfer of funds.  

Our ability to service our debt and fund our planned capital expenditures and ongoing operations will depend on our ability to 
generate and increase cash flow, and our access to additional liquidity sources. Our ability to generate and increase cash flow is 
dependent on many factors, including:  

• the impact of competition from other chemical and materials manufacturers and diversified companies; 

• the transfer of funds from subsidiaries in the United States to certain foreign subsidiaries; 

• general world business conditions, economic uncertainty or downturn and the significant downturn in housing construction 
and overall economies; 
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Many of these factors are beyond our control. A general economic downturn can result in reduced spending by customers, which 
will impact our revenues and cash flows from operating activities. At reduced performance, if we are unable to generate sufficient cash 
flow or access additional liquidity sources, we may not be able to service and repay our existing debt, operate our business, respond to 
competitive challenges, or fund our other liquidity and capital needs.  

Our industry and the end-use markets in which we compete are highly competitive. This competition may adversely affect our 
results of operations and operating cash flows.  

Each of our markets is highly competitive. Competition in the pigment industry is based on a number of factors such as price, 
product quality, and service. We face significant competition from major international and smaller regional competitors. Our most 
significant competitors include major chemical and materials manufacturers and diversified companies, a number of which have 
substantially larger financial resources, greater personnel, and larger facilities than we do. We also compete with numerous smaller, 
regional producers, including producers in China, that have expanded their sulphate TiO 2 production capacity during the previous five 
years.  

Zircon producers generally compete on the basis of price, quality, logistics, delivery, and payment terms and consistency of 
supply. Although we believe we have competitive quality, long-term relationships with customers and product range, our primary 
competitive disadvantage relative to our major competitors is our distance from our main consumers (i.e., Asia and Europe).  

Within the end-use markets in which we compete, competition between products is intense. We face substantial risk that certain 
events, such as new product development by competitors, changing customer needs, production advances for competing products, or 
price changes in raw materials, could cause our customers to switch to our competitors’ products. If we are unable to develop and 
produce or market our products to compete effectively against our competitors following such events, our results of operations and 
operating cash flows may suffer.  

We may need additional capital in the future and may not be able to obtain it on favorable terms.  

Our industry is capital intensive, and our success depends to a significant degree on our ability to develop and market innovative 
products and to update our facilities and process technology. We may require additional capital in the future to finance our growth and 
development, implement further marketing and sales activities, fund ongoing research and development activities and meet general 
working capital needs. Our capital requirements will depend on many factors, including acceptance of, and demand for our products, 
the extent to which we invest in new technology and research and development projects, and the status and timing of these 
developments, as well as general availability of capital from debt and/or equity markets. Additional financing may not be available 
when needed on terms favorable to us, or at all. Further, the terms of our debt may limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness or 
issue additional equity. If we are unable to obtain adequate funds on acceptable terms, we may be unable to develop or enhance our 
products, take advantage of future opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, which could harm our business.  

The agreements and instruments governing our debt contain restrictions and limitations that could affect our ability to operate our 
business, as well as impact our liquidity.  

As of December 31, 2014, our total principal amount of long-term debt was $2.4 billion (including $7 million of original issue 
discount in connection with the senior secured term loan (the “Term Loan”), which has a face value of $1.5 billion). Our credit facilities 
contain covenants that could adversely affect our ability to operate our business, our liquidity, and our results of operations. These 
covenants restrict, among other things, our and our subsidiaries’ ability to:  

• our ability to obtain raw materials at reasonable prices or to raise prices to offset, in whole or in part, the effects of higher raw 
material costs; 

• our ability to adequately deliver customer service and competitive product quality; and, 

• the effects of governmental regulation on our business. 

• incur or guarantee additional indebtedness; 

• complete asset sales, acquisitions or mergers; 
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In addition, the terms of our credit facilities require us and our subsidiaries to maintain certain minimum performance levels 
relative to our debt. Certain of our facilities, excluding the Term Loan and the $900 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes 
(the “Senior Notes”), include requirements relating to the ratio of adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(“EBITDA”) to indebtedness or certain fixed charges. The breach of any covenants or obligations in our credit facilities, not otherwise 
waived or amended, could result in a default under the applicable debt obligations (and cross-defaults to certain other debt obligations) 
and could trigger acceleration of those obligations, which in turn could trigger other cross defaults under other future agreements 
governing our long-term indebtedness. In addition, the secured lenders under the credit facilities could foreclose on their collateral, 
which includes equity interests in our subsidiaries, and exercise other rights of secured creditors. Any default under those credit 
facilities could adversely affect our growth, our financial condition, our results of operations and our ability to make payments on our 
credit facilities, and could force us to seek the protection of bankruptcy laws.  

Exxaro may exert substantial influence over us as a shareholder.  

At December 31, 2014, Exxaro held approximately 44% of the voting securities of Tronox Limited, and had three representatives 
serving as Directors on our nine-member board. Additionally, in the future, Exxaro may exchange its retained interest in the mineral 
sands business for additional Class B Shares.  

Due to Exxaro’s significant ownership interest, it is entitled to certain rights under the Constitution and the Shareholder’s Deed of 
Tronox Limited. For example, the Constitution provides that, for as long as the Class B voting interest is at least 10% of the total voting 
interest in Tronox Limited, there must be nine directors on our board; of which the holders of Class A ordinary shares (“Class A 
Shares”) will be entitled to vote separately to elect a certain number of directors to our board (which we refer to as Class A Directors), 
and the holders of Class B Shares will be entitled to vote separately to elect a certain number of directors to our board (which we refer 
to as Class B Directors). If the Class B voting interest is greater than or equal to 30%, our board will consist of six Class A Directors 
and three Class B Directors. If the Class B voting interest is greater than or equal to 20% but less than 30%, our board of directors will 
consist of seven Class A Directors and two Class B Directors. If the Class B voting interest is greater than or equal to 10% but less than 
20%, our board will consist of eight Class A Directors and one Class B Director.  

The Constitution also provides that, subject to certain limitations, for as long as the Class B voting interest is at least 20%, a 
separate vote by holders of Class A Shares and Class B Shares is required to approve certain types of merger or similar transactions that 
will result in a change in control or a sale of all or substantially all of our assets or any reorganization or transaction that does not treat 
Class A and Class B Shares equally.  

Under the terms of the Shareholder’s Deed entered into upon completion of the Transaction, Exxaro agreed that for the Standstill 
Period, it would not engage in any transaction or other action that would result in its beneficial ownership of the voting shares of 
Tronox Limited exceeding 45% of the total issued shares of Tronox Limited. In addition, except under certain circumstances, Exxaro 
agreed not to sell, pledge or otherwise transfer any such voting shares during the Standstill Period. After the Standstill Period, Exxaro 
has agreed not to acquire any voting shares of Tronox Limited if, following such acquisition, Exxaro will have a voting interest in 
Tronox Limited of 50% or more unless Exxaro brings any proposal to make such an acquisition to the board of directors of Tronox 
Limited on a confidential basis. In the event an agreement regarding the proposal is not reached, Exxaro is permitted to make a 
takeover offer for all the shares of Tronox Limited not held by affiliates of Exxaro provided that binding acceptances are received from 
a majority of the shares not held by affiliates of Exxaro.  

As a result of Exxaro’s significant ownership interest and its governance rights, Exxaro may be able to exert substantial influence 
over our management, operations and potential significant corporate transactions, including a change in control or the sale of all or 
substantially all of our assets. Exxaro’s influence may have an adverse effect on the trading price of our ordinary shares.  

• make investments and capital expenditures; 

• prepay other indebtedness; 

• enter into transactions with affiliates; and, 

• fund dividends or repurchase shares. 
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Our South African operations may lose the benefit of the Black Economic Empowerment (“BEE”) status under South African 
legislation, resulting in the need to implement a remedial solution or introduce a new minority shareholder, which could negatively 
impact our South African operations.  

Exxaro retains a 26% direct ownership interest in each of Tronox KZN Sands (Pty) Ltd and Tronox Mineral Sands (Pty) Ltd in 
order for these two entities to comply with the requirements of the MPRDA and the South African Mining Charter ownership 
requirements under the BEE legislation. Exxaro has agreed to maintain its direct ownership for a period of the shorter of 10 years 
(unless it transfers the direct ownership interests to another qualified buyer under the BEE legislation) or the date on which the 
requirement to maintain a direct ownership stake in each of Tronox KZN Sands (Pty) Ltd and Tronox Mineral Sands (Pty) Ltd no 
longer applies, as determined by the DMR. If either Tronox KZN Sands (Pty) Ltd or Tronox Mineral Sands (Pty) Ltd ceases to qualify 
under the BEE legislation, Tronox Limited and Exxaro have agreed to jointly seek a remedial solution. If Tronox Limited and Exxaro 
cannot successfully implement a solution and the reason for this failure is due to anything other than a change in law, then we may 
dispose of Exxaro’s shares in the non-qualifying company to another BEE compliant, qualifying purchaser. During any period of any 
non-qualification, our South African operations may be in violation of their mining or prospecting rights, as well as the requirements of 
the MPRDA and the South African Mining Charter, which could result in a suspension or revocation of the non-qualifying company’s 
mining and prospecting rights and could expose us to operating restrictions, lost business opportunities and delays in receiving further 
regulatory approvals for our South African operations and expansion activities. In addition, if Exxaro’s direct ownership in Tronox 
KZN Sands (Pty) Ltd and Tronox Mineral Sands (Pty) Ltd is sold to another purchaser, we would be required to share ownership and 
control of our South African operations with a minority shareholder, which may impact our operational and financial flexibility and 
could impact profitability, expansion opportunities and our results of operations.  

Estimations of our ore resources and reserve estimates are based on a number of assumptions, including mining and recovery 
factors, future cash costs of production and ore demand and pricing. As a result, ore resources and reserve quantities actually 
produced may differ from current estimates.  

The mineral resource and reserve estimates are estimates of the quantity and ore grades in our mines based on the interpretation of 
geological data obtained from drill holes and other sampling techniques, as well as from feasibility studies. The accuracy of these 
estimates is dependent on the assumptions and judgments made in interpreting the geological data. The assessment of geographical 
characteristics, such as location, quantity, quality, continuity of geology and grade, is made with varying degrees of confidence in 
accordance with established guidelines and standards. We use various exploration techniques, including geophysical surveys and 
sampling through drilling and trenching, to investigate resources and implement applicable quality assurance and quality control criteria 
to ensure that data is representative. Our mineral reserves represent the amount of ore that we believe can be successfully mined and 
processed, and are estimated based on a number of factors, which have been stated in accordance with the South African Code for 
Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves 2007 version, as amended 2009 (the “SAMREC Code”) 
and the Australian code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources the Joint Ore Reserves Committee Code (2012) (the 
“JORC Code”).  

There is significant uncertainty in any mineral reserve or mineral resource estimate. Factors that are beyond our control, such as 
the ability to secure mineral rights, the sufficiency of mineralization to support mining and beneficiation practices and the suitability of 
the market may significantly impact mineral resource and reserve estimates. The actual deposits encountered and the economic viability 
of mining a deposit may differ materially from our estimates. Since these mineral resources and reserves are estimates based on 
assumptions related to factors discussed above, we may revise these estimates in the future as we become aware of new developments. 
To maintain TiO 2 feedstock production beyond the expected lives of our existing mines or to increase production materially above 
projected levels, we will need to access additional reserves through exploration or discovery.  

If we are unable to innovate and successfully introduce new products, or new technologies or processes reduce the demand for our 
products or the price at which we can sell products, our profitability could be adversely affected.  

Our industries and the end-use markets into which we sell our products experience periodic technological change and product 
improvement. Our future growth will depend on our ability to gauge the direction of commercial and technological progress in key end-
use markets and on our ability to fund and successfully  
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develop, manufacture and market products in such changing end-use markets. We must continue to identify, develop and market 
innovative products or enhance existing products on a timely basis to maintain our profit margins and our competitive position. We 
may be unable to develop new products or technology, either alone or with third parties, or license intellectual property rights from 
third parties on a commercially competitive basis. If we fail to keep pace with the evolving technological innovations in our end-use 
markets on a competitive basis, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.  

In addition, new technologies or processes have the potential to replace or provide lower-cost alternatives to our products, such as 
new processes that reduce TiO 2 in consumer products or the use of chloride slag in the production of TiO 2 , which could result in TiO 

2 producers using less chloride slag, or to reduce the need for TiO 2 in consumer products, which could depress the demand and pricing 
for TiO 2 . We cannot predict whether technological innovations will, in the future, result in a lower demand for our products or affect 
the competitiveness of our business. We may be required to invest significant resources to adapt to changing technologies, markets and 
competitive environments.  

Violations or noncompliance with the extensive environmental, health and safety laws and regulations to which we are subject or 
changes in laws or regulations governing our operations could result in unanticipated loss or liability.  

Our operations and production facilities are subject to extensive environmental and health and safety laws and regulations at 
national, international and local levels in numerous jurisdictions relating to use of natural resources, pollution, protection of the 
environment, transporting and storing raw materials and finished products, and storing and disposing of hazardous wastes among other 
materials. The costs of compliance with the extensive environmental, health and safety laws and regulations or the inability to obtain, 
update or renew permits required for operation or expansion of our business could reduce our profitability or otherwise adversely affect 
our business. If we fail to comply with the conditions of our permits governing the production and management of regulated materials, 
mineral sands mining licenses or leases or the provisions of the applicable South African or Australian law, these permits, mining 
licenses or leases and mining rights could be canceled or suspended, and we could be prevented from obtaining new mining and 
prospecting rights, which could materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition. Additionally, we 
could incur substantial costs, including fines, damages, criminal or civil sanctions and remediation costs, or experience interruptions in 
our operations, for violations arising under these laws and regulations. In the event of a catastrophic incident involving any of the raw 
materials we use, or chemicals or mineral products we produce, we could incur material costs as a result of addressing the 
consequences of such event.  

Changes to existing laws governing operations, especially changes in laws relating to transportation of mineral resources, the 
treatment of land and infrastructure, contaminated land, the remediation of mines, tax royalties, exchange control restrictions, 
environmental remediation, mineral rights, ownership of mining assets, or the rights to prospect and mine may have a material adverse 
effect on our future business operations and financial performance. There is risk that onerous conditions may be attached to 
authorizations in the form of mining rights, water-use licenses, miscellaneous licenses and environmental approvals, or that the grant of 
these approvals may be delayed or not granted.  

Our current operations involve the production and management of regulated materials that are subject to various environmental 
laws and regulations and are dependent on obtaining and the periodic renewal of permits from various governmental agencies. The 
inability to obtain, update or renew permits related to the operation of our businesses, or the costs required in order to comply with 
permit standards, could have a material adverse effect on us.  

We compete with other mining and chemical businesses for key human resources in the countries in which we operate, and our 
business will suffer if we are unable to hire highly skilled employees or if our key officers or employees discontinue employment 
with us.  

We compete with other chemical and mining companies, and other companies generally, in the countries in which we operate to 
attract and retain key human resources at all levels with the appropriate technical skills and operating and managerial experience 
necessary to continue operating and expanding our businesses. These operations use modern techniques and equipment and accordingly 
require various types of skilled workers. The success of our business will be materially dependent upon the skills, experience and 
efforts of our key officers  
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and skilled employees. The global shortage of key mining skills, including geologists, mining engineers, metallurgists, and skilled 
artisans, has been exacerbated by increased mining activity across the globe. Competition for skilled employees is particularly severe in 
Western Australia and at Namakwa Sands, which may cost us in terms of higher labor costs or reduced productivity. As a result, we 
may not be able to attract and retain skilled and experienced employees. Should we lose any of our key personnel or fail to attract and 
retain key qualified personnel or other skilled employees, our business may be harmed and our operational results and financial 
condition could be affected.  

There may be difficulty in effecting service of legal process and enforcing judgments against us and our directors and management. 

We are registered under the laws of Western Australia, Australia, and substantial portions of our assets are located outside of the 
United States. In addition, certain members of our board of directors reside outside the United States. As a result, it may be difficult for 
investors to effect service of process within the United States upon Tronox Limited or such other persons residing outside the United 
States, or to enforce judgments outside the United States obtained against such persons in U.S. courts in any action, including actions 
predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws. In addition, it may be difficult for investors to enforce 
rights predicated upon the U.S. federal securities laws in original actions brought in courts in jurisdictions located outside the United 
States.  

Third parties may develop new intellectual property rights for processes and/or products that we would want to use, but would be 
unable to do so; or, third parties may claim that the products we make or the processes that we use infringe their intellectual 
property rights, which may cause us to pay unexpected litigation costs or damages or prevent us from making, using or selling 
products we make or require alteration of the processes we use.  

Results of our operations may also be negatively impacted if a competitor develops or has the right to use intellectual property 
rights for new processes or products and we cannot obtain similar rights on favorable terms or are unable to independently develop non-
infringing competitive alternatives.  

Although there are currently no known pending or threatened proceedings or claims relating to alleged infringement, 
misappropriation or violation of the intellectual property rights of others, we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the 
future in which third parties allege that their patents or other intellectual property rights are infringed, misappropriated or otherwise 
violated by us or our products or processes. In the event that any such infringement, misappropriation or violation of the intellectual 
property rights of others is found, we may need to obtain licenses from those parties or substantially re-engineer our products or 
processes to avoid such infringement, misappropriation or violation. We might not be able to obtain the necessary licenses on 
acceptable terms or be able to re-engineer our products or processes successfully. Moreover, if we are found by a court of law to 
infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate the intellectual property rights of others, we could be required to pay substantial damages 
or be enjoined from making, using or selling the infringing products or technology. We also could be enjoined from making, using or 
selling the allegedly infringing products or technology pending the final outcome of the suit. Any of the foregoing could adversely 
affect our financial condition and results of operations.  

If our intellectual property were compromised or copied by competitors, or if competitors were to develop similar intellectual 
property independently, our results of operations could be negatively affected.  

Our success depends to a significant degree upon our ability to protect and preserve our intellectual property rights. Although we 
own and have applied for numerous patents and trademarks throughout the world, we may have to rely on judicial enforcement of our 
patents and other proprietary rights. Our patents and other intellectual property rights may be challenged, invalidated, circumvented, 
and rendered unenforceable or otherwise compromised. A failure to protect, defend or enforce our intellectual property could have an 
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.  

We also rely upon unpatented proprietary technology, know-how and other trade secrets to maintain our competitive position. 
While we maintain policies to enter into confidentiality agreements with our employees and third parties to protect our proprietary 
expertise and other trade secrets, these agreements may not be enforceable or, even if legally enforceable, we may not have adequate 
remedies for breaches of such agreements. We also  
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may not be able to readily detect breaches of such agreements. The failure of our patents or confidentiality agreements to protect our 
proprietary technology, know-how or trade secrets could result in significantly lower revenues, reduced profit margins or loss of market 
share.  

In addition, we may be unable to determine when third parties are using our intellectual property rights without our authorization. 
We also have licensed certain of our intellectual property rights to third parties, and we cannot be certain that our licensees are using 
our intellectual property only as authorized by the applicable license agreement. The undetected or unremedied unauthorized use of our 
intellectual property rights or the legitimate development or acquisition of intellectual property related to our industry by third parties 
could reduce or eliminate any competitive advantage we have as a result of our intellectual property, adversely affecting our financial 
condition and results of operations. If we must take legal action to protect, defend or enforce our intellectual property rights, any suits 
or proceedings could result in significant costs and diversion of our resources and our management’s attention, and we may not prevail 
in any such suits or proceedings. A failure to protect, defend or enforce our intellectual property rights could have an adverse effect on 
our financial condition and results of operations.  

If our intangible assets or other long-lived assets become impaired, we may be required to record a significant charge to earnings.  

We have a significant amount of intangible assets and other long-lived assets on our consolidated balance sheets. Under generally 
accepted accounting principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”), we review our intangible assets and other long-lived assets for 
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors that may be 
considered a change in circumstances, indicating that the carrying value of our intangible assets and other long-lived assets may not be 
recoverable, include, but are not limited to, a significant decline in share price and market capitalization, changes in the industries in 
which we operate, particularly the impact of a downturn in the global economy, as well as competition or other factors leading to 
reduction in expected long-term sales or profitability. We may be required to record a significant noncash charge in our financial 
statements during the period in which any impairment of our intangible assets and other long-lived assets is determined, negatively 
impacting our results of operations.  

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting which could, if not remediated, result in 
material misstatements in our financial statements which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of 
operations.  

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting. As more 
fully described in Controls and Procedures in Part II, Item 9A of this report, in connection with the audit of our financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2014, management identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting relating 
to (i) controls over the information and communication related to our South African operations that were improperly designed and not 
effective, as information required to execute control activities to completely and accurately record and disclose transactions was not 
communicated timely to the individuals responsible for executing control activities. The controls over our calculation for accrued 
royalty expenses relating to our mining operations in Namakwa South African were improperly designed and not effective; and (ii) 
controls over restricted access and segregation of duties within our SAP systems that were improperly designed and not effective as 
certain personnel have inappropriate access to execute conflicting transactions, as well as the ability to prepare and post journal entries 
without an independent review required by someone other than the preparer.  

We are actively engaged in developing a remediation plan to address such materials weaknesses. However, while we expect to 
complete the implementation of remediation measures and remediate such material weaknesses as soon as practicable, there can be no 
assurance that such efforts will be successful or that our internal control over financial reporting will be effective as a result of such 
efforts. In addition, there can be no assurance that we will not identify internal control material weaknesses in the future or that any 
such weaknesses will not have a material impact on our operating results or financial statements or cause us to fail to meet our reporting 
obligations. In addition, if we discover a material weakness in our internal controls in the future, the disclosure of that fact could reduce 
the market’s confidence in our financial statements.  
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Our results of operations and financial condition could be seriously impacted by security breaches, including cybersecurity 
incidents.  

Failure to effectively prevent, detect and recover from security breaches, including attacks on information technology and 
infrastructure by hackers; viruses; breaches due to employee error or actions; or other disruptions could result in misuse of our assets, 
business disruptions, loss of property including trade secrets and confidential business information, legal claims or proceedings, 
reporting errors, processing inefficiencies, negative media attention, loss of sales and interference with regulatory compliance. We have 
determined that such attacks could result in unauthorized parties gaining access to at least certain confidential business information. 
However, to date, we have not experienced any material financial impact, changes in the competitive environment or business 
operations that we attribute to these attacks. Although management does not believe that we have experienced any material losses to 
date related to security breaches, including cybersecurity incidents, there can be no assurance that we will not suffer such losses in the 
future. We actively manage the risks within our control that could lead to business disruptions and security breaches. As these threats 
continue to evolve, particularly around cybersecurity, we may be required to expend significant resources to enhance our control 
environment, processes, practices and other protective measures. Despite these efforts, such events could materially adversely affect our 
business, financial condition or results of operations.  

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments  

There are no unresolved written comments that were received from the SEC staff.  

Item 2. Properties  

Below are our offices and facilities at December 31, 2014. We believe our properties are in good operating condition, and are well 
maintained. Pursuant to separate financing agreements, substantially all of our U.S. properties are pledged or encumbered to support or 
otherwise provide the security for our indebtedness.  

Corporate and Other  

At December 31, 2014, our corporate and other offices consisted of the following:  

In addition, corporate and other includes two electrolytic manufacturing and distribution facilities as follows:  

Pigment  

Our office in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma is used for our Pigment segment management offices and research and development, and 
is shared with certain corporate services.  

Our pigment facilities consist of the physical assets necessary and appropriate to produce, distribute and supply our TiO 2 , and 
consist mainly of manufacturing and distribution facilities. The following table summarizes our TiO 2 production facilities and 
production capacity (in gross metric tons per year), by location:  

Location  Owned/Leased  Offices  

Stamford, Connecticut    Leased    Corporate office located at 263 Tresser  
Boulevard, Suite 1100 

Bentley, Western Australia    Leased    Corporate office located at 1 Brodie Hall Drive 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma    Owned    Corporate services located at 3301 NW 150th  

Street 

Facility  Product  
Property  

Owned/Leased  
Facility  

Owned/Leased  

Hamilton, Mississippi Sodium chlorate    Owned       Owned    
Henderson, Nevada EMD, Boron products    Leased       Owned    

Facility  Production  

TiO 2 
 

Capacity  Process  
Property  

Owned/Leased  
Facility  

Owned/Leased  

Hamilton, Mississippi    TiO 2       225,000       Chloride       Owned       Owned    

Kwinana, Western Australia    TiO 2       150,000       Chloride       Owned       Owned    

Botlek, The Netherlands    TiO 2       90,000       Chloride       Leased       Owned    
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Mineral Sands  

We lease office space located at 115 West Street, Sandton, South Africa for our Mineral Sands division management offices.  

Our KZN Sands operations consist of the Fairbreeze mine (which has not yet entered into commercial production), a concentration 
plant, a mineral separation plant and a smelter complex with two furnaces.  

Our Namakwa Sands operations include the Namakwa Sands mine, a primary concentration plant, a secondary concentration 
plant, a separation plant, and a smelter complex with two furnaces.  

Our Western Australia operations consist of the Cooljarloo Sands mine, and a concentration plant and the Chandala processing 
plant, which includes a mineral separation plant and a synthetic rutile plant.  

Mineral Sands Licenses and Leases  

In 2014, we mined valuable heavy minerals (“VHM”), including ilmenite, rutile, leucoxene, and zircon, at two integrated 
locations; Namakwa Sands in Western Cape South Africa and Cooljarloo in Western Australia. Our Fairbreeze mine in KwaZulu-Natal, 
South Africa, will be the mining component of our integrated KZN Sands operations. Depending on construction, the Fairbreeze mine 
is expected to begin operations at the end of 2015, and be fully operational in 2016. Our three mining operations and their integrated 
mineral processing facilities have two principal commercial product lines: titanium feedstocks and zircon. Our titanium feedstocks 
include titanium dioxide minerals such as ilmenite, natural rutile, and leucoxene, as well as two upgraded titanium dioxide products, 
titanium slag and synthetic rutile. Zircon is a zirconium silicate mineral with diverse construction and industrial applications.  

A diagram of our heavy mineral sand mining and processing — TiO 2 pigment value chain is as follows: 
 

    

The approximate annual production capacities of our heavy mineral sand mining are shown below. Multiple grades of mineral 
products may be combined in some categories.  
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We market our titanium feedstocks to external customers when market conditions are favorable; however, a significant portion of 
our production is consumed internally. Most of the ilmenite mined at Namakwa Sands is the feedstock for titanium slag production in 
South Africa, and ilmenite from Western Australia is internally consumed as synthetic rutile feed at our Chandala complex. The 
synthetic rutile product from our Chandala complex is either consumed at our TiO 2 pigment plant in Kwinana or sold externally.  

Mining and Mineral Tenure  

We comply with SEC Industry Guide 7, which requires us to control sufficient mineral title to have access rights for exploration, 
development and extraction of the minerals at the time that the determination of reserves is made. Any information that materially 
affects the risks associated with mineral exploitation is publicly disclosed.  

Our exploration and mining activities in South Africa and Australia are governed by the legal and regulatory framework of the 
respective national, state, or provincial authorities. Mining applications in both countries are subject to multiple levels of review, 
including extensive public comment, before mineral title is granted, and are subject to environmental approvals.  

Mineral Tenure — South Africa  

Mining and prospecting rights are administered at the national level in the Republic of South Africa (the “RSA”), as defined under 
the 2002 Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act #28 (the “MPRDA”) and its subsequent amendments. The MPRDA 
establishes a comprehensive regulatory framework that governs mineral tenure, establishes requirements and processes for prospecting 
and mine permitting, environmental impact assessments and approvals, mine closure requirements, and other mining-related matters, 
such as a national mineral production royalty. The lead agency for mining and mining-related matters, including granting of 
prospecting and mining rights and enforcement of the MPRDA is the South African Department of Mineral Resources (the “DMR”).  

Environmental permitting is authorized under the National Environmental Management Act #107 (“NEMA”) and the 1998 
National Water Act #36 (“NWA”), under the auspices of the RSA Department of Environmental Affairs and Department of Water 
Affairs (“DWA”). Environmental permitting and compliance are also administered at the Provincial level, which for Namakwa Sands 
and KZN Sands, respectively, are the Western Cape Department of Environmental Affairs and Development Planning and the 
KwaZulu-Natal Department of Environmental Affairs.  

Mineral tenure at the Namakwa Sands Brand-se-Baai mine is authorized through two MPRDA Mining Rights covering a total of 
13,100 hectares comprising the following farms: Graauwduinen 151 (portion 1), Rietfontein Ext 151 (portions 1 and 2), Goeraap 140 
(portion 17), Hartbeeste Kom 165 (portions 1 and 3), Hartbeeste Kom 165 (portion 2), and Houtkraal (portion 5). All six mining rights 
have an expiry of March 31, 2037, for which 30-year extensions can be applied. In addition, Namakwa Sands has applications pending 
to convert three former Prospecting Rights (7,821 hectares) to Mining Rights. Namakwa holds another prospecting right with 5,758 
hectares at a remote site situated 60km away from Brand-se-Baai. Mining authorizations in South Africa may be independent of access 
rights, and Namakwa Sands also holds surface rights totaling 17,111 hectares. All of our current mining operations and ore reserves at 
Namakwa Sands are secured Mining and Surface Rights.  

Capacity (metric tons per year)  
Namakwa  

Sands  KZN Sands (1)  
Northern  

Operations  Total  

Rutile    31,000       30,000      36,000       97,000   
Synthetic rutile    —       —      220,000       220,000   
Titanium slag    190,000       220,000      —       410,000   
Zircon    135,000       60,000      70,000       265,000   
Pig iron    100,000       121,000      —       221,000   
Leucoxene    —       —      26,000       26,000   
Reserve life of mine 20+ Years 12+ Years 15+ Years        
Exploration rights & undeveloped reserves Yes Yes Yes        

(1) Includes Fairbreeze mine development project that depending on construction is expected to begin operation at the end of 2015. 
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Namakwa Sands’ process water for the mining and concentration activities at Brand-se-Baai are held by Water License 
17/F60C/BEG/1783 granted November 23, 2012. The regional climate in the coastal area of the Western Cape where we operate ranges 
from a Mediterranean climate at Saldanha to an arid or semi-arid climate at the mine, where the annual rainfall averages less than 200 
mm. Consequently, conservation of fresh water and sea water is a high-priority in our environmental management program.  

Mineral tenure for KZN Sands’ Fairbreeze mining project is held under two Mining Rights, KZN30/5/1/2/2/123MR and 164MR, 
granted for 30-year terms in September 2009 that expire in 2039. The two Fairbreeze Mining Rights cover a total 4,056 hectares, 
including 100% of our declared heavy mineral reserves.  

In September 2013, the DWA granted us the primary water use license required for the construction and operation of the 
Fairbreeze Mine. An environmental organization, the Mtunzini Conservancy, subsequently appealed the decision, which under South 
African law automatically suspended issuance of the license. The DWA rejected the appeal and lifted the suspension on February 5, 
2014.  

Mineral Tenure — Australia  

Mining laws and regulations in Australia are enacted at the state and territorial levels, such as the Western Australia Mining Act of 
1978 (the “Mining Act”). The Mining Act contains provisions for a variety of tenement categories that include prospecting, exploration, 
retention and mining. Minerals in Australia are reserved to the Crown, although some historic “common law” mineral titles transferred 
to private parties under early land grants prior to 1899 are recognized.  

Mineral tenure, exploration and mining licenses and most non-environmental mining matters are administered by the Western 
Australia Department of Mines and Petroleum. Mining operations in Western Australia are subject to a variety of environmental 
protection laws and regulations, including the Environmental Protection Act, the primary source of environmental regulation in 
Western Australia, and the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act of 1999 (the “EPBCA”). The EPBCA 
establishes jurisdiction over environmental matters of potential national significance. Our Cooljarloo mining operations and mineral 
tenure in the Cooljarloo and Dongara project areas where we disclose reserves as of December 31, 2014 are primarily regulated by the 
Mining Act and the 1981 Mining Regulations.  

State Agreements are contracts between the State of Western Australia and the proponents of major resources projects, and are 
intended to foster resource development and related infrastructure investments. Among other things, State Agreements specify the 
rights, obligations, terms and conditions for the development of major resources projects, and establish a framework for ongoing 
relations and cooperation between the State and the proponent of the project. These agreements are approved and ratified by the 
Parliament of Western Australia. The State Agreement relevant to our Australian operations and our production of mineral sands is the 
agreement authorized by the Mineral Sands (Cooljarloo) Mining and Processing Agreement Act 1988 (the “Cooljarloo State 
Agreement”). State Agreements may only be amended by mutual consent, which reduces the sovereign risk and increases the security 
of tenure, however Parliament may enact legislation that overrules or amends the particular State Agreement.  

Our Cooljarloo mining operations are conducted on M268SA, being a mining lease covering 9,745 hectares granted pursuant to 
the Cooljarloo State Agreement. We believe all critical tenure are assured for the continuance of our Cooljarloo mining operation at 
least until 2020.  

Our heavy mineral (“HM”) reserves at Cooljarloo West are located within the area of three exploration licenses granted by the 
State of Western Australia totaling 28,055 hectares. A portion of the Cooljarloo West tenure can be surrendered, subject to granting of 
two mining leases totaling 4,414 hectares, currently under application that cover our declared HM reserves at Cooljarloo West. An 
additional 29,161 hectares in the immediate Cooljarloo area are the subject of nine exploration licenses and one retention license of 81 
hectares granted to Tronox or its predecessors. Our total tenement ownership at Cooljarloo-Cooljarloo West covers a total 57,297 
hectares of active mining leases and exploration licenses.  
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Tronox Western Australia mining leases and exploration licenses in the Cooljarloo district (left) and at Dongara (right).  

Twenty mining leases, covering 17,890 hectares over the Dongara deposits have been granted by the State of Western Australia. 
Six of the leases are the subject of environmental proposals that have received approval from the Western Australia Environmental 
Protection Authority (“EPA”). The reserve estimates for Dongara are based on the results of a definitive feasibility study completed 
during 2013-2014.  

    

Tronox integrated mine-mineral separation-slag operations in South Africa are Namakwa Sands, Western Cape Province with mining at Brand-se-Baai, mineral 
separation plant at Koekenaap, smelter & export facilities at Saldanha; and KZN Sands, KwaZulu-Natal Province (inset at lower right) with mine under construction at 
Fairbreeze, mineral separation plant & smelter at Empangeni, and export from Richards Bay. Inset at upper right shows Cooljarloo mine, Western Australia.  
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Reporting of Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources  

U.S. registrants are required to report ore reserves under SEC Industry Guide 7 standards, which defines a mineral, or “ore” 
reserve as “ that part of a mineral deposit that can be economically and legally extracted or produced at the time of the reserves 
determination .” Industry Guide 7 requires that sufficient technical and economic studies have been completed to reasonably assure 
economic extraction of the minerals, based on the parameters and assumptions current to the end of the reporting period.  

The HM reserve estimates reported below are compiled from Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Statements (“RR Statements”) 
prepared annually to reflect the estimated mineral resources and reserves as of December 31, 2014. The mineral reserve estimates are 
based on detailed geological, geotechnical, mine engineering and mineral processing, and financial models developed and reviewed by 
Tronox employees in South Africa and Australia, who possess years of experience directly related to the resources, mining and 
processing characteristics or financial performance of our operations. Additionally, our management and technical staff includes senior 
personnel who have remained closely involved with all three of our active mining and mineral processing operations since operations 
commenced.  

Our mineral reserve estimates are guided by the mineral resource reporting standards of the South African Code for Reporting of 
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves, 2007 version, as amended 2009 (“SAMREC”), and the Joint Ore 
Reserves Committee of The Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (2012) (“JORC”). SAMREC and JORC are two standards 
within an international family of mineral resource codes designed to ensure data validity, standardize methodologies for estimating the 
size and grades of mineral deposits, guide classifications of mineral resources and reserves, and enhance the transparency of mineral 
resource disclosures. Our annual RR Statements are generated and authorized by experienced Tronox resource professionals who 
integrate inputs from a wide range of disciplines, and are routinely audited by external consultants. Individuals responsible for our 
estimates of ore reserves are certified by the organizations that administer their respective codes and are subject to censure if they are 
found to be in violation of the reporting guidelines.  

Heavy mineral reserves are sub-divided according to two levels of increasing confidence, as either “ Probable” or “ Proven ” 
Reserves. Under Industry Guide 7, disclosures of mineralized material that may have reasonable prospects for development but have 
not yet been fully evaluated to determine their economic mineability are not allowed. The term “economic,” as used in the definition of 
reserves, implies that profitable extraction under defined investment assumptions has been established to a high level of confidence.  

SEC Industry Guide 7 differs from the SAMREC and JORC codes, but the methodologies for determination of mineral reserves, 
or “ore reserves,” are essentially equivalent to the methodologies endorsed under the SAMREC and JORC codes. Therefore, the Proven 
and Probable HM reserves stated in the table below are unmodified from the Proved and Probable HM reserves declared in the Mineral 
Resources and Reserves Statements submitted by our South African and Australian mines. Under SEC Industry Guide 7, SAMREC and 
JORC, Proven (or “Proved”) reserves are the highest category of ore reserve estimates, whereby the quantity and quality have been 
computed from detailed sampling, while Probable reserves provide lower geologic assurance.  

The Proven and Probable HM reserves stated in the table that follows are therefore unmodified from the Proved and Probable HM 
reserves determined by Tronox professionals, whose mineral sands-specific experience and technical expertise qualify them as 
“competent persons” under their respective professional organizations. Under both the SAMREC and JORC codes, proved reserves 
may only be derived from mineralized material classified as measured resources , the mineral resource category with the highest level 
of confidence, and probable reserves are allowed to be derived from either measured or indicated resources . No comparable 
prescriptive procedure exists in SEC Industry Guide 7, which prohibits disclosures of non-reserve mineralized material, except when 
the reporting entity is listed on foreign exchanges that recognize the mineral resource mineral reserve classification scheme.  

In spite of the international efforts to standardize mineral resource reporting, subjective judgments cannot be completely 
eliminated by modifications of the reporting guidelines. Following the acquisition of the mineral sands business of Exxaro in 2012, we 
established an internal Resource Technology and Development Group (“RTD Group”). Our RTD Group is composed of technical 
specialists with diverse technical skills from Australia and South Africa to evaluate our HM resource evaluation and development. Our 
RTD Group directs the sustainable development of our mineral reserves relative to our TiO 2 manufacturing requirements and financial  
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goals. Our RTD Group assures that the preparation and reporting of our HM reserve estimates are consistent and accurate across the 
Tronox organization. Our reserve declarations are reviewed at multiple levels both in-house and externally, and our public disclosures 
are ultimately the products of successive, multi-faceted generations of technical audits.  

The estimated reserves reported by Tronox are in situ, or in-place, bodies of economically and legally extractable mineralized 
material as of December 31, 2014. Block modeling software and techniques differ by mining operation, but the basic approach includes 
validation of digitized drilling data, statistical interpolations of spatial data to create “wireframe” representations of mineral deposit 
geometry and dimensions, followed by resource modeling that divides the deposit into a myriad of individual cells and sub-cells for 
further evaluation. Most of our mineral sands operations utilize multiple software programs for resource and mine modeling that have 
been adapted to the particular geologic, mineralization and mining characteristics of their ore deposits. A defined set of realistically 
assumed “modifying factors” are required under both SAMREC and JORC for the conversion of mineral resources to ore reserves, 
including mining dilution, mining and metallurgical recovery, economic, marketing, legal, environmental, infrastructure, social, and 
governmental factors. These modifying factors are equally applicable to classifications of ore reserves under SEC Industry Guide 7, 
which defines an ore reserve as “that part of a mineral deposit which can be economically and legally extracted or produced at the time 
of the reserve determination.”  

Key to our long-term planning is the development and maintenance of a Life-of-Mine Plan (“LOMP”), whereby the reported 
reserves are included in a base case scenario for their exploitation. A LOMP is maintained for each of our three active mining 
operations, and is routinely reviewed by professionals from a range of disciplines to ensure their validity. The LOMP are linked to our 
internal mining-ilmenite beneficiation-TiO 2 pigment manufacturing and marketing value chain. The LOMP are used for long-term, 
strategic planning and are influenced by logical mine design and economic parameters. The LOMP for each unit takes into account the 
reserve base with respect to mining and processing rates and projected TiO 2 production, and involve forward-looking assumptions of 
operating costs, product sales volumes and prices, foreign exchange rates, and other inputs that are regularly re-evaluated for 
optimization of our mineral assets. Therefore, the LOMP include both our disclosed ore reserves as well as some portion of high-
quality mineralization that has not been converted to reserves. Our operating cost and revenue assumptions are underpinned by our 
experience in the heavy mineral sands industry and our understanding of the business environment expected to prevail at the time of 
extraction of the reserves. The LOMP may therefore include some non-reserve mineralized material that will be investigated well in 
advance of their exploitation, as well as cost and revenue assumptions that vary slightly from the market conditions at the time of our 
reserve estimates. The reserve estimates disclosed in the table below are therefore different than the volumes and grades of mineralized 
material in each LOMP, and are believed to be in compliance with SEC Industry Guide 7 requirements to the maximum possible extent. 

Mine modeling imposes practical excavation boundaries for the mining methods employed, and the modified volumes and grades 
are applied during the conversion of resources to reserves. Extraction boundaries and production schedule scenarios are derived from 
models for which realistic assumptions and estimates have been applied and interpreted by our mining staffs to have reasonable 
prospects for economic extraction. The modifying factors and other parameters are fluid, and there is no assurance of future economic 
viability, or that the material in our LOMP will ever be mined. Once the mineralized material is placed into the LOMP, the tonnages 
envisaged to be mined (“run-of-mine”) may include dilution from a relatively small volume of poorly mineralized material, if its 
inclusion is necessary or practical to satisfy mine engineering parameters. Our dilution factors are negligible for dry mines but 
approximately 5% for dredge mining, which has lower unit costs but is less selective. Dilution factors are independent from overburden 
or internal waste removal and handling, costs for which, if applicable, are factored into the economic block models. Our “nominal” cut-
off grades are included in the notations in the reserves table below, in the interest of transparency and to satisfy resource and reserves 
reporting requirements. The cut-off-grades disclosed may not, however, reflect the actual ore extraction boundaries at the time of 
exploitation.  

Our reserve estimates and each LOMP are underpinned by 3-D resource block models that incorporate geospatial data such as 
heavy mineral grades and distributions, geological domains, and geostatistical validation. The resource models are integrated with 
economic modeling that involves mine scheduling, engineering parameters, removal of overburden (if present), tailings management, 
internal transportation, environmental management, and rehabilitation. The economic modeling determines extraction boundaries based 
on positive  
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future cash flows from commercial minerals (zircon, rutile, leucoxene, non-integrated ilmenite) and upgraded ilmenite products (Ti-
slag, synthetic rutile, pig iron), net of mining and processing costs. Marketing assumptions allow for our internal consumption of TiO 2 
feedstocks, and future sales prices for mineral products. Mining cost assumptions are based on operating expenses for comparable 
extraction methods at our operating mines and heavy mineral processing experience at our three mine support products facilities and 
costs for conversion of ilmenite to slag and pig iron in South Africa and to synthetic rutile in Western Australia.  

Heavy Mineral Reserves  

At December 31, 2014, our total HM reserves were approximately 1.26 billion metric tons (“MT”) of ore at a group-wide, weight-
averaged grade of 6.7% total heavy mineral (“THM”), or a total in-place reserve of 69.4 million MT contained THM. Our group-wide 
estimated in-place valuable heavy minerals amount to 31.5 million MT of ilmenite, 5.4 million MT of rutile and leucoxene, and 6.7 
million MT of zircon. Recoveries of valuable heavy minerals vary widely, and our reserve estimates account for VHM losses during 
mining and processing.  

Other than titanium minerals and zircon, other minerals of potential value are often present to variable degrees in our HM reserves. 
No speculative values from these by-product minerals have been factored into our reserve estimates.  

The following table summarizes our heavy mineral ore reserves and their contained in situ THM and heavy mineral assemblages 
as of December 31, 2014. Downward or upward movements in our total heavy mineral estimates from December 31, 2013 to December 
31, 2014 are indicated.  

Notations for the above HM reserves table:  

MT — All measures of mass are expressed in MT, including Ore Reserves based on the in-place content of THM.  

RESERVE  
CATEGORY  

ORE  
RESERVES  
(million MT)  

GRADE  
(THM %)  

IN-PLACE 
 

THM  
(000s MT)  

VHM ASSEMBLAGE (% of THM)  CHANGE 
 

2014-2013 
 

(000s MT  
THM)  MINE / DEPOSIT  

ILMEN  
-ITE  

RUT  
-ILE  

LEUCO  
-XENE  

ZIR-  
CON  

NAMAKWA SANDS (ACTIVE 2-PIT OPEN  
CUT DRY MINE) - WESTERN CAPE RSA  

Proven    371       7.6       28,348       39.9       2.5       5.8       9.6       (1,972 )  
Probable    297       6.3       18,825       39.9       2.6       5.8       10.0       (451 )  

NAMAKWA SANDS TOTAL RESERVES    668       7.1       47, 173       39.9       2.6       5.8       9.7       ( 2,423 )  
KZN SANDS FAIRBREEZE (HYDRAULIC  

OPEN CUT MINE IN CONSTRUCTION) -  
KWAZULU-NATAL RSA 

Proven    139       7.1       9,906       62.1       3.5       1.7       8.4       0    

Probable    45       4.6       2,084       53.2       3.2       1.8       7.3       0    
KZN SANDS TOTAL RESERVES    184       6.5       11,990       60.5       3.4       1.7       8.2       0    
TOTAL SOUTH AFRICA PROVEN RESERVES    510       7.5       38,254       44.8       5.8       3.2       9.3       (1,972 )  
TOTAL SOUTH AFRICA PROBABLE RESERVES    342       6.1       2 0 , 909       40.2       5.4       3.4       9.7       (451 )  

TOTAL RESERVES SOUTH AFRICA (100%)    852       6.9       59, 163       43.2       5.6       3.3       9.4       (2, 423 )  

TOTAL RESERVES SOUTH AFRICA (TRONOX 74%)    631       6.9       43, 781       43.2       5.6       3.3       9.4       (1, 793 )  

COOLJARLOO (ACTIVE DREDGE/ DRY  
MINE) - WESTERN AUSTRALIA 

Proven    238       2.0       4,693       60.9       5.1       2.5       9.7       961    
Probable    —       —       —       —       —       —       —       (554 )  

COOLJARLOO TOTAL RESERVES    238       2.0       4,693       60.9       5.1       2.5       9.7       407    

COOLJARLOO WEST (PLANNED  
DREDGE MINE) - WESTERN AUSTRALIA 

Proven    —       —       —       —       —       —       —       —    
Probable    105       2.0       2,107       60.5       5.4       2.9       12.2       2,107    

COOLJARLOO WEST TOTAL RESERVES    105       2.0       2,107       60.5       5.4       2.9       12.2       2,107    

DONGARA (FUTURE OPEN CUT DRY  
MINE) - WESTERN AUSTRALIA 

Proven    65       5.1       3,325       49.2       6.2       2.7       11.1       0    
Probable    —       —       —       —       —       —       —       —    

DONGARA TOTAL RESERVES    65       5.1       3,325       49.2       6.2       2.7       11.1       0    
TOTAL W. AUSTRALIA PROVEN RESERVES    303       2.7       8,018       56.0       5.6       2.6       10.3       961    
TOTAL W. AUSTRALIA PROBABLE RESERVES    105       2.0       2,107       60.5       5.4       2.9       12.2       1,553    

TOTAL RESERVES WESTERN AUSTRALIA (100%)    408       2.5       10,125       57.0       5.5       2.7       10.7       2,514    

GLOBAL HM ORE RESERVES (100%)    1,2 60       6.7       69, 288                                       91    

GLOBAL HM ORE RESERVES (TRONOX EQUITY)    1,03 9       6.7       5 3,906                                       721    
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ORE RESERVES — The portions of our inventories of mineralized material that can be economically and legally mined and 
processed at the time of the reserves determination. Reserves are supported by iterative technical and economic evaluations that allow 
for mining and processing recoveries and estimated costs, marketing costs and assumptions, environmental, regulatory, social and other 
relevant factors. Ore reserves are classified as either Probable Reserves or Proven Reserves according to an increasing level of 
confidence. Our reserve estimates may include small amounts of low-grade material that would not be economic on their own merits, 
but have spatial relationships with more profitable ore that justifies their mining and processing.  

THM Grade — The average per cent by weight of THM in ore. HM are by definition minerals of densities >2.95 g/cm 3 . THM 
include both VHM of ilmenite, rutile, leucoxene and zircon, and other heavy minerals of no or uncertain commercial value. Our reserve 
estimates account only for the value of the titanium minerals and zircon, without revenue assumptions for other HM byproducts that 
may be sold. We do not apply strict cut-off grades for our estimated reserves, boundaries of which are determined from detailed, three-
dimensional block models that merge the spatial domains of the mineral deposit with realistic economic assumptions. Nominal cut-off 
grades for each ore deposit (reported here to conform to SEC Industry Guide 7) are: Namakwa Sands - 0.2% zircon; Fairbreeze - 1.5% 
ilmenite; Cooljarloo/Cooljarloo West - 1.3% THM; Dongara - 2% THM.  

THM Reserves — The in situ THM estimated to be contained in the calculated reserve category. Estimated production of VHM from 
the THM reserves is based on the heavy mineral assemblage of each block in the mine model and our experience with recoveries of 
similar material. Mining recoveries are typically high, approaching 100%. Metallurgical recoveries vary according to the physical 
characteristics of the individual minerals that affect the ability of separation and concentration equipment to capture them. Cumulative 
recovery factors from mining and primary concentration through mineral separation in our operations are in the general range 60% to 
95%. Mineral separation plant tailings known to contain significant percentages of unrecovered valuable HM are stockpiled for 
possible future recovery of VHM, but their potential value is excluded from the revenue assumptions used for reserve estimates.  

CHANGE 2014 from 2013 reflects the increase (positive number) or decrease (negative number) from December 31, 2013 to 
December 31, 2014 of the estimated in-place total heavy mineral reserves. Year-on-year changes result from depletion, determination 
of reserve additions, and adjustments to the assumptions used in the short-term LOMP model. With the exception of Cooljarloo West, 
for which we disclose reserves for the first time, none of the total THM reserves for any mine or project at December 31, 2014 differ by 
more than 5% from our reserve estimates of December 31, 2013. A decrease of less than 5% in THM reserves at Namakwa Sands is 
due mostly to mining depletion. Other minor increases or decreases are due to mine depletion and adjustments to mine models.  

TRONOX DIRECT EQUITY interest in Namakwa Sands and KZN Sands is through its 74% interest in Tronox Mineral Sands (Pty) 
Ltd. The remaining 26% interest in Tronox Mineral Sands (Pty) Ltd is owned by Exxaro Sands (Pty) Ltd or its affiliates.  

The following table compares the heavy mineral reserves reported for the years ending December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:  

Reserve Life-of-Mine in the table above refers to the number of years in the current LOMP that are supported by our proved and 
probable total heavy mineral reserves. The actual mined material in the LOMP’s include non-reserve mineralized material not currently 
determined to be reserves under the guidelines of SEC Industry Guide 7, and are therefore of longer duration than the years shown 
above.  

Reserve  
Life-Of-Mine 

December 31,  

2014  2013  2012  

(In thousands of MT) 

Namakwa Sands >20 years    47,173       49,596       37,804    
KZN Sands >12 years    11,990       11,990       10,258    

Total South Africa    59,163       61,586       48,062    
Cooljarloo 14 years    6,800       4,286       4,854    
Dongara    3,325       3,325       3,324    
Jurien    —       —       1,240    

Total Western Australia >20 years    10,125       7,611       9,418    

Total Tronox (100%)    69,288       69,197       57,480    
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Our three mining operations maintain active HM exploration programs that emphasize improvements to the existing LOMP 
through additions to our reserve bases. Mineralized material classified under SAMREC and JORC rules according to increasing levels 
of confidence as inferred , indicated or measured resources at each of our three operations. Mineralized material within the reach of our 
existing mine infrastructure is of higher-priority for exploration, but without any assurance of future exploitation.  

Our 2014 production of commercial heavy minerals, upgraded TiO 2 feedstock, zircon and other by-products were as follows: 
 

Heavy Mineral Deposit Geology and Mining Operations  

Deposits of heavy mineral sands are concentrations of abrasion-resistant sand of high density (conventionally above 2.9 gm/cm 3 ) 
that are commercial sources of titanium, zirconium, rare earths, chromium, garnet, magnetite, niobium-tantalum, thorium, tungsten, and 
gemstones. Heavy mineral sand deposits containing commercial quantities and concentrations of titanium oxide minerals, ilmenite, 
rutile, and zircon are a distinct class of ore deposit, inclusive of all ore deposits currently mined or contemplated for mining.  

Our mineral sands mining operations are situated on three coastal plains: the Western Coastal Plain of South Africa bordering the 
Atlantic Ocean (Namakwa Sands); the narrow Eastern Coastal Plain bordering the Indian Ocean (KZN Sands); and the Indian Ocean of 
Western Australia. Our heavy mineral deposits reflect the accessory mineralogy of their respective bedrock provenances: Namaqualand 
Metamorphic Complex (Namakwa Sands); Natal Metamorphic Complex and Kaapvaal Craton (KZN Sands); and Yilgarn Craton 
(Western Australia).  

Namakwa Sands, Western Cape, South Africa  

Namakwa Sands is an integrated mine-mineral separation-smelting-export production chain on the Atlantic Coast of Western 
Cape, South Africa. Our Namakwa Sands operations are divided administratively into Northern Operations and Southern Operations.  

Northern Operations  

Southern Operations  

Tronox Operation  Ilmenite (1)  
Rutile &  

Leucoxene  Zircon  

Synthetic 
 

Rutile  
Chloride  

Slag  
Pig  
Iron  Other (2)  

(In thousands of MT) 

Namakwa Sands    625       26       114       —       161       120       49    
KZN Sands    —       —       —       —       108       117       —    
Western Australia    438       65       64       217       —       —       25    

TOTAL 2014    1,063       91       178       217       269       237       74    

(1) Ilmenite includes ilmenite integrated with titanium slag in South Africa or synthetic rutile in Western Australia. 

(2) “Other”  includes staurolite, activated carbon and slag fines. 

1) Mine, primary and secondary concentration at Brand-se-Baai located 385 km north of Cape Town. HM ore is mined 
from two open cut mines by excavators in two open cut dry mines, the West and East pits, each with a dedicated PCP (wet 
gravity). Heavy mineral concentrate (“HMC”) slurry from each PCP is pumped to a shared secondary concentration plant, 
where separate magnetic and non-magnetic concentrates are produced from wet high intensity magnetic separation. Both 
magnetic and non-magnetic HMC are transported 52 km by truck to the mineral separation plant. 

2) Koekenaap Mineral Separation Plant. Commercial concentrates of zircon and rutile and ilmenite feed for titanium slag are 
separated from the HMC. All products are transported by rail about 300 km to Saldanha. 

3) Saldanha smelter located 105 km north of Cape Town, where ilmenite is fed to two open-arc DC furnaces with a minimum 
annual production capacity of 190,000 MT/year titanium slag and 100,000 MT/yr pig iron. 
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The Namakwa integrated mineral processing project was commissioned in 1993 by Anglo American plc. Phase I of the project 
reached full operation in 1995 with the start-up of a 25 megawatt DC arc furnace. A second 35 megawatt DC furnace was 
commissioned in 1999. Namakwa Sands was acquired by Exxaro Resources Ltd in 2008, and the mineral sands division of Exxaro was 
combined with Tronox in 2012. Total ore from 21 years of past mining of the Namakwa ore body plus our current reserves exceeds 
over one billion MT.  

    

Ore mining at Namakwa involves stripping of a thin surficial layer of reddish-colored, quartz-rich aeolian sand known as the Red 
Aeolian Sand (“RAS”), followed by a much thicker mineralized unit of orange-colored, feldspar-rich paleodune sands, the Orange 
Feldspathic Sand (“OFS”). Underlying the OFS at the base of the mineralized complex is a volumetrically small but high-grade paleo-
strandline unit with locally 40% THM or higher. The mineralized RAS forms a sheet-like layer of aeolian sand over an approximate 
area of 17,000 hectares, interpreted as a backshore dune field derived from multiple strand line deposits.  

Approximately 90% of the 668 million MT estimated ore and 92% of the 47.3 million THM in our Namakwa reserve statement 
are hosted by the orange feldspathic sand. Most of the remaining 10% is hosted by the RAS, with less than 2% in the strandline deposit. 
The OFS is interpreted as the remnant of a long-lived, reworked aeolian dune sand complex. The OFS exhibits considerable internal 
variability, including lenses and one continuous layers of hard, calcite- or silica-cemented sand, or “ duricrust ,” immediately below the 
RAS unit. Such hard layers are common in arid environments due to precipitation of cryptocrystalline silica or calcite from alkali-
saturated groundwater. The duricrust is detrimental to efficient mining and processing, and — where strongly-developed — effectively 
sterilizes material that would otherwise be considered ore. Such zones are excluded from our ore reserve estimates.  

The basal strandline HM deposits define a J-shaped embayment in the ancient coastline that is now occupied by the very slight 
embayment of Brand-se-Baai. Similar J-shaped bays act as depositional traps for heavy mineral accumulations and are genetically-
associated with some major HM deposits such as Eneabba, Western Australia. Recent Emergent Terraces, which are heavy mineral 
concentrations within 500 meters of the modern high-tide mark in the Namakwa area, are excluded from our mining permit.  

The Namakwa HM assemblage is diverse and variable, particularly in the OFS, the host for the majority of our HM reserves. The 
deposit-wide VHM: THM ratio averages about 51:49. Ore determination is guided by higher VHM grades, particularly zircon. Total 
HM grades tend to be higher toward the base of the OFS, but the mineralized section matures upward with a higher VHM to THM 
ratio. The approximate 51% VHM consist of zircon, rutile and ilmenite, while the remaining heavy minerals are a diverse assemblage 
dominated by garnet  

4) Saldanha export facilities which includes storage facilities and superb deepwater port infrastructure for export of 400,000 to 
450,000 MT per year of final products of slag, pig iron, and two grades each of zircon and rutile. 
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and pyroxene that also contains variable kyanite, monazite, magnetite, and other heavy minerals of limited or speculative commercial 
value. Namakwa ilmenite exhibits a range of Ti:Fe ratios that reflect the original variability in titanium-iron oxide HM derived from the 
basement source rocks.  

The division of the Namakwa deposit into the “West” and “East” open cut mine pits is entirely arbitrary, defined by the mine’s 
north-trending access road. Geologic, resource, and economic modeling are performed separately for the two mining operations with 
respect to their ore and mineralogical character. Because mining and mineralogical characteristics are sensitive to lithologies and 
duricrust layers, Geological modeling on 50m x 50m x 1m blocks reflects the significance of the vertical variability in ore character in 
terms of mining and processing. Individual blocks may be further subdivided according to ore types, detailed geostatistical analyses, 
and specific exploitation strategies applied by a very experienced mine staff. Economic modeling is strongly influenced by zircon 
values, for which rigorous geostatistical analyses are applied.  

Historic mining in the East pit has exploited only RAS ore, but a detailed evaluation of the East mine mineralization culminated in 
2013 with the addition of approximately 250 million MT of OFS ore to our Namakwa reserves. A new PCP will be constructed for 
treatment of OFS ore from the East pit starting 2018, and an additional East PCP upgrade scheduled for 2023 will increase East pit ore 
extraction to about ten million MT per year. Average ore production from the West mine pit averages 13.8 Mt through 2044 in the 
LOMP. Most of the declared Namakwa ore reserves are in the West pit LOMP. US-based investors are cautioned, however, that the 
Life-of-Mine Plan for Namakwa includes non-reserve mineralized material that currently has no assurance of economic extraction.  

The combined RAS, OFS and strandline HM mineralization are differing styles within a single, very large HM deposit, the overall 
dimensions of which extends approximately 15 kilometers in a northeasterly direction, with a maximum width of four kilometers and a 
total thickness that varies up to 40 meters. A portion of the apparent size of the mineralized mass of the Namakwa deposit is currently 
classified by Namakwa Sands resource specialists as measured , indicated or inferred resources under SAMREC reporting guidelines, 
and a portion of those non-reserve estimates is included in our total 12.31.2014 proven reserves plus probable reserves estimate of 
667.9 million MT at average grade 7.06% THM. However a significant amount of non-reserve mineralized material is included in our 
current LOMP, the base case of which extends to the year 2054, and US investors are cautioned that economic mineability of any non-
reserve material is not assured.  

KZN Sands, KwaZulu-Natal Province, South Africa  

KZN Sands is an integrated mine-mineral separation-smelting-export operation in the province of KwaZulu-Natal on South 
Africa’s east coast, including the following key components:  

The integrated mining-processing operation now known as KZN Sands was conceived by Exxaro Mineral Sands’ predecessor, 
Iscor Heavy Minerals (“IHM”), who initiated a detailed feasibility study in 1995. The mining division of Iscor was reorganized as 
Kumba Resources, a major equity owner of Australian mining firm Ticor (then 50% owner of the Tiwest Joint Venture in Western 
Australia), who acquired 40% of IHM and management control of the project in 2001 as Ticor South Africa. TSA commissioned the 
now-depleted Hillendale mine and integrated Empangeni Central Processing Complex in 2002-2003. The unbundling of Kumba in 
2006 placed KZN Sands under empowerment mining company Exxaro Resources Ltd, and the acquisition of Exxaro’s mineral sands 
business by Tronox in 2012 placed a 74% controlling interest of KZN Sands under Tronox.  

KZN Sands will utilize hydraulic mining at Fairbreeze to disaggregate the ore with high-pressure water jets and wash the slurry 
into a collection sump for screening of oversize. The remaining ore slurry will be pumped to a nearby PCP (“wet”) for gravity 
concentration and de-watering of the heavy mineral concentrate. At Fairbreeze, about 25 kilometers southwest of the now-depleted 
Hillendale mine, water recycling and other best practices will be employed to minimize environmental impacts. We believe all critical 
licenses and permits for Fairbreeze have been obtained, including a key water use license approved in 2013 and upheld in 2014 by the 
South African  

1) Fairbreeze heavy mineral mine, a new mine now in construction approximately 45 kilometers south-southwest of Richards 
Bay: and 

2) Central Processing Complex at Empangeni, consisting of a mineral separation plant for production of commercial rutile and 
zircon concentrates and ilmenite feed to two electric-arc furnaces for the production of titanium slag and pig iron. 
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Department of Water Affairs. Exploitation of 100% of our estimated 184.3 million MT ore reserves at an average grade of 6.51% THM 
is subject to future extensions and renewals of existing permits and licenses and approvals for other routine legal authorizations over 
the LOM, for which we have realistic expectations.  

Fairbreeze HMC will be hauled approximately 45 km by truck to the Empangeni central processing complex, where about 30,000 
MTs rutile and 60,000 MT of zircon per year will be separated from ilmenite using magnetic and electrostatic separation equipment 
custom-designed for the KZN heavy mineral assemblage. Zircon is fed to a hot acid leach circuit to remove iron coatings and further 
refined through wet separation techniques. Common to all ilmenite on the eastern South African coast, the Fairbreeze ilmenite 
concentrate contains discrete grains of chromite, which are deleterious to TiO 2 pigment manufacturing. At Empangeni, chromite is 
removed from the ilmenite via roasting and magnetic separation prior to being fed to two 36MW DC electric-arc furnaces, 
commissioned in 2003 and 2005, with a combined annual production capacity of up to 220,000 MT titanium slag suitable for chloride-
route TiO 2 pigment manufacture, 121,000 MT low-manganese pig iron, and minor amounts of slag fines (produced from crushing of 
the cooled slag) marketable to sulfate-route TiO 2 pigment manufacturers. All products are transported 22 km to Richards Bay for 
export.  

The Fairbreeze HM sand deposits are hosted by a NNE-trending compound strandline/paleodune complex approximately two 
kilometers inland from the modern coastline and are part of a coastal dune field parallel to the southeastern coast of Africa from 
northeastern Mozambique to south of Durban. The Fairbreeze paleodune complex is an elongate body extending south-southwestward 
from the town of Mtunzini for about 12 kilometers, reaching a maximum width of about two kilometers and a maximum elevation of 
109 meters. The Fairbreeze heavy mineral deposit near the top of the paleodune complex may once have been continuous over most of 
the dune field’s 12 km length, but dissection of the dune topography by modern drainages perpendicular to the dune trend intermittently 
truncated the deposit into five discrete bodies, termed Fairbreeze A, B, C, C-Extension and D.  

The deposit is hosted by fine-grained sand and silt of the Pliocene-Pleistocene Berea Red Sands, which acquired a distinctive red 
coloration from oxidation and degradation of iron-bearing minerals. The geologic evolution of the coastal plain of KwaZulu-Natal can 
be traced to the Early Cretaceous development of the Mozambique Coastal Plain in response to the break-up of the Gondwana 
Supercontinent. Episodic sedimentation, eustatic sea levels and reworking of coastal beach and dune sands throughout the late 
Mesozoic and Cenozoic culminated in the formation of the Berea Red Sands, which host heavy mineral deposits elsewhere on the 
southeastern coastline of Africa.  

During the transition to our Fairbreeze mine, the Empangeni smelter continued to produce titanium slag during 2014 from our 
internally-sourced ilmenite stockpiled at Namakwa Sands and Empangeni.  

Northern Operations, Tronox Western Australia  

The integrated supply chain consisting of the Cooljarloo mine, Chandala mineral separation plant and synthetic rutile metallurgical 
complex, and the Kwinana TiO 2 pigment plant were commissioned in 1989.  

Our Western Australia mining and mineral tenure, described earlier in this filing, are summarized here in hectares:  

Our Cooljarloo mine, approximately 17 km north of the village of Cataby and approximately 170 km north of Perth, has been in 
continuous production since its start in 1989, producing over 15 million MT of heavy mineral concentrates over its approximate 25-
year life. The Cooljarloo HMC is of exceptional quality, containing on average over 75% VHM. The highly-weathered ilmenite at 
Cooljarloo has been naturally upgraded to a porous, high-TiO 2 % ilmenite of exceptional performance characteristics in the Becher-
process synthetic rutile kiln at Chandala. Multiple grades of leucoxene, zircon, and natural rutile from Chandala are transported to 
Bunbury or other Western Australia ports for export.  

Deposit or Operation  
Hectares under  
Mining Lease(s)  

Hectares under  
Exploration Leases  

Total 
Tenement  
Coverage  

Cooljarloo-Cooljarloo West    9,745       38,598      48,343   
Dongara    17,889       0      17,889   
Jurien    2,056       0      2,056   
Tronox W.A. Total    29,690       38,598      68,288   
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A series of partially overlapping or stacked marine strandlines are the predominant host for economic HM deposits at Cooljarloo 
that we excavate from two mines:  

Most of the ore bodies at Cooljarloo are at or below the water table and thus permissible for dredge mining. Dredge mining is 
typically much less expensive on a unit basis than conventional “dry” mining but with less flexibility in terms of selective mining. Two 
cutter-suction dredges of capacities 2400 tph and 600 tph work in tandem in a common dredge mine pond, feeding a common floating 
gravity concentrator, or “wet plant,” of synchronized 3000 tph capacity. Overburden at the dredge mine is contract-mined by excavator-
and-truck at a overburden-to-mass ratio of 0.3 in our mine plan.  

The Cooljarloo dredge mine was commissioned in 1989 with an estimated mine-life of approximately 25 years, and has been in 
continuous operation since. Since its start, the moving dredge mine pond has traversed approximately 13 kilometers in a reverse J-
shaped path. For the past seven years has mined the “gr6” ore body, a single, continuous mineralized sand body elongate about six 
kilometers in a north-south direction, with a width up to three km and a thickness of 20-25 meters. The ore is easily dredgeable; 
however it is low-grade. It is interpreted as a composite of at least two separate, reworked marine strandlines at a present elevation of 
about 70 meters above modern sea level. The deposit narrows to a series of higher-grade strands surrounded by a lower-grade “halo” 
before its depletion in 2016-2017, at which time the dredge mine progresses northward into multiple new ore bodies of variable 
geometries and grades. Results from drilling during 2013-2014 and adjustments to the revised LOMP model add approximately 
400,000 MT THM to the Cooljarloo reserves, net of 2014 mining depletion.  

Improved operating efficiencies have allowed the Cooljarloo mining operations to exploit very low grade dredge-mineable ore, 
and our current Cooljarloo reserves support a future mine-life of at least 10 years. Mineralization at the adjacent Cooljarloo West 
project is very similar to that of Cooljarloo, and has been determined to be dredgeable by a detailed evaluation during 2009-2014 that 
includes over 90,000 meters of new drilling, metallurgical testing and resource-economic modeling. A maiden probable ore reserve of 
just over 100 million MT containing 2 million MT THM is disclosed in this filing, based on three separate deposits informally named 
Woolka Road, Kestrel and Harrier. Cooljarloo West can be sequenced into the long-term LOMP after depletion of dredgeable ore at 
Cooljarloo, for a combined reserve-supported LOM of 14 years. Our future heavy mineral reserve disclosures may combine Cooljarloo 
West and Cooljarloo.  

Cooljarloo is among the largest mines of any kind in Australia. Both mines have independent primary concentrators (“wet 
plants”), producing a combined average of 600-650 thousand MT per year of HMC. HMC is transported by “road trains” 110 km to the 
Chandala processing plant near Muchea, 60 km north of Perth, where it is separated into valuable concentrates of rutile, leucoxene and 
zircon for export and ilmenite feed to our synthetic rutile kiln. Most or all of the Chandala synthetic rutile production capacity of 
approximately 220,000 MT is consumed by our Kwinana TiO 2 pigment plant, 30 km south of Perth. Our 2014 production of 
commercial heavy minerals totaled 592 thousand MT, of which ilmenite was 74%; rutile and leucoxene - 11%; zircon - 11%; and s - 
4%. Synthetic rutile production in 2014 was 217 thousand MT.  

• Cooljarloo Dredge mine, where two dredges with a combined digging capacity of approximately 3,000 MT per hour pump 
ore slurry to a common floating primary concentrator, or “wet plant”  at a matching capacity of 3,000 tph ore feed; and 

• Cooljarloo North mine, a dry mine where a higher-grade ore with thin or no overburden is excavated by a contractor via 
“dozer trap”  mining methods. 
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The table above provides a location map of Tronox Western Australia ore reserves, mining and processing assets, including the 
Cooljarloo mine, Chandala processing plant and Kwinana TiO 2 pigment plant. Future mines with heavy mineral reserves include dry 
mining of the Dongara ore body and dredge mining at Cooljarloo West, an extension of our current Cooljarloo mining operations.  

A strategic goal for our Western Australia operations, underpinned by our LOMP, is to sustain HMC production and ilmenite feed 
to the Chandala synthetic rutile plant through the next decade. Our LOMP is basically a road map to guide our resource utilization 
decision process. Our extensive geologic and analytical database is uploaded to commercial mining software programs (Maptek 
Vulcan, Easimine) for geostatistical validation and building of a detailed 3D block model of the deposit. The block model is evaluated 
by an in-house pit optimization process that applies variable sales price assumptions to a range of revenues-to-mining and processing 
cost ratios. The resulting “ what if ” options are reviewed in detail by an in-house interdisciplinary team led by our business analyst and 
mine planning engineer to select a preferred option for exploitation, based on resource management criteria, net present value and 
earnings before interest and taxes measures. Minor adjustments are made routinely to our Western Australia LOMP, and more 
thorough, comprehensive re-evaluations are performed at least every few years by a multidisciplinary technical team. Our last 
comprehensive LOMP review, completed in late 2013, and serves as our current “road map” for future resource development.  

Ongoing exploration and detailed evaluation continues at our Dongara project, approximately 20 kilometers southeast of the 
eponymous coastal town and about 50 km north of the world-class Eneabba HM sands district. Dongara consists of at six or more 
physically separate HM deposits associated with up to five north-trending marine strandlines of inferred Quaternary age, at elevations 
between 10 and 50 meters above modern sea level. The Dongara strands tend to be narrow and high-grade with halos of lower-grade 
material, and overlain by variable thicknesses of overburden. Our proven reserves of 65 million MT at 5.1% THM are determined from 
the results of a feasibility study completed in 2013 for sequenced exploitation from five open cut mines. HMC from Dongara would be 
truck-hauled 230 kilometers to the Chandala processing plant. Continued evaluation of Dongara will include a conceptual dry-dredge 
mining combination. The currently-stated reserves are based solely on the dry mining studies.  

The Cooljarloo district lies within a corridor several kilometers wide of sub-parallel mineralized marine strandlines, extending 
from the village of Cataby nearly continuously 40 kilometers north-northwest. Cooljarloo is currently the only active heavy mineral 
mine of significance in the northern Swan Coastal Plain, where 15-20% of the global titanium feedstock historically has been produced 
from large mining complexes at Eneabba (Iluka and predecessors, 1974-present) and Cooljarloo (Tronox and predecessors, 1989-
present) and smaller mines at Jurien (WMC, 1972-1974, now owned by Tronox) and Gingin (Iluka, 2005-2009). Significant deposits  

37  



TABLE OF CONTENTS  

of HM in the region are hosted by paleo-strandlines and paleo-dune fields at elevations ranging from 20 to 170 meters above the 
modern sea level. The northern Swan Coastal Plain deposits are commonly associated with the Gingin Scarp, a wave-cut escarpment at 
the eastern margin of the Swan Coastal Plain, which exerted a major control on their formation, along with river and stream discharge 
locales and — especially at Eneabba — J-shaped coastline embayments.  

Item 3. Legal Proceedings  

Refer to Note 19 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures  

Not applicable.  

PART II  

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities  

Market for our Class A ordinary shares  

Our Class A Shares began trading on the New York Stock Exchange on June 18, 2012 under the symbol “TROX.” There is no 
public trading market for our Class B Shares, which are held by Exxaro.  

The following table sets forth, for the fiscal quarters indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our Class A Shares, and 
the dividends declared during 2014 and 2013.  

Holders of Record  

As of January 31, 2015, there were approximately 480 holders of record of Class A Shares. This does not include the shareholders 
that held shares of our Class A Shares in a nominee or “street-name” accounts through banks or broker-dealers.  

Share Repurchases  

On June 26, 2012, the Board authorized the repurchase of 10% of Tronox Limited voting securities in open market transactions. 
During 2012, we repurchased 12,626,400 Class A Shares, affected for the 5-for-1 share split, at an average price of $25.84 per share, 
inclusive of commissions, for a total cost of $326 million. Repurchased shares were subsequently canceled in accordance with 
Australian law. On September 27, 2012, we announced the successful completion of our share repurchase program.  

Item 6. Selected Financial Data  

The following table sets forth selected historical financial data for the periods indicated. In connection with its emergence from 
bankruptcy, Tronox Incorporated applied fresh-start accounting under Accounting Standards Codification 852, Reorganizations as of 
January 31, 2011. Accordingly, the financial information of Tronox  

Sales Price  Dividends  
per Share  High  Low  

2014                          
Fourth quarter $ 26.06    $ 19.74    $ 0.25    
Third quarter $ 31.05    $ 24.28    $ 0.25    
Second quarter $ 27.95    $ 22.27    $ 0.25    
First quarter $ 25.25    $ 21.45    $ 0.25    
2013                          
Fourth quarter $ 24.99    $ 20.75    $ 0.25    
Third quarter $ 26.99    $ 19.00    $ 0.25    
Second quarter $ 23.97    $ 18.52    $ 0.25    
First quarter $ 21.90    $ 18.15    $ 0.25    
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Incorporated set forth in this Form 10-K, unless otherwise expressly set forth or as the context otherwise indicates, reflects the 
consolidated results of operations and financial condition on a fresh-start basis for the period beginning February 1, 2011 
(“Successor”), and on a historical basis for the period through January 31, 2011 (“Predecessor”).  

The statement of operations data and supplemental information for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 reflect the 
consolidated operating results of Tronox Limited. The statement of operations data and supplemental information for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 reflect the consolidated operating results of Tronox Incorporated prior to June 15, 2012, and, from June 15, 2012 
through December 31, 2012, reflect the consolidated operating results of Tronox Limited. The statement of operations data and the 
supplemental information for the eleven months ended December 31, 2011, one month ended January 31, 2011, and year ended 
December 31, 2010 reflect the consolidated operating results of Tronox Incorporated. The balance sheet data at December 31, 2014, 
2013, and 2012 relate to Tronox Limited, and at December 31, 2011, January 31, 2011, and December 31, 2010 relate to Tronox 
Incorporated. This information should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements (including the notes thereto) 
and our “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”  

Successor  Predecessor  

Year Ended December 31,  
Eleven Months  

Ended  
December 31,  

2011  

One Month  
Ended  

January 31,  
2011  

Year Ended  
December 31,  

2010  2014  2013  2012  

(Millions of U.S. Dollars, except share and per share data) 

Statement of Operations Data:                                                  
Net sales $  1,737    $  1,922    $  1,832    $  1,543    $ 108    $  1,218    
Gross profit    207       190       264       439       25       222    
Selling, general and administrative expenses    (192 )     (187 )     (239 )     (152 )    (5 )     (59 )  
Restructuring expense    (15 )     —       —       —       —       —    
Litigation/arbitration settlement    —       —       —       10       —       —    
Provision for environmental remediation and 

restoration, net of reimbursements (1)    —       —       —       5       —       47    
Income from operations    —       3       25       302       20       210    
Interest and debt expense, net    (133 )     (130 )     (65 )     (30 )    (3 )     (50 )  
Net gain (loss) on liquidation of non-operating 

subsidiaries    (35 )     24       —       —       —       —    
Loss on extinguishment of debt    (8 )     (4 )     —       —       —       —    
Gain on bargain purchase    —       —       1,055       —       —       —    
Reorganization income (expense)    —       —       —       —       613       (145 )  
Other income (expense), net    27       46       (7 )     (10 )    2       (8 )  
Income (loss) from continuing operations 

before income taxes    (149 )     (61 )     1,008       262       632       7    
Income tax benefit (provision)    (268 )     (29 )     125       (20 )    (1 )     (2 )  
Income (loss) from continuing operations    (417 )     (90 )     1,133       242       631       5    
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net 

of income tax benefit (provision)    —       —       —       —       —       1    

Net income (loss) $  (417 )  $  (90 )  $  1,133    $  242    $ 631    $  6    
Income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling 

interest    10       36       (1 )                          
Net income (loss) attributable to Tronox 

Limited $  (427 )  $  (126 )  $  1,134                            
Income (loss) per share from continuing 

operations (2):                                                  
Basic $  (3.74 )  $  (1.11 )  $  11.37    $  3.22    $ 15.28    $  0.11    
Diluted $  (3.74 )  $  (1.11 )  $  11.10    $  3.10    $ 15.25    $  0.11    
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Successor  Predecessor  

Year Ended December 31,  
Eleven Months  

Ended  
December 31,  

2011  

One Month  
Ended  

January 31,  
2011  

Year Ended  
December 31,  

2010  2014  2013  2012  

(Millions of U.S. Dollars, except share and per share data) 

Balance Sheet Data:                                                  
Working capital (3) $  2,015    $  2,290    $  1,706    $  488    $ 458    $  483    
Total assets $  5,065    $  5,699    $  5,511    $  1,657    $ 1,091    $  1,098    
Long-term debt $  2,393    $  2,413    $  1,615    $  421    $ 421    $  421    
Total equity $  1,788    $  2,437    $  2,882    $  752    $ (654 )  $  (630 )  
Supplemental Information:                                                  
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense $  295    $  333    $  211    $  79    $ 4    $  50    
Capital expenditures $  187    $  165    $  166    $  133    $ 6    $  45    
Dividends per share $  1.00    $  1.00    $  0.50    $  —    $ —    $  —    

(1) In 2010, Tronox Incorporated recorded receivables from its insurance carrier related to environmental clean-up obligations at the Henderson facility, for which such 
obligations had been recorded in 2008 and prior years. 

(2) On June 26, 2012, the Board of Directors of Tronox Limited approved a 5-to-1 share split for holders of our Class A Shares and Class B Shares. All references to number 
of shares and per share data in the Successor’s consolidated financial statements have been adjusted to reflect the share split, unless otherwise noted. See Note 20. 

(3) Working capital is defined as the excess (deficit) of current assets over current liabilities. 

40  



TABLE OF CONTENTS  

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with Tronox Limited’s consolidated financial statements and the related 
notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion and other sections in this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
contain forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, that involve risks and 
uncertainties, and actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements as a result of numerous 
factors. Forward-looking statements provide current expectations of future events based on certain assumptions and include any 
statement that does not directly relate to any historical or current fact. Forward-looking statements also can be identified by words 
such as “future,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “predicts,” “ will,” “would,” “could,” 
“can,” “may,” and similar terms.  

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains certain financial 
measures, in particular the presentation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, which are not presented in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”). We are presenting these non-U.S. GAAP financial measures 
because we believe they provide us and readers of this Form 10-K with additional insight into our operational performance relative to 
earlier periods and relative to our competitors. We do not intend for these non-U.S GAAP financial measures to be a substitute for any 
U.S. GAAP financial information. Readers of these statements should use these non-U.S. GAAP financial measures only in conjunction 
with the comparable U.S. GAAP financial measures. A reconciliation of Net income (loss) to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA is also 
provided herein.  

Executive Overview  

We are a global leader in the production and marketing of titanium bearing mineral sands and titanium dioxide (“TiO 2 ”) pigment. 
We are the third largest global producer and marketer of TiO 2 manufactured via chloride technology, as well as the second largest 
global producer of titanium feedstock and a leader in global zircon production. We have operations in North America, Europe, South 
Africa, and the Asia-Pacific region. We operate three TiO 2 pigment facilities at the following locations: Hamilton, Mississippi; Botlek, 
The Netherlands; and Kwinana, Western Australia, representing an aggregate capacity of approximately 465,000 metric tons of annual 
TiO 2 production capacity. Additionally, we operate three separate mining operations: KwaZulu-Natal (“KZN”) Sands located in South 
Africa, Namakwa Sands located in South Africa and Cooljarloo Sands located in Western Australia.  

We have two reportable operating segments, Mineral Sands and Pigment. Corporate and Other is comprised of our electrolytic 
operations, all of which are located in the United States, as well as our corporate activities.  

The Mineral Sands segment includes the exploration, mining, and beneficiation of mineral sands deposits. These operations 
produce titanium feedstock, including chloride slag, slag fines, and rutile, as well as zircon and pig iron. Titanium feedstock is used 
primarily to manufacture TiO 2 pigment. Zircon is a mineral which is primarily used as an opacifier in ceramic glazes for tiles, plates, 
dishes, and industrial products. Pig iron is a metal material used in the steel and metal casting industries to create wrought iron, cast 
iron, and steel.  

The Pigment segment primarily produces and markets TiO 2, which is used in a wide range of products due to its ability to impart 
whiteness, brightness, and opacity. TiO 2 pigment is used extensively in the manufacture of paint and other coatings, plastics and paper, 
and in a wide range of other applications, including inks, fibers, rubber, food, cosmetics, and pharmaceuticals. Moreover, it is a critical 
component of everyday consumer applications due to its superior ability to cover or mask other materials effectively and efficiently 
relative to alternative white pigments and extenders. We believe that, at present, TiO 2 has no effective substitute because no other 
white pigment has the physical properties for achieving comparable opacity and brightness or can be incorporated in a cost-effective 
manner.  

Recent Developments  

Acquisition of Alkali Chemicals Group — On February 3, 2015, we announced that we signed a definitive agreement with FMC 
Corporation to acquire its Alkali Chemicals Group for $1.64 billion. The transaction is expected to be significantly accretive to our 
EBITDA, free cash flow and earnings upon closing. We will fund  

41  



TABLE OF CONTENTS  

the acquisition through existing cash and new debt pursuant to signed commitments from multiple banks. The transaction, which has 
been approved by the board of directors of both companies, is expected to close in the first quarter of 2015, and is subject to customary 
closing conditions. See Note 29 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Litigation Settlement — On May 29, 2014, the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York (Manhattan) (the 
“Bankruptcy Court”) approved a settlement with Anadarko Petroleum Corp. (“Anadarko”) for $5.15 billion. On January 23, 2015, 
Anadarko paid $5.2 billion, including approximately $65 million of accrued interest, pursuant to the terms of the settlement agreement. 
We did not receive any portion of the settlement amount. Instead, 88% of the $5.2 billion will go to trusts and other governmental 
entities for the remediation of polluted sites by Kerr-McGee. The remaining 12% will be distributed to a tort trust to compensate 
individuals injured as a result of Kerr-McGee’s environmental failures. See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Valuation allowances — During 2014, we recorded valuation allowances against our deferred tax assets in The Netherlands and 
Australia for $58 million and $255 million, respectively. See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Changes to Pension and Other Postretirement Healthcare Benefits — During 2014, our benefits committee, in response to tax and 
pension legislation changes, approved changes to The Netherlands pension plan which includes moving the plan from a defined benefit 
plan to a multi-employer plan to be administered by the industrywide Pension Fund for the Graphical Industry, effective January 1, 
2015. This action eliminates the future benefit accrual for participants under the current plan effective January 1, 2015, and resulted in a 
curtailment gain of $3 million which was recognized in “Other income (expense), net” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 
Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2014, our benefits committee approved changes to the unfunded U.S. postretirement 
healthcare plan which eliminated the pre-65 retiree medical coverage effective January 1, 2015. Retired participants will receive a one-
time subsidy aggregating less than $1 million towards medical cost through a health reimbursement arrangement (“HRA”) that we will 
be establishing for them. As a result of this action, we recorded a curtailment gain of $6 million, which was included in “Other income 
(expense), net” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. See Note 23 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Restructuring — On September 23, 2014, we announced a cost reduction initiative which was completed during the fourth quarter 
of 2014. The initiative involved a reduction in our workforce by approximately 70 employees, as well as the elimination of 
approximately 65 outside contractor positions. We recognized a $15 million expense from this initiative during 2014. As a result of this 
initiative, we expect annual cost savings of approximately $25 million in 2015. See Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements.  

Collective bargaining agreements — On July 16, 2014, we reached collective bargaining agreements with the National Union of 
Mineworkers and Solidarity, which covers all bargaining unit union-represented employees working in our mineral sands operations in 
Namakwa and KZN. The one year agreement was effective July 1, 2014.  

Amendments to Term Loan — On April 23, 2014, we entered into a Third Amendment to the Credit and Guaranty Agreement, 
which provides for the re-pricing of our $1.5 billion senior secured term loan (the “Term Loan”). See Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements.  

Changes in Certifying Accountant — On April 7, 2014, our Audit Committee of the Board of Directors nominated 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) for appointment to serve as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year 
ending December 31, 2014. On May 21, 2014, shareholders approved PwC’s appointment at the Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders, and our engagement of PwC became effective.  

Business Environment  

The following discussion includes trends and factors that may affect future operating results.  

Pigment sales volumes increased 4% during 2014, primarily in North America. Following continued price weakness in the first 
half of 2015, we expect to see some positive developments in sales pricing in the second half.  
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We believe the feedstock market continues to be oversupplied. During 2014, the Mineral Sands’ business performance reflected 
weaker market conditions as sales volumes and selling prices declined. This decline in feedstock selling prices contributes to greater 
margins in our Pigment business that will be realized when the pigment made from that feedstock is sold, which is typically five to six 
months later. We expect feedstock market conditions to gradually improve as pigment markets strengthen. As selling prices for high 
grade chloride feedstock currently produced inadequate returns, beginning in the first half of 2014 and going forward, we began to sell 
chloride processed titanium slag and natural rutile as feedstock solely to our own Pigment business.  

We continue to be uniquely tax-advantaged by favorable tax loss carryforwards, the settlement reached with Anadarko for $5.2 
billion, including approximately $65 million of accrued interest, and approved by the Bankruptcy Court, and other favorable tax 
positions. These tax-advantaged factors are not currently recognized as assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheet; however, we believe 
they create opportunities for our operations to benefit for years to come.  

Planned construction on the Fairbreeze mine continued during 2014. The Fairbreeze mine will serve as a replacement source of 
feedstock production for our Hillendale mine, which ceased mining operations in December 2013. Depending on construction, the 
Fairbreeze mine is expected to begin operations at the end of 2015, and be fully operational in 2016. The Fairbreeze mine is estimated 
to have a life expectancy of approximately 15 years.  

Going forward, we will continue to evaluate potential acquisitions, joint ventures and other initiatives in order to expand our 
business portfolio and enhance shareholder value.  

Consolidated Results of Operations  

Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2013  

Net sales for 2014 decreased 10% compared to 2013 due to the impact of lower selling prices and product mix of $124 million, as 
well as lower volumes of $64 million, offset by favorable changes in foreign currency translation of $3 million. Selling prices were 
lower in both our Pigment and Mineral Sands businesses, while lower volumes in our Mineral Sands business (after elimination of 
inter-segment sales) were partially offset by higher volumes in our Pigment business.  

During 2014, cost of goods sold decreased 12% compared to 2013. The decrease principally reflects the impact of lower volumes 
of $77 million, lower production costs of $69 million and favorable foreign currency translation of $79 million, offset by a net increase 
in lower of cost or market reserves of $23 million.  

Our gross profit during 2014 was 12% of net sales compared to 10% of net sales in 2013. The increase principally reflects the 
impact of lower production costs and favorable currency translation, offset by lower selling prices.  

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  Change  

(Millions of U.S. dollars) 

Net sales $ 1,737    $ 1,922    $ (185 ) 
Cost of goods sold    1,530       1,732       (202 ) 
Gross profit    207       190       17    
Selling, general and administrative expenses    (192 )    (187 )    (5 ) 
Restructuring expense    (15 )    —       (15 ) 
Income from operations    —       3       (3 ) 
Interest and debt expense, net    (133 )    (130 )    (3 ) 
Net gain (loss) on liquidation of non-operating subsidiaries    (35 )    24       (59 ) 
Loss on extinguishment of debt    (8 )    (4 )    (4 ) 
Other income (expense), net    27       46       (19 ) 
Loss before income taxes    (149 )    (61 )    (88 ) 
Income tax provision    (268 )    (29 )    (239 ) 

Net loss $ (417 ) $ (90 ) $ (327 ) 
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Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 3% during 2014 compared 2013. The net increase in 2014 was mainly due 
to increased spending for professional services and employee related costs.  

During 2014, we commenced a cost reduction initiative, for which we recorded a $15 million charge related to employee 
severance costs, as well as outplacement services and other associated costs and expenses. See Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements.  

Interest and debt expense in 2014 is primarily comprised of interest expense on the Term Loan of $63 million and $57 million on 
the $900 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes (the “Senior Notes”) compared to $60 million on the Term Loan and a term 
facility and $57 million on the Senior Notes. The slight decrease in interest expense on the Term loan from 2013 is due to a lower rate 
from refinancing in April 2014.  

During 2014, we completed the liquidation of a non-operating subsidiary, Tronox Pigments International GmbH, for which we 
recognized a noncash loss from the realization of cumulative translation adjustments of $35 million. During 2013, we completed the 
liquidation of two non-operating subsidiaries, Tronox (Luxembourg) Holdings S.a.r.l. and Tronox Luxembourg S.a.r.l., for which we 
recognized a net noncash gain from the realization of cumulative translation adjustments of $24 million. See Note 5 of Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements.  

During 2014, we recognized an $8 million loss on the early extinguishment of debt resulting from the write-off of deferred debt 
issuance costs and discount on debt associated with an amendment to the Term Loan. During 2013, we recognized a $4 million loss on 
the early extinguishment of debt related to the allocated portion of the unamortized original issue discount and debt issuance costs 
associated with a term facility. See Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Other income (expense), net during 2014 primarily consisted of net realized and unrealized foreign currency gains of $5 million, 
interest income of $13 million and a curtailment gain of $9 million related to our U.S. postretirement healthcare plan and our 
Netherlands pension plan compared to a net realized and unrealized foreign currency gain of $39 million, interest income of $8 million 
and other expenses of $1 million during 2013.  

The effective tax rate for each of the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 differs from the Australian statutory rate of 
30%. Historically, the differences were primarily due to valuation allowances, income in foreign jurisdictions taxed at rates lower than 
30%, and withholding tax accruals on interest income. Additionally, the effective tax rate for 2014 is impacted by $58 million and $255 
million, respectively, due to increases to full valuation allowances in The Netherlands and Australia. The Anadarko Litigation 
settlement of $5.2 billion, including approximately $65 million of accrued interest, provided us with additional deferred tax assets of 
$2.0 billion, which were offset by full valuation allowances in the United States. As a result of an ownership change on June 15, 2012, 
our ability to use federal losses was not impacted; however, due to state apportionment impacts and carryforward periods, our state 
losses were limited. This limitation resulted in the loss of $23 million of deferred tax assets but was fully offset by a reduction to the 
valuation allowance.  

The statutory tax rates on income earned in South Africa (28% for limited liability companies), The Netherlands (25% for 
corporations), and the United Kingdom (23.25% for corporations and limited liability companies and not applicable for certain limited 
liability partners) are lower than the Australian statutory rate of 30%. The statutory tax rate, applied against losses in the United States 
(35% for corporations), is higher than the Australian statutory rate of 30%. Also, we continue to maintain a full valuation allowance in 
the United States.  

Operations Review of Segment Revenue and Profit  

U.S. GAAP has standards for reporting information about operating segments. Operating segments are defined as components of 
an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated by the chief operating decision maker in 
determining how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.  

We operate our business in two segments, Mineral Sands and Pigment. Corporate and Other is comprised of our electrolytic 
operations, all of which are located in the United States, as well as our corporate activities. We evaluate reportable segment 
performance based on segment operating profit (loss), which represents the results of segment operations before unallocated costs, such 
as general corporate expenses not identified to a specific segment, interest expense, other income (expense), and income tax expense or 
benefit. Sales between segments  
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are generally priced at market. Any resulting profit remaining in the inventory of the acquiring segment is eliminated in consolidation. 
See Note 25 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Net Sales  

Net sales by segment were as follows:  

Mineral Sands segment  

Mineral Sands segment net sales 2014 decreased 28% compared to 2013 primarily due to lower selling prices of $221 million and 
decreased volumes of $88 million. Mineral Sands selling prices declined for our titanium feedstock (which includes a portion sold to 
our pigments business). Mineral Sands sales volumes were lower during 2014 compared to 2013, principally due to decreased 
shipments of titanium feedstock and zircon to third parties, offset by increased shipments of pig iron. Both sales volumes and selling 
prices for titanium feedstock declined due to excess supply in the market. Primarily in the second half of 2014, as selling prices for high 
grade chloride feedstock produced inadequate returns, we sold chloride processed titanium slag and natural rutile as feedstock solely to 
our own Pigment business.  

Pigment segment  

Pigment segment net sales for 2014 increased 1% compared to 2013 primarily due to higher volumes of $57 million, offset by a 
decrease in selling prices and product mix of $49 million. The volume impact reflects increased shipments to the North American 
region offset partially by decreased shipments to other regions of the world. Lower selling prices were experienced in all regions of the 
world. During 2014, the effect of changes in foreign currency rates positively impacted Pigment net sales by $2 million.  

Corporate and Other  

Net sales for our electrolytic operations during 2014 decreased $15 million compared to 2013, primarily as a result of lower 
pricing on sodium chlorate and electrolytic manganese dioxide (“EMD”). Volumes were slightly lower as decreased shipments of EMD 
were partially offset by increased shipments of sodium chlorate.  

Eliminations  

Eliminations include the impact of transactions between our segments, principally sales from our Mineral Sands business to our 
Pigment business. Lower selling prices for titanium feedstock were partially offset by the growth in shipments from our Mineral Sands 
business to our Pigment business.  

Year Ended December 31,  
2014  2013  Change  

(Millions of U.S. dollars) 

Mineral Sands segment $ 794    $ 1,103    $ (309 ) 
Pigment segment    1,179       1,169       10    
Corporate and Other    113       128       (15 ) 
Eliminations    (349 )    (478 )    129    

Net Sales $ 1,737    $ 1,922    $ (185 ) 
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Income from Operations  

Income from operations by segments was as follows:  

Mineral Sands segment  

During 2014, we had income from operations of $1 million compared to $238 million during 2013. The change was primarily 
attributable to a $221 million decrease in selling prices, higher costs (mostly production) of $52 million, lower volumes of $35 million, 
restructuring costs in 2014 of $7 million, and a net increase in lower of cost or market reserves of $4 million, partially offset by 
favorable foreign currency translation of $82 million.  

Pigment segment  

During 2014, we had income from operations of $49 million compared to a loss from operations of $179 million during 2013. The 
increase in 2014 was primarily driven by lower ore costs (purchased from our Mineral Sands segment) and production costs of $315 
million, higher volumes of $3 million offset by the negative impact of price and product mix of $49 million, a net increase in lower of 
cost or market reserves of $36 million, and restructuring costs in 2014 of $5 million.  

Corporate and Other  

During 2014, Corporate and Other results decreased by $13 million compared to 2013 principally related to higher corporate 
expenses and to a slight decline in the performance in our electrolytic operations. Corporate selling, general and administrative 
expenses increased principally due to higher spending for employee costs and professional services. Additionally, Corporate and Other 
incurred $3 million of restructuring costs in 2014.  

Eliminations  

Eliminations principally reflect the change in deferred profit in inventory resulting from our Mineral Sands sales to our Pigment 
business. The net benefits (charges) included in eliminations were as follows:  

Year Ended December 31,  
2014  2013  Change  

(Millions of U.S. dollars) 

Mineral Sands segment $ 1    $ 238    $ (237 ) 
Pigment segment    49       (179 )    228    
Corporate and Other    (83 )    (70 )    (13 ) 
Eliminations    33       14       19    

Income from operations    —       3    $ (3 ) 
Interest and debt expense, net    (133 )    (130 )         
Net gain (loss) on liquidation of non-operating subsidiaries    (35 )    24            
Loss on extinguishment of debt    (8 )    (4 )         
Other income (expense), net    27       46            

Loss before income taxes $ (149 ) $ (61 )         

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  

(Millions of U.S. dollars) 

Increase in intercompany profit in inventory $ (41 ) $ (172 ) 
Release of intercompany profit in inventory    71       186    
Portion of the Mineral Sands lower of cost or market change that relates to intercompany 

activity with our Pigment business    3       —    

Eliminations $ 33    $ 14    
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Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2012  

Net sales for 2013 increased 5% from 2012 primarily due to the impact of the acquired businesses of $273 million and higher 
volumes of $294 million, partially offset by lower selling prices and mix of $480 million. Substantially higher volumes were achieved 
in both our Mineral Sands business and our Pigment business, while selling prices were decidedly lower in both businesses. During 
2013, the effect of changes in foreign currency positively impacted net sales by $3 million.  

Cost of goods sold increased 10% compared to prior year which principally reflects the impact of the acquired business of $191 
million and higher volumes in both the pigment and mineral sands businesses of $206 million, partially offset by $184 million due to 
favorable year-over-year impact of noncash amortization of inventory step-up and unfavorable ore sales contracts liability, favorable 
currency translation of $34 million and other lower costs of $15 million.  

During 2013, our gross profit decreased to 10% of net sales as compared to 14% of net sales in 2012. The decrease was principally 
due to lower selling prices offset partially by lower ore and production costs and by a favorable change in mix. During 2013 and 2012, 
net noncash depreciation, depletion and amortization of $159 million and $75 million, respectively, as a result of purchase accounting 
impacted the gross profit by 8% and 4%, respectively.  

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased 22% in 2013 compared to 2012. The net decrease during 2013 compared to 
2012 is primarily due to one-time costs incurred in connection with the acquisition of the Mineral Sands business in 2012 of $94 
million, which were comprised of transfer taxes of $37 million, share-based compensation expense of $21 million, and other transaction 
costs and severance of $36 million. This decrease was offset by increases of $36 million in employee costs, professional services, and 
spending related to corporate initiatives during 2013. Also during 2013, the acquired business contributed an incremental $6 million to 
our total selling, general and administrative costs, compared to the same period in 2012.  

Interest and debt expense in 2013 is primarily comprised of interest expense on the Senior Notes of $57 million, the Term Loan of 
$54 million, a term facility (which included a $550 million senior secured term loan and a $150 million senior secured delayed draw) 
(the “Term Facility”) of $6 million and other interest expense of $13 million compared to $21 million on the Senior Notes, $29 million 
on Term Facility and $15 million of other interest expense during 2012.  

During 2013, we completed the liquidation of two non-operating subsidiaries, Tronox (Luxembourg) Holdings S.a.r.l. and Tronox 
Luxembourg S.a.r.l., for which we recognized a net noncash gain from the realization of cumulative translation adjustments of $24 
million. See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Year Ended December 31,  

2013  2012  Change  

(Millions of U.S. dollars) 

Net sales $ 1,922    $ 1,832    $ 90    
Cost of goods sold    1,732       1,568       164    
Gross profit    190       264       (74 ) 
Selling, general and administrative expenses    (187 )     (239 )    52    
Income from operations    3       25       (22 ) 
Interest and debt expense, net    (130 )     (65 )    (65 ) 
Net gain on liquidation of non-operating subsidiaries    24       —       24    
Loss on extinguishment of debt    (4 )     —       (4 ) 
Gain on bargain purchase    —       1,055       (1,055 ) 
Other income (expense), net    46       (7 )    53    
Income (loss) before income taxes    (61 )     1,008       (1,069 ) 
Income tax benefit (provision)    (29 )     125       (154 ) 

Net income (loss) $ (90 )  $ 1,133    $ (1,223 ) 
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During 2013, we recognized a $4 million loss on the early extinguishment of debt related to the allocated portion of the 
unamortized original issue discount and debt issuance costs associated with a term facility.  

The change in other income (expense) is primarily attributable to a gain on foreign currency exchange rates of $39 million in 2013 
compared to a loss of $8 million in 2012 due to a strengthening U.S. dollar as compared to the South African Rand and Australian 
dollar, as well as interest income of $8 million in 2014 compared to $2 million in 2013.  

The negative effective tax rate for 2013 differs from the Australian statutory rate of 30% primarily due to withholding tax accruals, 
valuation allowances in various jurisdictions, and income in foreign jurisdictions taxed at rates different than 30%. The negative 
effective tax rate for 2012 differs from the Australian statutory tax rate of 30% as a result of the release of a valuation allowance in a 
foreign jurisdiction and as a consequence of re-domiciling certain subsidiaries in Australia. Additionally, 2012 was impacted by 
continued valuation allowances in the United States and income in foreign jurisdictions taxed at rates lower than 30%, and the gain on 
bargain purchase which was recorded net of the financial tax impact and is not subject to income tax in any jurisdiction.  

Operations Review of Segment Revenue and Profit  

We operate our business in two reportable segments, Mineral Sands and Pigment. Corporate and Other is comprised of our 
electrolytic operations, all of which are located in the United States, as well as our corporate activities. We evaluate reportable segment 
performance based on segment operating profit (loss), which represents the results of segment operations before unallocated costs, such 
as general corporate expenses not identified to a specific segment, interest expense, other income (expense), and income tax expense or 
benefit. Sales between segments are generally priced at market. Any resulting profit remaining in the inventory of the acquiring 
segment is eliminated in consolidation. See Note 25 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Net Sales  

Net sales by segments were as follows:  

Mineral Sands segment  

Net sales during 2013 increased 45% compared to the same period in 2012 primarily due to the acquired business which 
contributed an incremental $461 million during 2013 versus 2012. Volumes also increased by $177 million. These factors were offset 
by lower selling prices of $291 million. Minerals Sands selling prices declined across most product lines, especially zircon and titanium 
feedstock (which includes a portion sold to our pigments business). Minerals sales volumes were higher most notably for zircon and 
slag fines to external customers. Additionally, during 2013, we experienced increased shipments of titanium feedstock to our pigments 
business, as we achieve full internal sourcing. During 2013, the effect of changes in foreign currency negatively impacted mineral 
sands net sales by $4 million.  

Pigment segment  

Pigment segment net sales decreased 6% during 2013 as compared to 2012 primarily due to a decrease in selling prices and mix of 
$304 million, offset by higher volumes of $220 million. The volume impact reflects increased shipments to the Asia-Pacific, European 
and North American regions. Lower prices in the pigment business primarily resulted from softening market demand in late 2011 and 
early 2012, which accelerated in the latter half of 2012 and into early 2013. Pricing remained relatively constant throughout 2013. 
During 2013, the effect of changes in foreign currency translation positively impacted pigment net sales by $7 million.  

Year Ended December 31,  

2013  2012  Change  

(Millions of U.S. dollars) 

Mineral Sands segment $ 1,103    $ 760    $ 343    
Pigment segment    1,169       1,246       (77 ) 
Corporate and Other    128       128       —    
Eliminations    (478 )    (302 )    (176 ) 

Net Sales $ 1,922    $ 1,832    $ 90    
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Corporate and Other  

Corporate and Other includes our electrolytic and other chemical products business. Net sales remained flat during 2013 as 
compared to 2012, as increased sales of electrolytic manganese dioxide were essentially offset by lower sales of other product lines 
within this business.  

Eliminations  

Eliminations include the impact of transactions between our segments, principally sales from our Mineral Sands business to our 
Pigment business. The elimination in 2013 was significantly higher than 2012 principally due to incremental sales of $188 million from 
the acquired Mineral Sands business. Lower selling prices for synthetic rutile and titanium slag were essentially offset by higher 
volumes of the same products.  

Income from Operations  

Income from operations by segments was as follows:  

Mineral Sands segment  

During 2013, income from operations increased 53% compared to 2012. The acquired businesses contributed an incremental $123 
million to segment income from operations during 2013. The remaining decrease of $41 million during 2013 was primarily attributable 
to a $291 million decrease in selling prices offset by lower costs of $107 million, higher volumes of $95 million, and favorable 
currency translation of $48 million. Cost of goods sold includes a net credit of $32 million in 2013 related to purchase accounting 
adjustments for inventory step-up and unfavorable contract amortization compared to a net noncash charge $137 million in 2012.  

Pigment segment  

During 2013, income from operations decreased more than 100% compared to 2012, which was primarily driven by lower selling 
prices and mix of $303 million, offset partially by lower ore and production costs.  

Corporate and Other  

During 2013, Corporate and Other improved by $69 million compared to prior year. The improvement is attributable to one-time 
costs associated with the acquisition of the Mineral Sands business of $94 million in 2012, which are offset by increases in professional 
services and spending related to corporate initiatives and to a slightly higher loss from operations of the electrolytic and other chemical 
products business during 2013.  

Eliminations  

The net impact from operations in Eliminations reflects the change of the profit in inventory sold from our Mineral Sands business 
that is still held in inventory by our Pigment business at the end of the period. The benefit in 2013 versus 2012 principally reflects the 
lower margins of our Mineral Sands products which reflect lower selling prices.  

Year Ended December 31,  

2013  2012  Change  

(Millions of U.S. dollars) 

Mineral Sands segment $ 238    $ 156    $ 82    
Pigment segment    (179 )     57       (236 ) 
Corporate and Other    (70 )     (139 )    69    
Eliminations    14       (49 )    63    

Income from operations    3       25    $ (22 ) 
Interest and debt expense, net    (130 )     (65 )         
Net gain on liquidation of non-operating subsidiaries    24       —            
Loss on extinguishment of debt    (4 )     —            
Gain on bargain purchase    —       1,055            
Other income (expense)    46       (7 )         

Income (loss) before income taxes $ (61 )  $ 1,008            
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Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Our total liquidity at December 31, 2014 was $1.7 billion, which was comprised of $279 million available under the $300 million 
UBS Revolver (as defined below), $113 million available under the ABSA Revolver (as defined below), and $1.3 billion in cash and 
cash equivalents.  

Historically, we have funded our operations and met our commitments through cash generated by operations. During 2012, we 
issued $900 million Senior Notes at par value. Additionally, during 2013, we obtained a $1.5 billion Term Loan, which matures on 
March 19, 2020.  

In addition to these cash resources, we have a $300 million global senior secured asset-based syndicated revolving credit facility 
with UBS AG (the “UBS Revolver”) with a borrowing base of $279 million at December 31, 2014, and a R1.3 billion (approximately 
$113 million at December 31, 2014) revolving credit facility with ABSA Bank Limited (“ABSA”) acting through its ABSA Capital 
Division (the “ABSA Revolver”). As of December 31, 2014, we had not drawn on either revolver. At December 31, 2014, we had 
outstanding letters of credit, bank guarantees, and performance bonds of $47 million, of which $24 million were letters of credit issued 
under the UBS Revolver, $20 million were bank guarantees issued by ABSA and $3 million were performance bonds issued by 
Westpac Banking Corporation.  

In the near term, we expect that our operations will provide sufficient cash to fund our operating expenses, capital expenditures, 
debt repayments, and dividends. Working capital (calculated as current assets less current liabilities) was $2.0 billion at December 31, 
2014 compared to $2.3 billion at December 31, 2013, a decrease of $275 million, which is primarily due to dividends paid of $116 
million and capital expenditures of $187 million offset by cash provided by operations.  

Principal factors that could affect the availability of our internally-generated funds include (i) the deterioration of our revenues in 
either of our business segments; (ii) an increase in our expenses; or (iii) changes in our working capital requirements.  

Principal factors that could affect our ability to obtain cash from external sources include (i) debt covenants that limit our total 
borrowing capacity; (ii) increasing interest rates applicable to our floating rate debt; (iii) credit rating downgrades, which could limit 
our access to additional debt; (iv) a decrease in the market price of our common stock; or (v) volatility in public debt and equity 
markets.  

As of December 31, 2014, our credit rating with Standard & Poor’s is BB, and our credit rating with Moody’s is Ba3.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

We consider all investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2014, our 
cash and cash equivalents were primarily invested in money market funds. We maintain cash and cash equivalents in bank deposit and 
money market accounts that may exceed federally insured limits. The financial institutions where our cash and cash equivalents are 
held are generally highly rated and geographically dispersed, and we have a policy to limit the amount of credit exposure with any one 
institution. We have not experienced any losses in such accounts and believe we are not exposed to significant credit risk.  

The use of our cash includes servicing our interest and debt repayment obligations, making pension contributions, making 
quarterly dividend payments and funding capital expenditures for innovative initiatives, productivity enhancements and maintenance 
and safety requirements.  

Repatriation of Cash  

At December 31, 2014, we held $1.3 billion in cash and cash equivalents in these respective jurisdictions: $603 million in Europe, 
$428 million in Australia, $153 million in South Africa, and $95 million in the United States. Our credit facilities limit transfers of 
funds from subsidiaries in the United States to certain foreign subsidiaries.  

Tronox Limited has foreign subsidiaries with positive undistributed earnings at December 31, 2014. We have made no provision 
for deferred taxes related to these undistributed earnings because they are considered to be indefinitely reinvested in the foreign 
jurisdictions.  
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Cash Dividends on Class A and Class B Shares  

During 2014, we declared and paid quarterly dividends to holders of our Class A ordinary shares (“Class A Shares”) and Class B 
ordinary shares (“Class B Shares”) as follows:  

On February 24, 2015, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $0.25 per share to holders of our Class A Shares 
and Class B Shares at the close of business on March 9, 2015, totaling $29 million, which will be paid on March 23, 2015.  

Debt Obligations  

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, our net debt (excess debt over cash and cash equivalents) was $1.1 billion and $935 million, 
respectively.  

The following table summarizes our debt obligations at December 31, 2014:  

On April 23, 2014, we, along with our wholly owned subsidiary, Tronox Pigments (Netherlands) B.V., and certain of our 
subsidiaries named as guarantors, entered into a Third Amendment to the Credit and Guaranty Agreement (the “Third Agreement”) 
with the lender parties thereto and Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as administrative agent. The Third Agreement amends the Second 
Amended and Restated Credit and Guaranty Agreement (“Second Agreement”) with Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as administrative 
agent and collateral agent, and Goldman Sachs Bank USA, UBS Securities LLC, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC and RBC Capital 
Markets, as joint lead arrangers, joint bookrunners and co-syndication agents dated March 19, 2013. The Third Agreement provides for 
the re-pricing of the Term Loan by replacing the existing definition of “Applicable Margin” with a grid pricing matrix dependent upon 
our public corporate family rating as determined by Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s (with the interest rate under the Third Agreement 
remaining subject to Eurodollar Rate and Base Rate floors, as defined in the Third Agreement). Pursuant to the Third Agreement, based 
upon our current public corporate family rating by Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s, the current interest rate per annum is 300 basis 
points plus London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) (subject to a LIBOR floor of 1% per annum) compared to 350 basis points plus 
LIBOR (subject to a LIBOR floor of 1% per annum) in the Second Agreement. The Third Agreement also amended certain provisions 
of the Second Agreement to permit us and certain of our subsidiaries to obtain new cash flow revolving credit facilities in place of our 
existing asset based revolving credit facility. The maturity date under the Second Agreement and all other material terms of the Second 
Agreement remain the same under the Third Agreement.  

The Third Agreement resulted in a modification for certain lenders and an extinguishment for other lenders. Accordingly, we 
recognized an $8 million charge during 2014 for the early extinguishment of debt resulting from the write-off of deferred debt issuance 
costs and discount on debt associated with the Second Agreement. We also paid $2 million of new debt issuance costs related to the 
Third Agreement during 2014.  

Q1 2014  Q2 2014  Q3 2014  Q4 2014  

(Millions of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data) 

Dividend per share $     0.25      $     0.25    $     0.25    $     0.25    

Total dividend $       29    $        29    $        29    $        30    
Record date (close of business) March 10 May 19 August 18 November 17 

Original  
Principal  

Annual  
Interest Rate  

Maturity  
Date  

December 31,  
2014  

December 31,  
2013  

(Millions of U.S. dollars) 

Term Loan, net of unamortized discount (1) $  1,500    Variable    3/19/2020    $  1,468    $  1,482    
Senior Notes $  900    6.375%    8/15/2020       900       900    
Co-generation Unit Financing Arrangement $  16    6.5%    2/1/2016       3       6    
Capital leases                    22       25    

Total debt                    2,393       2,413    
Less: Long-term debt due within one year                    (18 )     (18 )  

Long-term debt                 $  2,375    $  2,395    

(1) Average effective interest rate of 4.6% and 5% during 2014 and 2013, respectively. 
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Debt Covenants  

At December 31, 2014, we had financial covenants in the UBS Revolver, the ABSA Revolver and the Term Loan; however, only 
the ABSA Revolver had a financial maintenance covenant that applies to local operations and only when the ABSA Revolver is drawn 
upon. The Term Loan and the UBS Revolver are subject to an intercreditor agreement pursuant to which the lenders’ respective rights 
and interests in the security are set forth. We were in compliance with all our financial covenants as of and for the year ended 
December 31, 2014.  

Cash Flows  

Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013  

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013:  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities — Cash provided by operating activities decreased $189 million in 2014 compared to 2013. 
The decrease was primarily attributable to a net increase in inventory of $101 million and a contribution to employee pension and 
postretirement plans of $18 million.  

Cash Flows from Investing Activities — The use of funds in both years is primarily attributable to capital expenditure purchases. 
Capital expenditures during 2014 and 2013 were $187 million and $165 million, respectively. Capital expenditures for 2015 are 
expected to be approximately $250 million.  

Cash Flows from Financing Activities — Net cash used in financing activities during 2014 was primarily attributable to dividends 
paid of $116 million and $20 million of principal repayments on long-term debt. Net cash provided by financing activities during 2013 
was primarily attributable to cash proceeds from borrowings, slightly offset by cash used in the repayment of debt, dividends paid, and 
payment of debt issuance costs. During 2013, we paid dividends of $115 million. Additionally, we refinanced our Senior Secure Term 
Facility with the Term Loan resulting in cash inflows of $945 million, which was offset by $189 million of principal repayments of 
debt and debt issuance costs of $29 million.  

Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012  

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012:  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities — Cash provided by operating activities increased $206 million in 2013 compared to 2012. 
The increase was primarily attributable to a decrease in inventory, offset by cash used in operations.  

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  

(Millions of U.S. dollars) 

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 141    $ 330    
Net cash used in investing activities    (187 )    (164 ) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    (132 )    614    
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    (21 )    (18 ) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ (199 ) $ 762    

Cash and cash equivalents — end of year $ 1,279    $ 1,478    

Year Ended December 31,  

2013  2012  

(Millions of U.S. dollars) 

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 330    $ 124    
Net cash used in investing activities    (164 )    (52 ) 
Net cash provided by financing activities    614       490    
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    (18 )    —    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 762    $ 562    

Cash and cash equivalents — end of year $ 1,478    $ 716    
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Cash Flows from Investing Activities — The use of funds for all periods presented is primarily attributable to capital expenditure 
purchases. Capital expenditures during 2013 and 2012 were $165 million and $166 million, respectively.  

Cash Flows from Financing Activities — Net cash provided by financing activities during 2013 was primarily attributable to cash 
proceeds from borrowings, slightly offset by cash used in the repayment of debt, payment of debt issuance costs, and dividends paid. 
During 2013, we refinanced our Senior Secure Term Facility with the Term Loan resulting in cash inflows of $945 million, which was 
offset by a $149 million repayment of the Senior Secured Delayed Draw Term Loan, a $29 million repayment of the ABSA Revolver, 
$8 million of principal repayments on the Term Loan, and repayments of other debt of $3 million. Additionally, during 2013 we paid 
dividends of $115 million and debt issuance costs of $29 million. During 2012, cash used included merger consideration paid of $193 
million and Class A share repurchases of $326 million.  

Contractual Obligations  

The following table sets forth information relating to our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2014:  

Non-U.S. GAAP Financial Measures  

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, which are used by management to measure performance, are not presented in accordance with 
U.S. GAAP. Management believes that EBITDA is useful to investors, as it is commonly used in the industry as a means of evaluating 
operating performance. We do not intend for these non-U.S GAAP financial measures to be a substitute for any U.S. GAAP financial 
information. Readers of these statements should use these non-U.S. GAAP financial measures only in conjunction with the comparable 
U.S. GAAP financial measures. Since other companies may calculate EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do, EBITDA 
and Adjusted EBITDA, as presented herein, may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies.  

Management believes these non-U.S. GAAP financial measures:  

Contractual Obligation  
Payments Due by Year (3)(4)  

Total  
Less than  

1 year  
1-3  

years  
3-5  

years  
More than  

5 years  

(Millions of U.S. dollars) 

Long-term debt and lease financing (including interest) (1) $ 3,060    $ 138    $ 270    $ 267    $ 2,385    
Purchase obligations (2)    837       225       183       123       306    
Operating leases    80       19       31       9       21    
Asset retirement obligations    90       5       8       5       72    

Total $ 4,067    $ 387    $ 492    $ 404    $ 2,784    

(1) We calculated the Term Loan interest at a base rate of 1% plus a margin of 3%. See Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

(2) Includes obligations to purchase requirements of process chemicals, supplies, utilities and services. We have various purchase commitments for materials, supplies, and 
services entered into in the ordinary course of business. Included in the purchase commitments table above are contracts which require minimum volume purchases that 
extend beyond one year or are renewable annually and have been renewed for 2015. Certain contracts allow for changes in minimum required purchase volumes in the 
event of a temporary or permanent shutdown of a facility. We believe that all of our purchase obligations will be utilized in our normal operations. 

(3) The table above excludes contingent obligations, as well as any possible payments for uncertain tax positions and payments pursuant to our tax receivable agreement, 
given the inability to estimate the possible amounts and timing of any such payments. 

(4) The table above excludes commitments pertaining to our pension and other postretirement obligations. 

• Reflect our ongoing business in a manner that allows for meaningful period-to-period comparison and analysis of trends in 
our business, as they exclude income and expense that are not reflective of ongoing operating results; 

• Provide useful information in understanding and evaluating our operating results and comparing financial results across 
periods; 

• Provide a normalized view of our operating performance by excluding items that are either noncash or unusual in nature; 

53  



TABLE OF CONTENTS  

The following table reconciles net income (loss) to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the periods presented:  

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and 
assumptions regarding matters that are inherently uncertain and that ultimately affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The estimates and assumptions are based on 
management’s experience and understanding of current facts and circumstances. These estimates may differ from actual results. Certain 
of our accounting policies are considered critical as they are both important to reflect our financial position and results of operations 
and require significant or complex judgment on the part of management. The following is a summary of certain accounting policies 
considered critical by management.  

Inventory  

Pigment inventories are stated at the lower of actual cost or market, net of allowances for obsolete and slow-moving inventory. 
The cost of finished goods inventories is determined using the first-in, first-out method.  

• Assist investors in assessing our compliance with financial covenants under our debt instruments; and 

• Adjusted EBITDA is one of the primary measures management uses for planning and budgeting processes, and to monitor 
and evaluate financial and operating results. In addition, Adjusted EBITDA is a factor in evaluating management’s 
performance when determining incentive compensation. 

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  2012  

(Millions of U.S. dollars) 

Net income (loss) $ (417 ) $ (90 ) $ 1,133    
Interest and debt expense, net    133       130       65    
Interest income    (13 )    (8 )    (2 ) 
Income tax provision (benefit)    268       29       (125 ) 
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense    295       333       211    

EBITDA    266       394       1,282    
Share-based compensation (see Note 22)    22       17       32    
Restructuring expense (see Note 4)    15       —       —    
Net (gain) loss on liquidation of non-operating subsidiaries (see Note 5)    35       (24 )    —    
Loss on extinguishment of debt (see Note 16)    8       4       —    
Pension and postretirement benefit curtailment gains (see Note 23)    (9 )    —       —    
Amortization of inventory step-up and unfavorable ore sales contracts 

liability (1)    —       (32 )    152    
Gain on bargain purchase (see Note 26)    —       —       (1,055 ) 
Transaction and financial statement restatement costs (2)    —       —       73    
Foreign currency remeasurement    (4 )    (20 )    6    
Other items (3)    20       23       13    

Adjusted EBITDA $ 353    $ 362    $ 503    

(1) In connection with the Transaction, we acquired sales contracts at unfavorable market terms, which were valued at $85 million on the June 15, 2012, the date of the 
transaction, and were amortized over the remaining life of the contract. Additionally, in connection with the Transaction, we stepped up certain inventory acquired, which 
was amortized over the life of such inventory. 

(2) During 2012, transaction costs consist of costs associated with the acquisition of the mineral sands business, including banker fees, legal and professional fees, as well as 
costs associated with the preparation and amending of the registration statement on Form S-4 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the 
Transaction and costs associated with the integration of the mineral sands business that occurred after the closing of the Transaction. 

(3) Includes noncash pension and postretirement costs, accretion expense, severance expense, gain (loss) on the sale of assets, and other items. 
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Carrying values include material costs, labor, and associated indirect manufacturing expenses. Costs for materials and supplies, 
excluding ore, are determined by average cost to acquire. Raw materials are carried at actual cost. Mineral Sands inventories are stated 
at the lower of the weighted-average cost of production or market. We periodically review the cost of our inventory in comparison to its 
net realizable value. We also periodically review our inventory for obsolescence (inventory that is no longer marketable for its intended 
use). In either case, we record any write-down equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and its estimated net realizable 
value based on assumptions about alternative uses, market conditions and other factors. Inventories expected to be sold or consumed 
within twelve months after the balance sheet date are classified as current assets and all other inventories are classified as non-current 
assets.  

Long-Lived Assets  

Key estimates related to long-lived assets (property, plant and equipment, mineral leaseholds, and intangible assets) include useful 
lives, recoverability of carrying values, and the existence of any retirement obligations. As a result of future decisions, such estimates 
could be significantly modified. The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment range from three to forty years, and 
depreciation is recognized on a straight-line basis. Useful lives are estimated based upon our historical experience, engineering 
estimates, and industry information. These estimates include an assumption regarding periodic maintenance and an appropriate level of 
annual capital expenditures to maintain the assets. Mineral leaseholds are depreciated over their useful lives as determined under the 
units of production method. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives. The amortization methods and remaining useful lives are reviewed quarterly.  

We evaluate the recoverability of the carrying value of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value may not be recoverable. Under such circumstances, we assess whether the projected undiscounted cash flows of our 
long-lived assets are sufficient to recover the existing unamortized cost of our long-lived assets. If the undiscounted projected cash 
flows are not sufficient, we calculate the impairment amount by discounting the projected cash flows using our weighted-average cost 
of capital. The amount of the impairment is written off against earnings in the period in which the impairment is determined.  

Asset Retirement Obligations  

To the extent a legal obligation exists, an asset retirement obligation (“ARO”) is recorded at its estimated fair value and accretion 
expense is recognized over time as the discounted liability is accreted to its expected settlement value. Fair value is measured using 
expected future cash outflows discounted at our credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate. No market-risk premium has been included in our 
calculation of ARO balances since we can make no reliable estimate. Our consolidated financial statements classify accretion expense 
related to asset retirement obligations as a production cost, which is included in “Cost of goods sold” in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations.  

We used the following assumptions in determining asset retirement obligations at December 31, 2014: inflation rates between 
2.5%-6.8% per year; credit adjusted risk-free interest rates between 3.2%-15.4%; and the life of mines between 2-36 years.  

Income Taxes  

We have operations in several countries around the world and are subject to income and similar taxes in these countries. The 
estimation of the amounts of income tax involves the interpretation of complex tax laws and regulations and how foreign taxes affect 
domestic taxes, as well as the analysis of the realizability of deferred tax assets, tax audit findings and uncertain tax positions. Although 
we believe our tax accruals are adequate, differences may occur in the future, depending on the resolution of pending and new tax 
matters.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of 
assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are 
expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is provided against a deferred tax asset when it is more likely than not that 
all or some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. We periodically assess the likelihood that we will be able to recover 
our deferred tax  
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assets, and reflect any changes in our estimates in the valuation allowance, with a corresponding adjustment to earnings or other 
comprehensive income (loss) as appropriate. Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740, Income Taxes , requires that all 
available positive and negative evidence be weighted to determine whether a valuation allowance should be recorded.  

The amount of income taxes we pay are subject to ongoing audits by federal, state and foreign tax authorities, which may result in 
proposed assessments. Our estimate for the potential outcome for any uncertain tax issue is highly judgmental. We assess our income 
tax positions, and record tax benefits for all years subject to examination based upon our evaluation of the facts, circumstances and 
information available at the reporting date. For those tax positions for which it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will be 
sustained, we record the amount that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon settlement with a taxing authority that 
has full knowledge of all relevant information. Interest and penalties are accrued as part of tax expense, where applicable. If we do not 
believe that it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit is recognized.  

Pension and Postretirement Benefits  

We provide pension and postretirement healthcare benefits for qualifying employees worldwide. These plans are accounted for 
and disclosed in accordance with ASC 715 , Compensation — Retirement Benefits .  

During 2014, our benefits committee, in response to tax and pension legislation changes, approved changes to The Netherlands 
pension plan which includes moving the plan from a defined benefit plan to a multi-employer plan to be administered by the 
industrywide Pension Fund for the Graphical Industry, effective January 1, 2015. This action eliminates the future benefit accrual for 
participants under the current plan effective January 1, 2015, and resulted in a curtailment gain of $3 million which was recognized in 
“Other income (expense), net” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Additionally, during 2014, our benefits committee 
approved changes to the unfunded U.S. postretirement healthcare plan which eliminated the pre-65 retiree medical coverage effective 
January 1, 2015. Retired participants will receive a one-time subsidy aggregating less than $1 million towards medical cost through a 
health reimbursement arrangement (“HRA”) that we will be establishing for them. As a result of this action, we recorded a curtailment 
gain of $6 million, which was included in “Other income (expense), net” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. See Note 23 of 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

U.S. Plans  

The following are considered significant assumptions related to our retirement and postretirement healthcare plans, with a brief 
description of the methodology used by management to develop the significant assumptions included below:  

Discount Rate — The discount rates selected for both U.S. plans to determine 2014 and 2013 net periodic cost were 4.50% and 
3.75%, respectively. The discount rates selected for estimating the actuarial present value of the benefit obligations of both U.S. plans 
were 3.75% and 4.50% as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. These 2014 and 2013 valuation rates were selected based on 
the results of a cash flow matching analysis, which projected the expected cash flows of the plans using a yield curves model developed 
from a universe of Aa-graded U.S. currency corporate bonds (obtained from Bloomberg) with at least $50 million outstanding. Bonds 
with features that imply unreliable pricing, a less than certain cash flow, or other indicators of optionality are filtered out of the 
universe. The remaining universe is categorized into maturity groups, and within each of the maturity groups yields are ranked into 
percentiles.  

Expected Return on Plan Assets —In forming the assumption of the U.S. long-term rate of return on plan assets, we took into 
account the expected earnings on funds already invested, earnings on contributions expected to be received in the current year, and 
earnings on reinvested returns. The long-term rate of return estimation methodology for U.S. plans is based on a capital asset pricing 
model using historical data and a forecasted earnings model. An expected return on plan assets analysis is performed which 
incorporates the current portfolio allocation, historical asset-class returns and an assessment of expected future performance using 
asset-class risk factors.  

Foreign Benefit Plans  

We currently provide a defined benefit retirement plan (funded) for qualifying employees in The Netherlands. The various 
assumptions used and the attribution of the costs to periods of employee service are fundamental to the measurement of net periodic 
cost and pension obligations associated with the retirement plans. The following are considered significant assumptions related to our 
Netherlands retirement plan:  
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Discount Rate — The discount rates selected for The Netherlands plan to determine both 2014 and 2013 net periodic cost was 
3.5%. The discount rates selected for estimating the actuarial present value of the benefit obligation of The Netherlands plan was 2.25% 
and 3.5% at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, which is based on long-term Euro corporate bond index rates that correlate 
with anticipated cash flows associated with future benefit payments.  

Expected Long-term Rate of Return — The expected long-term rate of return assumptions for The Netherlands plan of 4.75% at 
both December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, was developed considering the portfolio mix and country-specific economic data that 
includes the expected long-term rates of return on local government and corporate bonds.  

Rate of Compensation Increases — We determine our rate of compensation assumptions based on our long-term plans for 
compensation increases specific to employee groups covered. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the rate of compensation increases for 
The Netherlands plan was 3.25% and 3.5%, respectively.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for recently issued accounting pronouncements.  

Environmental Matters  

We are subject to a broad array of international, federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to safety, pollution, 
protection of the environment, and the generation, storage, handling, transportation, treatment, disposal, and remediation of hazardous 
substances and waste materials. In the ordinary course of business, we are subject to frequent environmental inspections and 
monitoring, and occasional investigations by governmental enforcement authorities. Under these laws, we are or may be required to 
obtain or maintain permits or licenses in connection with our operations. In addition, under these laws, we are or may be required to 
remove or mitigate the effects on the environment of the disposal or release of chemical, petroleum, low-level radioactive and other 
substances at our facilities. We may incur future costs for capital improvements and general compliance under environmental, health, 
and safety laws, including costs to acquire, maintain, and repair pollution control equipment. Environmental laws and regulations are 
becoming increasingly stringent, and compliance costs are significant and will continue to be significant in the foreseeable future. There 
can be no assurance that such laws and regulations or any environmental law or regulation enacted in the future is not likely to have a 
material effect on our business. We believe we are in compliance with applicable environmental rules and regulations in all material 
respects.  

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk  

We are exposed to various market, credit, operational, and liquidity risks in the normal course of business, which are discussed 
below. We manage these risks through normal operating and financing activities and, when appropriate, through the use of derivative 
instruments. We do not invest in derivative instruments for speculative purposes, but historically have entered into, and may enter into, 
derivative instruments for hedging purposes in order to reduce the exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, natural gas prices and 
exchange rates.  

Market Risk  

A substantial portion of our products and raw materials are commodities that reprice as market supply and demand fundamentals 
change. Accordingly, product margins and the level of our profitability tend to vary with changes in the business cycle, and may do so 
in the near term as ore prices and pigment prices are expected to fluctuate over the next few years. We try to protect against such 
instability through various business strategies. These include provisions in sales contracts allowing us to pass on higher raw material 
costs through timely price increases and formula price contracts to transfer or share commodity price risk.  

Credit Risk  

Credit risk is the risk that a borrower or a counterparty will fail to meet their obligations. A significant portion of our liquidity is 
concentrated in trade accounts receivable that arise from sales of TiO 2 and titanium feedstock to customers in the TiO 2 industry. The 
industry concentration has the potential to impact our overall exposure to credit risk, either positively or negatively, in that our 
customers may be similarly affected by changes  
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in economic, industry or other conditions. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and use credit risk insurance 
policies from time to time, as deemed appropriate, to mitigate credit risk but generally do not require collateral. In addition, due to our 
international operations, we are subject to potential trade restrictions and sovereign risk in certain countries we operate in. We maintain 
allowances for potential credit losses based on specific customer review and current financial conditions. During 2014, our ten largest 
pigment customers and ten largest third-party mineral sands customers represented approximately 27% and 13%, respectively, of net 
sales; however, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of total net sales.  

Interest Rate Risk  

Interest rate risk arises from the probability that changes in interest rates will impact our financial results. Our exposure to interest 
rate risk is minimized by the fact that our $1.5 billion of floating rate debt includes a LIBOR floor of 1%. As such, LIBOR would need 
to increase from the rate in effect at December 31, 2014 to greater than 1% before our borrowing rate would increase. Using a 
sensitivity analysis as of December 31, 2014, a hypothetical 1% increase in interest rates would result in an increase to pre-tax income 
of approximately $9 million on an annualized basis. This is due to the fact that earnings on our floating rate financial assets of $1.3 
billion at December 31, 2014 would increase by the full 1% while the interest expense on our floating rate debt would increase by less 
than the full 1%.  

Currency Risk  

Currency risk arises from the possibility that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates will impact the value of our assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, as well as our earnings due to the translation of our balance sheets and remeasurement of 
our statements of operations from local currencies to U.S. dollars. We manufacture and market our products in a number of countries 
throughout the world and, as a result, are exposed to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly in Australia, South Africa, 
and The Netherlands. The exposure is more prevalent in South Africa and Australia as the majority of revenues are earned in U.S. 
dollars while expenses are primarily incurred in local currencies. The foreign exchange risk in Europe however, is partially mitigated as 
the majority of revenues and expenses are in the same local currency creating a partially natural hedge. Since we are exposed to 
movements in the South African Rand and the Australian Dollar versus the U.S. dollar, we have, from time to time, entered into 
forward contracts to buy and sell foreign currencies as “economic hedges” for these foreign currency transactions. See Note 18 of Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINAN CIAL REPORTING  

Management of Tronox Limited and its subsidiaries is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over 
financial reporting. Internal controls over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of our principal executive and 
principal financial officers to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the 
Company’s financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

Our internal controls over financial reporting include those policies and procedures that:  

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014. In making this 
assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO) in the 2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Based on management’s assessment and those criteria, management 
concluded that the Company did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014. See Item 9A 
included elsewhere in this annual report for further details.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal controls over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

Our independent registered public accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, audited our internal controls over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2014 as stated in their report which appears under “Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting 
Firm.”  

• pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions 
of the assets of the Company; 

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of the Company’s management and directors; and 

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Tronox Limited  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2014 and the related consolidated statements of 
operations, of comprehensive income (loss), of changes in shareholders’ equity, and of cash flows for the year then ended present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Tronox Limited and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2014 and the results of their 
operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. Also in our opinion, the Company did not maintain, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2014 based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) because three material weaknesses in internal control 
over financial reporting existed as of that date related to: (a) the controls over the information and communication related to the South 
African operations were improperly designed and not effective, as information required to execute control activities to completely and 
accurately record and disclose transactions was not communicated timely to the individuals responsible for executing control activities, 
which led to (b) the controls over the calculation for accrued royalty expense relating to the mining operations in Namakwa, South 
Africa were improperly designed and not effective, and (c) the controls over restricted access and segregation of duties within the SAP 
systems were improperly designed and not effective, as certain personnel have inappropriate access to execute conflicting transactions, 
as well as the ability to prepare and post journal entries without an independent review required by someone other than the preparer. A 
material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a 
timely basis. The material weaknesses referred to above are described in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. We considered these material weaknesses in determining the nature, timing, and extent 
of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2014 consolidated financial statements, and our opinion regarding the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting does not affect our opinion on those consolidated financial statements. The 
Company's management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting 
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in management's report referred to 
above. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial 
reporting based on our integrated audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects. Our audit of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included 
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing 
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing 
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinions.  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect 
on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP     
Stamford, Connecticut  
February 25, 2015  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

Board of Directors and Shareholders  
Tronox Limited  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Tronox Limited and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 
2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), cash flows, and changes in shareholders’ 
equity for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2013. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Tronox Limited and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the two 
years in the period ended December 31, 2013, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP  

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma  
February 27, 2014 (except for the adjustments to the statements of cash flows described in Note 1 under the caption of Basis of 
Presentation , and for the revisions to the guarantor condensed consolidating financial statements described in Note 27, which are as of 
February 25, 2015)  
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TRONOX LIMITED  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

(Millions of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)  

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  2012  

Net sales $ 1,737    $ 1,922    $ 1,832    
Cost of goods sold    1,530       1,732       1,568    
Gross profit    207       190       264    
Selling, general and administrative expenses    (192 )    (187 )    (239 ) 
Restructuring expense    (15 )    —       —    
Income from operations    —       3       25    
Interest and debt expense, net    (133 )    (130 )    (65 ) 
Net gain (loss) on liquidation of non-operating subsidiaries    (35 )    24       —    
Loss on extinguishment of debt    (8 )    (4 )    —    
Gain on bargain purchase    —       —       1,055    
Other income (expense), net    27       46       (7 ) 
Income (loss) before income taxes    (149 )    (61 )    1,008    
Income tax benefit (provision)    (268 )    (29 )    125    
Net income (loss)    (417 )    (90 )    1,133    
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest    10       36       (1 ) 

Net income (loss) attributable to Tronox Limited $ (427 ) $ (126 ) $ 1,134    
Earnings (loss) per share (1):                          

Basic $ (3.74 ) $ (1.11 ) $ 11.37    

Diluted $ (3.74 ) $ (1.11 ) $ 11.10    
Weighted average shares outstanding (in thousands):                          
Basic    114,281       113,416       98,985    
Diluted    114,281       113,416       101,406    

(1) On June 26, 2012, the Board of Directors of Tronox Limited approved a 5-to-1 share split for holders of Class A ordinary shares and Class B ordinary shares at the close 
of business on July 20, 2012, by issuance of four additional shares for each share of the same class by way of bonus issue. All references to number of shares and per 
share data in the consolidated financial statements have been adjusted to reflect the share split, unless otherwise noted. See Note 20. 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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TRONOX LIMITED  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)  

(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  2012  

Net income (loss) $  (417 )  $  (90 )  $  1,133    
Other comprehensive income (loss):                          

Foreign currency translation adjustments    (95 )     (289 )     11    
Pension and postretirement plans:                          

Actuarial gains (losses), with no tax impact in 2014 and net of taxes of $1 million in 2013 
and $7 million in 2012    (83 )     25       (48 )  

Amortization of unrecognized actuarial losses, with no tax impact in 2014 and net of taxes 
of less than $1 million in 2013    1       2       —    

Prior service credit, with no tax impact in 2014 and net of taxes of $1 million in 2013    (3 )     3       —    
Pension and postretirement benefit curtailments, with no tax impact in 2014    37       —       —    

Other comprehensive loss    (143 )     (259 )     (37 )  
Total comprehensive income (loss) $  (560 )  $  (349 )  $  1,096    
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest:                          

Net income (loss)    10       36       (1 )  
Foreign currency translation adjustments    (31 )     (70 )     1    

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest    (21 )     (34 )     —    

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Tronox Limited $  (539 )  $  (315 )  $  1,096    

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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TRONOX LIMITED  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(Millions of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)  

December 31,  

2014  2013  

ASSETS                  
Current Assets                  

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,279    $ 1,478    
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts    277       308    
Inventories, net    770       759    
Prepaid and other assets    42       61    
Deferred tax assets    13       47    

Total current assets    2,381       2,653    
Noncurrent Assets                  

Property, plant and equipment, net    1,227       1,258    
Mineral leaseholds, net    1,058       1,216    
Intangible assets, net    272       300    
Inventories, net    57       —    
Long-term deferred tax assets    9       192    
Other long-term assets    61       80    

Total assets $ 5,065    $ 5,699    
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY                  
Current Liabilities                  

Accounts payable $ 160    $ 164    
Accrued liabilities    147       146    
Long-term debt due within one year    18       18    
Income taxes payable    32       28    
Deferred tax liabilities    9       7    

Total current liabilities    366       363    
Noncurrent Liabilities                  

Long-term debt    2,375       2,395    
Pension and postretirement healthcare benefits    172       148    
Asset retirement obligations    85       90    
Long-term deferred tax liabilities    204       204    
Other long-term liabilities    75       62    

Total liabilities    3,277       3,262    
Contingencies and Commitments                  
Shareholders’ Equity                  
Tronox Limited Class A ordinary shares, par value $0.01 — 65,152,145 shares issued and 63,968,616 

shares outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 64,046,647 shares issued and 62,349,618 shares 
outstanding at December 31, 2013    1       1    

Tronox Limited Class B ordinary shares, par value $0.01 — 51,154,280 shares issued and outstanding at 
December 31, 2014 and 2013    —       —    

Capital in excess of par value    1,476       1,448    
Retained earnings    529       1,073    
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (396 )    (284 ) 

Total shareholders’ equity    1,610       2,238    
Noncontrolling interest    178       199    

Total equity    1,788       2,437    

Total liabilities and equity $ 5,065    $ 5,699    

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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TRONOX LIMITED  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  2012  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:                          
Net income (loss) $ (417 )  $ (90 )  $ 1,133    
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:                          

Depreciation, depletion and amortization    295       333       211    
Deferred income taxes    237       33       (162 ) 
Share-based compensation expense    22       17       32    
Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs and discount on debt    10       9       10    
Pension and postretirement healthcare benefit (income) expense    (3 )     9       6    
Net (gain) loss on liquidation of non-operating subsidiaries    35       (24 )     —    
Loss on extinguishment of debt    8       4       —    
Amortization of fair value inventory step-up and unfavorable ore contracts liability    —       (32 )     152    
Gain on bargain purchase    —       —       (1,055 ) 
Other noncash items affecting net income (loss)    3       (15 )     48    

Contributions to employee pension and postretirement plans    (18 )     (6 )     (31 ) 
Changes in assets and liabilities:                          

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable    23       58       88    
(Increase) decrease in inventories    (101 )     75       (220 ) 
(Increase) decrease in prepaid and other assets    9       (15 )     10    
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities    22       (16 )     (113 ) 
Increase (decrease) in taxes payable    20       (25 )     9    
Other, net    (4 )     15       6    
Cash provided by operating activities    141       330       124    

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:                          
Capital expenditures    (187 )     (165 )     (166 ) 
Proceeds from the sale of assets    —       1       —    
Net cash received in acquisition of minerals sands business    —       —       114    
Cash used in investing activities    (187 )     (164 )     (52 ) 
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:                          
Repayments of debt    (20 )     (189 )     (585 ) 
Proceeds from debt    —       945       1,707    
Debt issuance costs    (2 )     (29 )     (38 ) 
Dividends paid    (116 )     (115 )     (61 ) 
Proceeds from the exercise of warrants and options    6       2       1    
Merger consideration    —       —       (193 ) 
Class A ordinary share repurchases    —       —       (326 ) 
Class A ordinary shares purchased for the Employee Participation Plan    —       —       (15 ) 
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities    (132 )     614       490    
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    (21 )     (18 )     —    
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents    (199 )     762       562    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    1,478       716       154    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 1,279    $ 1,478    $ 716    
Supplemental cash flow information:                          

Interest paid $ 126    $ 123    $ 34    

Income taxes paid $ 3    $ 25    $ 26    

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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TRONOX LIMITED  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY  

(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

Tronox  
Limited  
Class A  

Ordinary 
 

Shares  

Tronox  
Limited  
Class B  

Ordinary 
 

Shares  

Capital 
in  

Excess 
of  

par 
Value  

Retained 
 

Earnings  

Accumulated  
Other  

Comprehensive 
 

Loss  

Treasury 
 

Shares  

Total  
Shareholders’ 

 
Equity  

Non-  
controlling 

 
Interest  

Total  
Equity  

Balance at January 1, 2012  $   —    $  —    $ 579   $  242    $  (57 )  $  (12 )  $  752    $  —    $ 752   
Fair value of noncontrolling 

interest on Transaction Date    —       —       —      —       —       —       —       233       233   
Net income (loss)    —       —       —      1,134       —       —       1,134       (1 )     1,133   
Other comprehensive income 
(loss)    —       —       —      —       (38 )     —       (38 )     1       (37 ) 
Merger consideration paid    —       —       (193 )    —       —       —       (193 )     —       (193 ) 
Issuance of Tronox Limited shares    —       —       1,370      —       —       —       1,370       —       1,370   
Shares-based compensation    —       —       5      —       —       —       5       —       5   
Shares purchased for the 

Employee Participation Plan    —       —       (15 )    —       —       —       (15 )     —       (15 ) 
Issuance of Tronox Limited shares 

in share-split    1       —       —      (1 )     —       —       —       —       —   
Class A and Class B share 
dividends    —       —       —      (61 )     —       —       (61 )     —       (61 ) 
Tronox Limited Class A shares 

repurchased    —       —       (326 )    —       —       —       (326 )     —       (326 ) 
Warrants exercised    —       —       1      —       —       —       1       —       1   
Tronox Incorporated share-based 

compensation    —       —       27      —       —       (7 )     20       —       20   
Tronox Incorporated common 

shares vested/canceled    —       —       (19 )    —       —       19       —       —       —   
Balance at December 31, 2012  $  1    $  —    $ 1,429   $  1,314    $  (95 )  $  —    $  2,649    $  233    $ 2,882   
Net income (loss)    —       —       —      (126 )     —       —       (126 )     36       (90 ) 
Other comprehensive loss    —       —       —      —       (189 )     —       (189 )     (70 )     (259 ) 
Shares-based compensation    —       —       17      —       —       —       17       —       17   
Class A and Class B share 
dividends    —       —       —      (115 )     —       —       (115 )     —       (115 ) 
Warrants and options exercised    —       —       2      —       —       —       2       —       2   
Balance at December 31, 2013  $  1    $  —    $ 1,448   $  1,073    $  (284 )  $  —    $  2,238    $  199    $ 2,437   
Net income (loss)    —       —       —      (427 )     —       —       (427 )     10       (417 ) 
Other comprehensive income 
(loss)    —       —       —      —       (112 )     —       (112 )     (31 )     (143 ) 
Shares-based compensation    —       —       22      —       —       —       22       —       22   
Class A and Class B share 
dividends    —       —       —      (117 )     —       —       (117 )     —       (117 ) 
Warrants and options exercised    —       —       6      —       —       —       6       —       6   

Balance at December 31, 2014  $  1    $   —    $ 1,476   $  529    $  (396 )  $  —    $  1,610    $  178    $ 1,788   

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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TRONOX LIMITED  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

(Millions of U.S. dollars, except share, per share and metric tons data or unless otherwise noted)  

1. The Company  

Tronox Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Tronox,” “we,” “us,” or “our”) is a public limited company 
registered under the laws of the State of Western Australia. We are a global leader in the production and marketing of titanium bearing 
mineral sands and titanium dioxide (“TiO 2 ”) pigment. Our TiO 2 products are critical components of everyday applications such as 
paint and other coatings, plastics, paper and other applications. Our mineral sands business consists primarily of three product 
streams—titanium feedstock, zircon and pig iron. Titanium feedstock is primarily used to manufacture TiO 2 . Zircon, a hard, glossy 
mineral, is used for the manufacture of ceramics, refractories, TV screen glass and a range of other industrial and chemical products. 
Pig iron is a metal material used in the steel and metal casting industries to create wrought iron, cast iron and steel. We have global 
operations in North America, Europe, South Africa, and the Asia-Pacific region. We operate three TiO 2 facilities at the following 
locations: Hamilton, Mississippi; Botlek, The Netherlands; and Kwinana, Western Australia, and we operate three separate mining 
operations: KwaZulu-Natal (“KZN”) Sands and Namakwa Sands both located in South Africa, and Cooljarloo located in Western 
Australia.  

Tronox Limited was formed on September 21, 2011 for the purpose of the Transaction (defined below). Prior to the completion of 
the Transaction, Tronox Limited was wholly owned by Tronox Incorporated, a Delaware corporation formed on May 17, 2005 
(“Tronox Incorporated”), and had no operating assets or operations. On June 15, 2012, (the “Transaction Date”), the existing business 
of Tronox Incorporated was combined with 74% of Exxaro Resources Ltd’s (“Exxaro”) South African mineral sands operations, 
including its Namakwa and KZN Sands mines, separation and slag furnaces, along with its 50% share of the Tiwest Joint Venture in 
Western Australia (together the “mineral sands business”) (the “Transaction”). See Note 26.  

At both December 31, 2014 and 2013, Exxaro held approximately 44% of the voting securities of Tronox Limited. Under the 
terms of the Shareholder’s Deed entered into upon completion of the Transaction, Exxaro agreed that for a three-year period after the 
completion of the Transaction (the “Standstill Period”), it would not engage in any transaction or other action that would result in its 
beneficial ownership of the voting shares of Tronox Limited exceeding 45% of the total issued shares of Tronox Limited. In addition, 
except under certain circumstances, Exxaro agreed not to sell, pledge or otherwise transfer any such voting shares during the Standstill 
Period. After the Standstill Period, Exxaro has agreed not to acquire any voting shares of Tronox Limited if, following such acquisition, 
Exxaro will have a voting interest in Tronox Limited of 50% or more unless Exxaro brings any proposal to make such an acquisition to 
the Board of Directors of Tronox Limited on a confidential basis. In the event an agreement regarding the proposal is not reached, 
Exxaro is permitted to make a takeover offer for all the shares of Tronox Limited not held by affiliates of Exxaro, subject to certain 
non-waivable conditions.  

Basis of Presentation  

We are considered a domestic company in Australia and, as such, are required to report in Australia under International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Additionally, as we are not considered a “foreign private issuer” in the United States, we are required to 
comply with the reporting and other requirements imposed by the U.S. securities law on U.S. domestic issuers, which, among other 
things, requires reporting under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The 
consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K are prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP. We publish our consolidated 
financial statements, in both U.S. GAAP and IFRS, in U.S. dollars.  

The Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2014 and 2013 relate to Tronox Limited. The Consolidated Statements of 
Operations and the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 reflect the consolidated 
operating results of Tronox Limited. The Consolidated Statement of Operations and the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the 
year ended December 31, 2012 reflect the consolidated operating results of Tronox Incorporated prior to June 15, 2012, and, from June 
15, 2012 through December 31, 2012, reflect the consolidated operating results of Tronox Limited.  

Exxaro has a 26% ownership interest in each of our Tronox KZN Sands (Pty) Ltd. and Tronox Mineral Sands (Pty) Ltd. 
subsidiaries in order to comply with the ownership requirements of the Black Economic  
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Empowerment (“BEE”) legislation in South Africa. We account for such ownership interest as “Noncontrolling interest” in our 
consolidated financial statements. See Note 21.  

Prior to the Transaction Date, Tronox Incorporated operated the Tiwest Joint Venture, located in Western Australia, with Exxaro 
Australia Sands Pty Ltd. Tronox Incorporated accounted for its share of the joint venture’s assets that were jointly controlled and its 
share of liabilities for which it was jointly responsible on a proportionate gross basis in its Consolidated Balance Sheet. Additionally, 
Tronox Incorporated accounted for the revenues generated from its share of the products sold, along with its share of the expenses on a 
gross basis in its Consolidated Statements of Operations through June 15, 2012. At the Transaction Date, we owned 100% of the joint 
venture.  

Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all majority-owned subsidiary companies. All intercompany 
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 
manner and presentation in the current period. For the year ended December 31, 2013, we decreased cash flows from investing 
activities by $7 million with a corresponding decrease in cash flows from operating activities to adjust for accrued capital expenditures. 
For the year ended December 31, 2012, we increased cash flows from operating activities by $6 million with a corresponding decrease 
in the effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents. These adjustments are not considered material for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 and 2012.  

During the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded out-of-period adjustments that should have been recorded during 2012 
that decreased cost of goods sold by $6 million, decreased loss before income taxes by $6 million, decreased net loss by $5 million and 
decreased loss per share by $0.03. Also during the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded out-of-period adjustments that should 
have been recorded during 2013 that increased cost of goods sold by $6 million, increased selling, general and administrative expenses 
by $1 million, increased loss before income taxes by $7 million, increased net loss by $5 million and increased loss per share by $0.04. 
After evaluating the quantitative and qualitative aspects of the adjustments, we concluded the effect of these adjustments, individually 
and in the aggregate, was not material to our previously issued consolidated financial statements or to our 2014 consolidated financial 
statements.  

Use of Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. It is at least reasonably possible that the 
effect on the financial statements of a change in estimate due to one or more future confirming events could have a material effect on 
the financial statements.  

2. Significant Accounting Policies  

Foreign Currency  

The U.S. dollar is the functional currency for our operations, except for our South African operations, whose functional currency is 
the Rand, and our European operations, whose functional currency is the Euro. We determine the functional currency of each 
subsidiary based on a number of factors, including the predominant currency for revenues, expenditures and borrowings. Adjustments 
from the remeasurement of non-functional currency monetary assets and liabilities are recorded in “Other income (expense), net” in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. When the subsidiary’s functional currency is not the U.S. dollar, translation adjustments 
resulting from translating the functional currency financial statements into U.S. dollar equivalents are recorded in “Accumulated other 
comprehensive loss” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

Gains and losses on intercompany foreign currency transactions that are not expected to be settled in the foreseeable future are 
reported in the same manner as translation adjustments.  

Revenue Recognition  

Revenue is recognized when risk of loss and title to the product is transferred to the customer, pricing is fixed or determinable, and 
collection is reasonably assured. All amounts billed to a customer in a sales transaction related to shipping and handling represent 
revenues earned and are reported as net sales. Accruals are  

69  



TABLE OF CONTENTS  

made for sales returns and other allowances, which are recorded in “Net sales” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, and are 
based on our historical experience and current business conditions.  

Cost of Goods Sold  

Cost of goods sold includes costs for purchasing, receiving, manufacturing, and distributing products, including raw materials, 
energy, labor, depreciation, depletion, shipping and handling, freight, warehousing, and other production costs.  

Research and Development  

Research and development costs, included in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operation comprising of salaries, building costs, utilities, administrative expenses, and allocations of corporate costs, were $11 million, 
$10 million, and $9 million during 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively, and were expensed as incurred.  

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses  

Selling, general and administrative expenses include costs related to marketing, agent commissions, and legal and administrative 
functions such as corporate management, human resources, information technology, investor relations, accounting, treasury, and tax 
compliance.  

Income Taxes  

We use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. The estimation of the amounts of income taxes involves the 
interpretation of complex tax laws and regulations and how foreign taxes affect domestic taxes, as well as the analysis of the 
realizability of deferred tax assets, tax audit findings, and uncertain tax positions.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of 
assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are 
expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is provided against a deferred tax asset when it is more likely than not that 
all or some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. We periodically assess the likelihood that we will be able to recover 
our deferred tax assets, and reflect any changes in our estimates in the valuation allowance, with a corresponding adjustment to 
earnings or other comprehensive income (loss), as appropriate. All available positive and negative evidence is weighted to determine 
whether a valuation allowance should be recorded.  

The amount of income taxes we pay is subject to ongoing audits by federal, state, and foreign tax authorities, which may result in 
proposed assessments. Our estimate for the potential outcome for any uncertain tax issue is highly judgmental. We assess our income 
tax positions, and record tax benefits for all years subject to examination based upon our evaluation of the facts, circumstances, and 
information available at the reporting date. For those tax positions for which it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will be 
sustained, we record the amount that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon settlement with a taxing authority that 
has full knowledge of all relevant information. Interest and penalties are accrued as part of tax expense, where applicable. If we do not 
believe that it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit is recognized. See Note 7.  

Earnings per Share  

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated using the two-class method. Under the two-class method, earnings used to 
determine basic earnings per share are reduced by an amount allocated to participating securities. Participating securities include 
restricted shares issued under the Tronox Management Equity Incentive Plan (see Note 22) and the T-Bucks Employee Participation 
Plan (see Note 22), both of which contain non-forfeitable dividend rights. Our unexercised options, unexercised Series A and Series B 
Warrants (see Note 20), and unvested restricted share units do not contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends and, as such, are not 
considered in the calculation of basic earnings per share. Our unvested restricted shares do not have a contractual obligation to share in 
losses; therefore, when we record a net loss, none of the loss is allocated to participating securities. Consequently, in periods of net loss, 
the two class method does not have an effect on basic loss per share.  
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Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net earnings allocable to ordinary shares by the weighted-average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding for the period, as adjusted for the potential dilutive effect of non-participating restricted share units, 
options, and Series A and Series B Warrants. The options and Series A and Series B Warrants are included in the calculation of diluted 
earnings per ordinary share utilizing the treasury stock method. See Note 8.  

Fair Value Measurement  

We measure fair value on a recurring basis utilizing valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize 
the use of unobservable inputs, to the extent possible, and consider counterparty credit risk in our assessment of fair value. The fair 
value hierarchy is as follows:  

See Note 9.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

We consider all investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. We maintain cash and cash 
equivalents in bank deposit and money market accounts that may exceed federally insured limits. The financial institutions where our 
cash and cash equivalents are held are generally highly rated and geographically dispersed, and we have a policy to limit the amount of 
credit exposure with any one institution. We have not experienced any losses in such accounts and believe we are not exposed to 
significant credit risk.  

At both December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had restricted cash in Australia related to outstanding letters of credit of $3 million.  

Accounts Receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts  

A significant portion of our liquidity is concentrated in trade accounts receivable that arise from sales of TiO 2 and titanium 
feedstock to customers in the TiO 2 industry. The industry concentration has the potential to impact our overall exposure to credit risk, 
either positively or negatively, in that our customers may be similarly affected by changes in economic, industry or other conditions. In 
addition, due to our international operations, we are subject to potential trade restrictions and sovereign risk in certain countries we 
operate in. We perform credit evaluations of our customers, and take actions deemed appropriate to mitigate credit risk. Only in certain 
specific occasions do we require collateral in the form of bank or parental guarantees or guarantee payments. We maintain allowances 
for potential credit losses based on specific customer review and current financial conditions. See Note 10.  

Inventories, net  

Pigment inventories are stated at the lower of actual cost or market, net of allowances for obsolete and slow-moving inventory. 
The cost of finished goods inventories is determined using the first-in, first-out method. Carrying values include material costs, labor, 
and associated indirect manufacturing expenses. Costs for materials and supplies, excluding ore, are determined by average cost to 
acquire. Raw materials are carried at actual cost. Mineral Sands inventories are stated at the lower of the weighted-average cost of 
production or market. We review, annually and at the end of each quarter, the cost of our inventory in comparison to its net realizable 
value. We also periodically review our inventory for obsolescence (inventory that is no longer marketable for its intended use). In either 
case, we record any write-down equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and its estimated net realizable value based on 
assumptions about alternative uses, market conditions and other factors. Inventories expected to be sold or consumed within twelve 
months after the balance sheet date are classified as current assets and all other inventories are classified as non-current assets. See Note 
11.  

• Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities; 

• Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and 
liabilities in markets that are not active or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data; 
and, 

• Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the 
assets and liabilities. 

71  



TABLE OF CONTENTS  

Long Lived Assets  

Property, plant and equipment, net is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, and is depreciated over its estimated useful life 
using the straight-line method as follows:  

Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred, except for costs of replacements or renewals that improve or extend the lives of 
existing properties, which are capitalized. Upon retirement or sale, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the 
respective account, and any resulting gain or loss is included in “Cost of goods sold” or “Selling, general, and administrative expenses” 
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. See Note 12.  

We capitalize interest costs on major projects that require an extended period of time to complete. See Note 16.  

Mineral property acquisition costs are capitalized as tangible assets when management determines that probable future benefits 
consisting of a contribution to future cash inflows have been identified and adequate financial resources are available or are expected to 
be available as required to meet the terms of property acquisition and anticipated exploration and development expenditures. Mineral 
leaseholds are depleted over their useful lives as determined under the units of production method. Mineral property exploration costs 
are expensed as incurred. When it has been determined that a mineral property can be economically developed as a result of 
establishing proven and probable reserves, the costs incurred to develop such property through the commencement of production are 
capitalized. See Note 13.  

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization, and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives, which range from 5 to 20 years. See Note 14.  

We evaluate the recoverability of the carrying value of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value may not be recoverable. Under such circumstances, we assess whether the projected undiscounted cash flows of our 
long-lived assets are sufficient to recover the existing unamortized cost of our long-lived assets. If the undiscounted projected cash 
flows are not sufficient, we calculate the impairment amount by discounting the projected cash flows using our weighted-average cost 
of capital. The amount of the impairment is written off against earnings in the period in which the impairment is determined.  

Long-term Debt  

Long-term debt is stated net of unamortized original issue premium or discount. Premiums or discounts are amortized using the 
effective interest method with amortization expense recorded in “Interest and debt expense, net” in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations. Deferred debt issuance costs are recorded in “Other long-term assets” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and are 
amortized using the effective interest method with amortization expense recorded in “Interest and debt expense, net” in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. See Note 16.  

Asset Retirement Obligations  

Asset retirement obligations are recorded at their estimated fair value, and accretion expense is recognized over time as the 
discounted liability is accreted to its expected settlement value. Fair value is measured using expected future cash outflows discounted 
at our credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate, which are considered Level 2 inputs. We classify accretion expense related to asset 
retirement obligations as a production cost, which is included in “Cost of goods sold” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 
See Note 17.  

Derivative Instruments  

Derivative instruments are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at their fair values. Changes in the fair value of derivative 
instruments not designated for hedge accounting treatment are recorded in “Other income (expense), net” in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations. See Note 18.  

Land improvements 10 — 20 years 
Buildings 10 — 40 years 
Machinery and equipment 3 — 25 years 
Furniture and fixtures 10 years 
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Environmental Remediation and Other Contingencies  

We recognize a loss and record an undiscounted liability when litigation has commenced or a claim or assessment has been 
asserted, or, based on available information, commencement of litigation or assertion of a claim or assessment is probable, and the 
associated costs can be reasonably estimated. See Note 19.  

Self-Insurance  

We are self-insured for certain levels of general and vehicle liability, property, workers’ compensation and health care coverage. 
The cost of these self-insurance programs is accrued based upon estimated fully developed settlements for known and anticipated 
claims. Any resulting adjustments to previously recorded reserves are reflected in current operating results. We do not accrue for 
general or unspecific business risks.  

Share-based Compensation  

Equity Restricted Share and Restricted Share Unit Awards — The fair value of equity instruments is measured based on the share 
price on the grant date and is recognized over the vesting period. These awards contain service, market, and/or performance conditions. 
For awards containing only a service or a market condition, we have elected to recognize compensation costs using the straight-line 
method over the requisite service period for the entire award. For awards containing a market condition, the fair value of the award is 
measured using the Monte Carlo simulation under a lattice model approach. For awards containing a performance condition, the fair 
value is the grant date close price and compensation expense is not recognized until we conclude that it is probable that the performance 
condition will be met. We reassess the probability at least quarterly. See Note 22.  

Liability Restricted Share Awards — Restricted share awards classified as liability awards contain only a service condition, and 
have graded vesting provisions. Liability awards are re-measured to fair value at each reporting date. See Note 22.  

Option Awards — The Black-Scholes option pricing model is utilized to measure the fair value of options on the grant date. The 
options contain only service conditions, and have graded vesting provisions. We have elected to recognize compensation costs using 
the straight-line method over the requisite service period for the entire award. See Note 22.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

During 2014, we adopted ASU 2013-5, Parent’s Accounting for the Cumulative Translation Adjustment upon Derecognition of 
Certain Subsidiaries or Groups of Assets within a Foreign Entity or of an Investment in a Foreign Entity , which addresses the 
treatment of the cumulative translation adjustment into net income when a parent either sells or liquidates a part or all of its investment 
in a foreign entity or no longer holds a controlling financial interest in a subsidiary or group of assets within a foreign entity. The 
adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements, as we had previously accounted for the 
liquidation of our non-operating subsidiaries in this manner.  

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-9, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2014-9”) , which states that an 
entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This guidance is effective for periods 
beginning after December 31, 2016, and will be applied either retrospectively or on a modified retrospective basis. We have not yet 
determined the impact, if any, that ASU 2014-9 will have on our consolidated financial statements.  

3. Anadarko Litigation  

In May 2009, we commenced an adversary proceeding in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York 
(Manhattan) (the “Bankruptcy Court”) against Kerr-McGee Corp. (“Kerr-McGee”) and its parent, Anadarko Petroleum Corp. 
(“Anadarko”), related to the 2006 spin-off of Tronox Incorporated (Tronox Incorporated v. Anadarko (In re Tronox Inc.)), 09-1198 (the 
“Anadarko Litigation”). Pursuant to the plan of reorganization, we assigned the rights to any pre-tax proceeds that may be recovered in 
the Anadarko Litigation to our creditors.  
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On May 29, 2014, the Bankruptcy Court approved a settlement with Anadarko for $5.15 billion. On January 23, 2015, Anadarko 
paid $5.2 billion, including approximately $65 million of accrued interest, pursuant to the terms of the settlement agreement. We did 
not receive any portion of the settlement amount. Instead, 88% of the $5.2 billion will go to trusts and other governmental entities for 
the remediation of polluted sites by Kerr-McGee. The remaining 12% will be distributed to a tort trust to compensate individuals 
injured as a result of Kerr-McGee’s environmental failures.  

We received a private letter ruling from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service confirming that the trusts that held the claims against 
Anadarko are grantor trusts of Tronox Incorporated solely for federal income tax purposes. As a result, we believe we will be entitled to 
tax deductions equal to the amount spent by the trusts to remediate environmental matters and to compensate the injured individuals. 
These deductions will accrue over the life of the trusts as the $5.2 billion is spent. We believe that these expenditures and the 
accompanying tax deductions may continue for decades. We have recorded deferred tax assets of $2.0 billion related to the $5.2 billion 
of expected future tax deductions from trust expenditures. These deferred tax assets are fully offset by valuation allowances.  

4. Restructuring Expense  

During 2014, we commenced a cost reduction initiative. The initiative involved a reduction in our workforce by approximately 
135 employees and outside contractor positions. The charge resulting from this initiative was $15 million, which was recorded in 
“Restructuring expense” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations during 2014. The charges consist of employee severance costs of 
$13 million, as well as outplacement services and other associated costs and expenses of $2 million. Of the total $15 million charge, we 
incurred $14 million in cash expenditures, of which $10 million was paid during 2014. We expect to pay the remaining $4 million 
during the first half of 2015.  

A summary in the changes in the liability established for restructuring, which is included in “Accrued liabilities” in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet, is as follows:  

Restructuring expense by segment during 2014 was as follows:  

5. Liquidation of Non-Operating Subsidiaries  

During 2014, we completed the liquidation of a non-operating subsidiary, Tronox Pigments International GmbH, for which we 
recognized a noncash loss from the realization of cumulative translation adjustments of $35 million, which was recorded in “Net gain 
(loss) on liquidation of non-operating subsidiaries” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. During 2013, we completed the 
liquidation of two non-operating subsidiaries, Tronox (Luxembourg) Holdings S.a.r.l. and Tronox Luxembourg S.a.r.l., for which we 
recognized a net noncash gain from the realization of cumulative translation adjustments of $24 million, which was recorded in “Net 
gain (loss) on liquidation of non-operating subsidiaries” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

Restructuring  
Liability  

Balance, January 1, 2014 $ —   
Severance, outplacement services and other related costs    15   
Cash payments    (10 ) 
Noncash expense    (1 ) 

Balance, December 31, 2014 $ 4   

Restructuring  
Expense  

Mineral Sands segment $ 7   
Pigment segment    5   
Corporate and Other    3   

Total $ 15   
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6. Other Income (Expense), Net  

Other income (expense), net is comprised of the following:  

7. Income Taxes  

Our operations are conducted through various subsidiaries in a number of countries throughout the world. We have provided for 
income taxes based upon the tax laws and rates in the countries in which operations are conducted and income is earned.  

Income (loss) before income taxes is comprised of the following:  

The income tax benefit (provision) is summarized below:  

The following table reconciles the applicable statutory income tax rates to our effective income tax rates for “Income tax benefit 
(provision)” as reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

Year Ended December 31,  
2014  2013  2012  

Net realized and unrealized foreign currency gains (losses) $ 5   $ 39   $ (8 ) 
Interest income    13      8      2   
Pension and postretirement benefit curtailment gains (1)    9      —      —   
Other    —      (1 )    (1 ) 

Total $ 27   $ 46   $ (7 ) 

(1) During 2014, we recognized curtailment gains related to our U.S. postretirement healthcare plan and our Netherlands pension plan. See Note 23. 

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  2012  

Australia $ (242 ) $ (185 ) $ 1,019   
International    93      124      (11 ) 

Income (loss) before income taxes $ (149 ) $ (61 ) $ 1,008   

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  2012  

Australian:                       
Current $ (15 ) $ (11 ) $ (28 ) 
Deferred    (183 )    35      124   

International:                       
Current    (15 )    (23 )    (9 ) 
Deferred    (55 )    (30 )    38   

Income tax benefit (provision) $ (268 ) $ (29 ) $ 125   

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  2012  

Statutory tax rate   30 %    30 %    30 %  
Increases (decreases) resulting from:                       

Tax rate differences   78      191      (6 )  
Disallowable expenditures   (17 )    (10 )    (1 )  
Gain on bargain purchase, net of tax   —      —      (31 )  
Resetting of tax basis to market value   —      —      (7 )  
Valuation allowances   (1,577 )    (259 )    (1 )  
Anadarko litigation settlement   1,341      —      —    
State NOL limitations   (15 )    —      —    
Withholding taxes   (24 )    (59 )    2    
Prior year accruals   (2 )    22      —    
Change in uncertain tax positions   —      6      —    
Foreign exchange   1      17      —    
Tax credits   2      8      —    
Branch taxation   4      6      —    
Other, net   (1 )    —      2    

Effective tax rate   (180 )%   (48 )%   (12 )% 
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The effective tax rate for each of the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 differs from the Australian statutory rate of 
30%. Historically, the differences were primarily due to valuation allowances, income in foreign jurisdictions taxed at rates lower than 
30%, and withholding tax accruals on interest income. Additionally, the effective tax rate for 2014 is impacted by $58 million and $255 
million, respectively, due to increases to full valuation allowances in The Netherlands and Australia. The Anadarko Litigation 
settlement of $5.2 billion provided us with additional deferred tax assets of $2.0 billion, which were offset by full valuation allowances 
in the United States of $2.0 billion. As a result of an ownership change on June 15, 2012, our ability to use federal losses was not 
impacted; however, due to state apportionment impacts and carryforward periods, our state losses were limited. This limitation resulted 
in the loss of $23 million of deferred tax assets but was fully offset by a reduction of the related valuation allowances.  

The statutory tax rates on income earned in South Africa (28% for limited liability companies), The Netherlands (25% for 
corporations), and the United Kingdom (23.25% for corporations and limited liability companies and not applicable for certain limited 
liability partners) are lower than the Australian statutory rate of 30%. The statutory tax rate, applied against losses in the United States 
(35% for corporations), is higher than the Australian statutory rate of 30%. Also, we continue to maintain a full valuation allowance in 
the United States.  

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31, 2014 and 2013 were comprised of the following:  

The net deferred tax assets (liabilities) reflected in the above table include deferred tax assets related to grantor trusts, which were 
established as Tronox Incorporated emerged from bankruptcy during 2011. The balances relate to the assets contributed to such grantor 
trusts by Tronox Incorporated. Additionally, as a result of the resolution of the Anadarko Litigation of $5.2 billion, we have recorded 
additional deferred tax assets of $2.0 billion. This increase has been fully offset by valuation allowances. See Note 3 for discussion of 
the resolution of the Anadarko Litigation.  

December 31,  

2014  2013  

Deferred tax assets:                  
Net operating loss and other carryforwards $ 626    $ 659    
Property, plant and equipment    324       293    
Reserves for environmental remediation and restoration    26       28    
Obligations for pension and other employee benefits    87       72    
Investments    28       32    
Grantor trusts    2,118       100    
Inventory    15       9    
Interest    314       226    
Other accrued liabilities    11       20    
Unrealized foreign exchange losses    2       3    
Other    14       13    
Total deferred tax assets    3,565       1,455    
Valuation allowance associated with deferred tax assets    (3,345 )     (982 )  
Net deferred tax assets    220       473    
Deferred tax liabilities:                  
Property, plant and equipment    (266 )     (288 )  
Intangibles    (103 )     (108 )  
Inventory    (10 )     (19 )  
Unrealized foreign exchange gains    (25 )     (22 )  
Other    (7 )     (8 )  
Total deferred tax liabilities    (411 )     (445 )  

Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ (191 )  $ 28    
Balance sheet classifications:                  
Deferred tax assets — current $ 13    $ 47    
Deferred tax assets — long-term    9       192    
Deferred tax liabilities — current    (9 )     (7 )  
Deferred tax liabilities — long-term    (204 )     (204 )  

Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ (191 )  $ 28    
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During 2014 and 2013, the total changes to the valuation allowance were an increase of $2.4 billion and an increase of $229 
million, respectively. The table below sets forth the changes, by jurisdiction:  

At December 31, 2014, we now maintain full valuation allowances related to the total net deferred tax assets in Australia, the 
United States, and The Netherlands, as we cannot objectively assert that these deferred tax assets are more likely than not to be realized. 
Future provisions for income taxes will include no tax benefits with respect to losses incurred and tax expense only to the extent of 
current state tax payments until the valuation allowances are eliminated. Additionally, we have valuation allowances against specific 
tax assets in South Africa.  

These conclusions were reached by the application of ASC 740, Income Taxes , which requires that all available positive and 
negative evidence be weighted to determine whether a valuation allowance should be recorded. The more significant evidential matter 
in Australia, the United States, and The Netherlands relates to recent book losses and the lack of sufficient projected taxable income. 
The more significant evidential matter for South Africa relates to assets that cannot be depleted or depreciated for tax purposes.  

An ownership change occurred during 2012, as a result of the Transaction. These ownership changes resulted in a limitation under 
IRC Sections 382 and 383 related to U.S. net operating losses. We do not expect that the application of these net limitations will have 
any material effect on our U.S. federal income tax liabilities; however, for the year ended December 31, 2014, we have now reduced 
our state net operating loss carryforwards and the related deferred tax benefits. The loss of these benefits is offset by a corresponding 
reduction in the valuation allowances.  

The deferred tax assets generated by tax loss carryforwards in Australia, the United States, and The Netherlands have been fully 
offset by valuation allowances. The expiration of these carryforwards at December 31, 2014 is shown below. The Australian and South 
African tax loss carryforwards do not expire.  

At December 31, 2014, Tronox Limited had foreign subsidiaries with undistributed earnings. Although we would not be subject to 
income tax on these earnings, amounts totaling $118 million could be subject to withholding tax if distributed. Tronox Incorporated had 
certain foreign subsidiaries with undistributed earnings totaling $179 million. We have made no provision for deferred taxes for either 
Tronox Limited or Tronox Incorporated related to these undistributed earnings because they are considered to be indefinitely reinvested 
outside of the parents’ taxing jurisdictions.  

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for 2014 and 2013 is as follows:  

December 31,  

2014  2013  

Australia $ 255    $ 118    
United States    2,058       87    
The Netherlands    50       25    
South Africa    —       (1 )  

Total increase in valuation allowances $ 2,363    $ 229    

Australia  U.S. Federal  U.S. State  Other  

Tax Loss  
Carryforwards  

Total  

2015 $ —    $ —    $ —    $ —    $ —    
2016    —       —       8       —       8    
2017    —       —       —       —       —    
2018    —       —       4       —       4    
2019    —       —       1       —       1    
Thereafter    —       1,231       776       152       2,159    
No Expiration    306       —       —       47       353    

Total tax loss carryforwards $ 306    $ 1,231    $ 789    $ 199    $ 2,525    

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  

Balance at January 1 $ 1    $ 4    
Reductions for tax positions related to prior years    —       (3 )  

Balance at December 31 $ 1    $ 1    
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Included in the balance at December 31, 2014 and 2013, were tax positions of $1 million and $1 million, respectively, for which 
the ultimate deductibility is highly certain, but for which there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility. None of these net 
benefits, if recognized, would impact the effective income tax rate.  

As a result of potential settlements, it is reasonably possible that our gross unrecognized tax benefits from timing differences may 
decrease within the next twelve months by $1 million.  

During 2014, 2013, and 2012, we did not recognize any gross interest or penalties in “Income tax benefit (provision)” in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations related to unrecognized tax benefits. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had no remaining 
accruals for the gross payment of interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits, and the noncurrent liability section of the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets reflected $1 million and $1 million, respectively, as the reserve for uncertain tax positions.  

Our Australian returns are closed through 2011. However, under Australian tax laws, transfer pricing issues have no limitation 
period. Our U.S. returns are closed for years through 2010, with the exception of an amendment filed for the 2007 tax year. Our 
Netherlands returns are closed through 2012. In accordance with the Transaction Agreement, we are not liable for income taxes of the 
acquired companies with respect to periods prior to the Transaction Date.  

We believe that we have made adequate provision for income taxes that may be payable with respect to years open for 
examination; however, the ultimate outcome is not presently known and, accordingly, additional provisions may be necessary and/or 
reclassifications of noncurrent tax liabilities to current may occur in the future.  

8. Earnings Per Share  

The computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for the periods indicated is as follows:  

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  2012  

Numerator – Basic and Diluted:                          
Net income (loss) $ (417 )  $ (90 )  $ 1,133    
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest    10       36       (1 )  
Net income (loss) attributable to Tronox Limited    (427 )     (126 )     1,134    
Less: Dividends paid (2)    —       —       (61 )  
Undistributed earnings (loss)    (427 )     (126 )     1,073    
Percentage allocated to ordinary shares    100 %    100 %    99.3 % 
Undistributed earnings (loss) allocated to ordinary shares    (427 )     (126 )     1,065    
Add: Dividends paid allocated to ordinary shares (2)    —       —       60    

Earnings (loss) available to ordinary shares $ (427 )  $ (126 )  $ 1,125    
Denominator – Basic:                          
Weighted-average ordinary shares (in thousands)    114,281       113,416       98,985    
Add: Effect of dilutive securities:                          

Restricted stock    —       —       49    
Warrants    —       —       2,372    

Denominator – Dilutive    114,281       113,416       101,406    
Earnings (loss) per ordinary share (1):                          

Basic earnings (loss) per ordinary share $ (3.74 )  $ (1.11 )  $ 11.37    

Diluted earnings (loss) per ordinary share $ (3.74 )  $ (1.11 )  $ 11.10    

(1) Our participating securities do not have a contractual obligation to share in losses; therefore, when we have a net loss, none of the loss is allocated to participating 
securities. Consequently, for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the two class method did not have an effect on our loss per ordinary share calculation, and as 
such, dividends paid during the year did not impact this calculation. 

(2) Loss per ordinary share amounts were calculated from exact, not rounded income (loss) and share information. 
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In computing diluted loss per share under the two-class method, we considered potentially dilutive shares. Anti-dilutive shares not 
recognized in the diluted earnings per share calculation were as follows:  

9. Fair Value Measurement  

For financial instruments that are subsequently measured at fair value, the fair value measurement is grouped into levels. See Note 
2.  

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the only financial instrument measured at fair value was the environmental rehabilitation trust, 
which amounted to $17 million and $22 million, respectively, and was categorized as Level 1. See Note 17.  

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other current assets, accounts payable, short-term debt, 
and other current liabilities approximate their fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments.  

Our debt is recorded at historical amounts. At both December 31, 2014 and 2013, the fair value of the Term Loan was $1.5 billion. 
At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the fair value of the Notes was $903 million and $924 million, respectively. We determined the fair 
value of the Term Loan, the Notes and the Term Facility using Bloomberg market prices. The fair value hierarchy for the Term Loan 
and the Notes is a Level 1 input.  

10. Accounts Receivable, Net of Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts, consisted of the following:  

Bad debt expense was less than $1 million, $1 million and $1 million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively, and was recorded in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

11. Inventories, Net  

Inventories, net consisted of the following:  

December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013  December 31, 2012  

Shares  

Average  
Exercise 

Price  Shares  

Average  
Exercise 

Price  Shares  
Average  

Exercise Price  

Options    2,560,875    $ 21.14      2,094,771    $ 20.63      612,439   $ 24.81   
Series A Warrants (1)    1,273,917    $ 11.04      1,850,814    $ 11.52      —   $ —   
Series B Warrants (1)    1,715,986    $ 12.19      2,409,404    $ 12.71      —   $ —   
Restricted share units    875,776    $ 22.17      303,324    $ 21.08      18,990   $ 21.10   

(1) Series A Warrants and Series B Warrants were converted into Class A Shares at December 31, 2014 and 2013 using a rate of 5.29 and 5.18, respectively. See Note 20. 

December 31,  

2014  2013  

Trade receivables $ 272    $ 304    
Other    6       6    

Gross    278       310    
Allowance for doubtful accounts    (1 )     (2 )  

Net $ 277    $ 308    

December 31,  

2014  2013  

Raw materials $ 329    $ 320    
Work-in-process    77       24    
Finished goods    303       310    
Materials and supplies, net (1)    118       105    

Total    827       759    
Less: Inventories, net – non-current    (57 )     —    

Inventories, net – current $ 770    $ 759    

(1) Consists of processing chemicals, maintenance supplies, and spare parts, which will be consumed directly and indirectly in the production of our products. 
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Finished goods includes inventory on consignment of $42 million and $48 million at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 
At December 31, 2014 and 2013, inventory obsolescence reserves were $14 million and $13 million, respectively. During 2014, 2013, 
and 2012, we recognized a net lower of cost or market charge of $3 million, a net lower of cost or market benefit of $20 million, and a 
net lower of cost or market charge of $47 million, respectively, which was included in “Cost of goods sold” in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations.  

12. Property, Plant and Equipment  

Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, consisted of the following:  

Depreciation expense related to property, plant and equipment during 2014, 2013, and 2012 was $158 million, $191 million, and 
$127 million, respectively, of which $155 million, $187 million, and $125 million, respectively, was recorded in “Cost of goods sold” 
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and $3 million, $4 million, and $2 million, respectively, was recorded in “Selling, general 
and administrative expenses” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations  

13. Mineral Leaseholds  

Minerals leaseholds, net of accumulated depletion, consisted of the following:  

Depletion expense related to mineral leaseholds during 2014, 2013, and 2012 was $110 million, $115 million, and $59 million, 
respectively, which was recorded in “Cost of goods sold” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

14. Intangible Assets  

Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization, consisted of the following:  

Amortization expense related to intangible assets during 2014, 2013, and 2012 was $27 million, $27 million, and $25 million, 
respectively, which was recorded in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the  

December 31,  

2014  2013  

Land and land improvements $ 80    $ 79    
Buildings    187       181    
Machinery and equipment    1,225       1,156    
Construction-in-progress    149       133    
Other    35       28    

Total    1,676       1,577    
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization    (449 )     (319 )  

Property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,227    $ 1,258    

December 31,  

2014  2013  

Mineral leaseholds $ 1,336    $ 1,388    
Less accumulated depletion    (278 )     (172 )  

Net $ 1,058    $ 1,216    

December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013  

Gross 
 

Cost  
Accumulated  
Amortization  

Net Carrying  
Amount  

Gross 
 

Cost  
Accumulated  
Amortization  

Net Carrying  
Amount  

Customer relationships $ 294    $ (79 ) $ 215    $ 294    $ (59 ) $ 235    
TiO 2 technology    32       (6 )    26       32       (5 )    27    
Internal-use software    39       (10 )    29       40       (6 )    34    
Other    9       (7 )    2       9       (5 )    4    

Total $ 374    $ (102 ) $ 272    $ 375    $ (75 ) $ 300    
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Consolidated Statements of Operations. Estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets is $27 million for 2015, $25 
million for 2016, $25 million for 2017, $25 million for 2018, $25 million for 2019, and $145 million thereafter.  

15. Accrued Liabilities  

Accrued liabilities of the following:  

16. Debt  

UBS Revolver  

We have a global senior secured asset-based syndicated revolving credit facility with UBS AG (the “UBS Revolver”) with a 
maturity date of June 18, 2017. The UBS Revolver provides us with a committed source of capital with a principal borrowing amount 
of up to $300 million, subject to a borrowing base. Obligations under the UBS Revolver are collateralized by a first priority lien on 
substantially all of our existing, and future deposit accounts, inventory, and account receivables, and certain related assets, excluding 
those held by our South African subsidiaries, Netherland’s subsidiaries, and Bahamian subsidiary, and a second priority lien on all of 
our other assets, including capital shares. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, our borrowing base was $276 million and $210 million, 
respectively. During 2014 and 2013, we had no drawdowns or repayments on the UBS Revolver. At both December 31, 2014 and 2013, 
there were no outstanding borrowings on the UBS Revolver.  

The UBS Revolver bears interest at our option at either (i) the greater of (a) the lenders’ prime rate, (b) the Federal funds effective 
rate plus 0.50%, and (c) the adjusted London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) for a one-month period plus 1%) or (ii) the adjusted 
LIBOR, in each case plus the applicable margin. The applicable margin ranges from 1.5% to 2% for borrowings at the adjusted LIBOR, 
and from 0.5% to 1% for borrowings at the alternate base rate, based upon the average daily borrowing availability.  

ABSA Revolving Credit Facility  

We have a R1.3 billion (approximately $113 million at December 31, 2014) revolving credit facility with ABSA Bank Limited 
(“ABSA”) acting through its ABSA Capital Division (the “ABSA Revolver”) with a maturity date of June 14, 2017. On December 12, 
2014, we entered into a First Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Facility Agreement with ABSA, whereby the ABSA Revolver 
was increased from R900 million to R1.3 billion, and the margin increased from 3.5% to 3.9%. The ABSA Revolver bears interest at (i) 
the base rate (defined as one month JIBAR, which is the mid-market rate for deposits in South African Rand for a period equal to the 
relevant period which appears on the Reuters Screen SAFEY Page alongside the caption YLD) as of 11h00 Johannesburg time on the 
first day of the applicable period, plus (ii) the Margin, which is 3.9%.  

During 2014, we had no drawdowns or repayments on the ABSA Revolver. During 2013, we had no drawdowns and a repayment 
of $30 million. During 2012, we had drawdowns of $54 million and repayments of $24 million. The weighted average interest rate was 
8.5% during both 2013 and 2012. At both December 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no outstanding borrowings on the ABSA Revolver.  

December 31,  
2014  2013  

Employee-related costs and benefits $ 62    $ 55    
Taxes other than income taxes    37       44    
Interest    22       22    
Sales rebates    19       18    
Other    7       7    

Total $ 147    $ 146    
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At December 31, 2014, the scheduled maturities of our long-term debt were as follows:  

Term Loan  

On March 19, 2013, we, along with our wholly owned subsidiary, Tronox Pigments (Netherlands) B.V., and certain of our 
subsidiaries named as guarantors, entered into a Second Amended and Restated Credit and Guaranty Agreement (the “Second 
Agreement”) with Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and Goldman Sachs Bank USA, UBS 
Securities LLC, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC and RBC Capital Markets, as joint lead arrangers, joint bookrunners and co-
syndication agents. Pursuant to the Second Agreement, we obtained a $1.5 billion senior secured term loan (the “Term Loan”). The 
Term Loan was issued net of an original issue discount. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the unamortized discount was $7 million and 
$11 million, respectively. We made principal repayments during 2014 and 2013 of $17 million and $8 million, respectively.  

On April 23, 2014, we, along with our wholly owned subsidiary, Tronox Pigments (Netherlands) B.V., and certain of our 
subsidiaries named as guarantors, entered into a Third Amendment to the Credit and Guaranty Agreement (the “Third Agreement”) 
with the lender parties thereto and Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as administrative agent, which amends the Second Agreement. The 
Third Agreement provides for the re-pricing of the Term Loan by replacing the existing definition of “Applicable Margin” with a grid 
pricing matrix dependent upon our public corporate family rating as determined by Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s (with the interest 
rate under the Third Agreement remaining subject to Eurodollar Rate and Base Rate floors, as defined in the Third Agreement). 
Pursuant to the Third Agreement, based upon our current public corporate family rating by Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s, the current 
interest rate per annum is 300 basis points plus LIBOR (subject to a LIBOR floor of 1% per annum) compared to 350 basis points plus 
LIBOR (subject to a LIBOR floor of 1% per annum) in the Second Agreement. The Third Agreement also amended certain provisions 
of the Second Agreement to permit us and certain of our subsidiaries to obtain new cash flow revolving credit facilities in place of our 
existing asset based revolving credit facility. The maturity date under the Second Agreement and all other material terms of the Second 
Agreement remain the same under the Third Agreement.  

The Third Agreement resulted in a modification for certain lenders and an extinguishment for other lenders. Accordingly, we 
recognized an $8 million charge during 2014 for the early extinguishment of debt resulting from  

Original  
Principal  

Maturity  
Date  

December 31,  

2014  2013  

Term Loan, net of unamortized discount (1) $ 1,500       3/19/2020    $ 1,468    $ 1,482    
Senior Notes $ 900       8/15/2020       900       900    
Co-generation Unit Financing Arrangement $ 16       2/1/2016       3       6    
Lease financing                    22       25    

Total borrowings                    2,393       2,413    
Less: Noncurrent borrowings due in one year                    (18 )    (18 ) 

Noncurrent borrowings                 $ 2,375    $ 2,395    

(1) Average effective interest rate of 4.6% during 2014 and 5% during 2013. 

Total  
Borrowings  

2015 $ 18   
2016    16   
2017    16   
2018    16   
2019    16   
Thereafter    2,318   
Total    2,400   
Remaining accretion associated with the Term Loan    (7 ) 

Total borrowings $ 2,393   
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the write-off of deferred debt issuance costs and discount on debt associated with the Second Agreement. We also paid $2 million of 
new debt issuance costs related to the Third Agreement during 2014, which were recorded in “Other long-term assets” in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

Senior Notes  

On August 20, 2012, our wholly owned subsidiary, Tronox Finance LLC, completed a private placement offering of $900 million 
aggregate principal amount of senior notes at par value (the “Senior Notes”). The Senior Notes bear interest semiannually at a rate 
equal to 6.375%, and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior, unsecured basis by us and certain of our subsidiaries. The 
Senior Notes were initially offered to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended 
(the “Securities Act”), and outside the United States to non-U.S. persons pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act.  

On September 17, 2013, Tronox Finance LLC issued $900 million in aggregate principal amount of registered 6.375% Senior 
Notes due 2020 in exchange for its then existing $900 million in aggregate principal amount of its 6.375% Senior Notes due 2020. The 
Senior Notes are guaranteed by Tronox and certain of its subsidiaries. See Note 27.  

Lease Financing  

We have capital lease obligations in South Africa, which are payable through 2031 at a weighted average interest rate of 
approximately 14%. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, such obligations had a net book value of assets recorded under capital leases 
aggregating $20 million and $23 million, respectively. During 2014, 2013, and 2012, we made principal payments of less than $1 
million for all periods.  

At December 31, 2014, future minimum lease payments, including interest, were as follows:  

Debt Covenants  

At December 31, 2014, we had financial covenants in the UBS Revolver, the ABSA Revolver and the Term Loan; however, only 
the ABSA Revolver had a financial maintenance covenant that applies to local operations and only when the ABSA Revolver is drawn 
upon. The Term Loan and the UBS Revolver are subject to an intercreditor agreement pursuant to which the lenders’ respective rights 
and interests in the security are set forth. We were in compliance with all our financial covenants as of and for the year ended 
December 31, 2014.  

Interest and debt expense, net  

Interest and debt expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations consisted of the following:  

In connection with obtaining debt, we incurred debt issuance costs, which are being amortized through the respective maturity 
dates using the effective interest method. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had $44 million and $57 million, respectively, of 
deferred debt issuance costs, which are recorded in “Other long-term assets” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.”  

Principal  
Repayments  Interest  

Total  
Payments  

2015 $ 1   $ 3    $ 4   
2016    1      3       4   
2017    1      3       4   
2018    1      3       4   
2019    1      2       3   
Thereafter    18      18       36   

Total    23      32       55   

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  2012  

Bank borrowings $ 124    $ 122    $ 53    
Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs and discounts on debt    10       9       10    
Other    2       4       4    
Capitalized interest    (3 )    (5 )    (2 ) 

Total interest and debt expense, net $ 133    $ 130    $ 65    
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17. Asset Retirement Obligations  

Asset retirement obligations consist primarily of rehabilitation and restoration costs, landfill capping costs, decommissioning 
costs, and closure and post-closure costs. Activity related to asset retirement obligations was as follows:  

We used the following assumptions in determining asset retirement obligations at December 31, 2014: inflation rates between 
2.5%-6.8% per year; credit adjusted risk-free interest rates between 3.2%-15.4%; and the life of mines between 2-36 years.  

Environmental Rehabilitation Trust  

In accordance with applicable regulations, we have established an environmental rehabilitation trust for the prospecting and 
mining operations in South Africa, which receives, holds, and invests funds for the rehabilitation or management of asset retirement 
obligations. The trustees of the fund are appointed by us, and consist of sufficiently qualified employees capable of fulfilling their 
fiduciary duties. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the environmental rehabilitation trust assets were $17 million and $22 million, 
respectively, which were recorded in “Other long-term assets” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

18. Derivative Instruments  

We manufacture and market our products in a number of countries throughout the world and, as a result, are exposed to changes in 
foreign currency exchange rates, particularly in South Africa, Australia, and The Netherlands. Costs in South Africa and Australia are 
primarily incurred in local currencies, while the majority of revenues are in U.S. dollars. In Europe, the majority of revenues and costs 
are in the local currency. This leaves us exposed to movements in the South African Rand and the Australian dollar versus the U.S. 
dollar.  

In order to manage this risk, we enter into currency forward contracts to buy and sell foreign currencies as “economic hedges” for 
these foreign currency transactions. Our currency forward contracts were not designated for hedge accounting treatment under ASC 
815, Derivatives and Hedging . As such, changes in the fair value were recorded in “Other income (expense), net” in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations. During 2014 and 2013, we recorded a net loss of $1 million and a net gain of $2 million, respectively. At 
December 31, 2014 and 2013, we did not have any forward contracts in place. We did not utilize forward contracts during 2012.  

19. Commitments and Contingencies  

Leases —We lease office space, storage, and equipment under non-cancelable lease agreements, which expire on various dates 
through 2023. Total rental expense related to operating leases was $26 million, $42 million, and $8 million during 2014, 2013, and 
2012, respectively.  

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  

Beginning balance $  96   $  113   
Additions    5      —   
Accretion expense    4      2   
Remeasurement/translation    (9 )    (16 ) 
Changes in estimates, including cost and timing of cash flows    —      (1 ) 
Settlements/payments    (6 )    (2 ) 

Ending balance $  90   $  96   

Current portion included in “Accrued liabilities” $  5   $  6   

Noncurrent portion included in “Asset retirement obligations” $  85   $  90   
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At December 31, 2014, minimum rental commitments under non-cancelable operating leases were as follows:  

Purchase Commitments —At December 31, 2014, purchase commitments were $225 million for 2015, $115 million for 2016, 
$68 million for 2017, $63 million for 2018, $60 million for 2019, and $306 million thereafter.  

Letters of Credit —At December 31, 2014, we had outstanding letters of credit, bank guarantees, and performance bonds of $47 
million, of which $24 million were letters of credit issued under the UBS Revolver, $20 million were bank guarantees issued by ABSA 
and $3 million were performance bonds issued by Westpac Banking Corporation.  

Other Matters —From time to time, we may be party to a number of legal and administrative proceedings involving legal, 
environmental, and/or other matters in various courts or agencies. These proceedings, individually and in the aggregate, may have a 
material adverse effect on us. These proceedings may be associated with facilities currently or previously owned, operated or used by 
us and/or our predecessors, some of which may include claims for personal injuries, property damages, cleanup costs, and other 
environmental matters. Current and former operations may also involve management of regulated materials that are subject to various 
environmental laws and regulations including the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act, the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act or state equivalents. Similar environmental laws and regulations and other requirements exist 
in foreign countries in which we operate. Currently, we are not party to any pending legal or administrative proceedings that may have 
a material adverse effect, either individually or in the aggregate, on its business, financial condition or results of operations.  

20. Shareholders’ Equity  

Tronox Limited  

The changes in outstanding Class A Shares and Class B Shares for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were as follows:  

Operating  

2015 $ 19    
2016    19    
2017    12    
2018    6    
2019    3    
Thereafter    21    

Total $ 80    

    
Class A Shares:          
Balance at January 1, 2013    62,103,989    
Shares issued for share-based compensation    109,790    
Shares issued for warrants exercised    84,088    
Shares issued for options exercised    51,751    
Balance at December 31, 2013    62,349,618    
Shares issued for share-based compensation    467,823    
Shares issued for warrants exercised    836,518    
Shares issued for options exercised    314,657    

Balance at December 31, 2014    63,968,616    
Class B Shares:          
Balance at December 31, 2013    51,154,280    

Balance at December 31, 2014    51,154,280    
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Warrants  

We have outstanding Series A Warrants (the “Series A Warrants”) and Series B Warrants (the “Series B Warrants,” and together 
with the Series A Warrants, the “Warrants”). At December 31, 2014, holders of the Warrants were entitled to purchase 5.29 Class A 
Shares and receive $12.50 in cash at an exercise price of $58.41 for each Series A Warrant and $64.46 for each Series B Warrant. The 
Warrants have a seven-year term from the date initially issued and will expire on February 14, 2018. A holder may exercise the 
Warrants by paying the applicable exercise price in cash or exercising on a cashless basis. The Warrants are freely transferable by the 
holder. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, there were 240,816 and 357,300 Series A Warrants outstanding, respectively, and 324,383 and 
465,136 Series B Warrants outstanding, respectively.  

Dividends Declared  

During 2014 and 2013, we declared and paid quarterly dividends to holders of our Class A Shares and Class B Shares as follows:  

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss  

The tables below present changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss by component for the years ended December 31, 2014, 
2013 and 2012.  

Share Split  

On June 26, 2012, the Board of Directors of Tronox Limited (the “Board”) approved a 5-to-1 share split for holders of Class A 
Shares and Class B Shares at the close of business on July 20, 2012, by issuance of four additional shares for each share of the same 
class by way of bonus issue. As a result of the share split, we recorded an increase to Class A Shares and Class B Shares of $1 million 
and a corresponding decrease to “Retained earnings” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

Share Repurchases  

On June 26, 2012, the Board authorized the repurchase of 10% of Tronox Limited voting securities in open market transactions. 
During 2012, we repurchased 12,626,400 Class A Shares, affected for the 5-for-1 share split, at an average price of $25.84 per share, 
inclusive of commissions, for a total cost of $326 million. Repurchased shares were subsequently canceled in accordance with 
Australian law. On September 27, 2012, we announced the successful completion of our share repurchase program.  

Q1 2014  Q2 2014  Q3 2014  Q4 2014  

Dividend per share $ 0.25    $ 0.25    $ 0.25    $ 0.25    
Total dividend $ 29    $ 29    $ 29    $ 30    
Record date (close of business) March 10 May 19 August 18 November 17 

Q1 2013  Q2 2013  Q3 2013  Q4 2013  

Dividend per share $ 0.25    $ 0.25    $ 0.25    $ 0.25    
Total dividend $ 29    $ 28    $ 29    $ 29    
Record date (close of business) March 6 May 20 August 19 November 18 

Cumulative  
Translation  
Adjustment  

Pension  
Liability  

Adjustment  Total  

Balance, January 1, 2012 $ (6 ) $ (51 ) $ (57 ) 
Other comprehensive loss    10       (10 )    —    
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss    —       (38 )    (38 ) 

Balance, December 31, 2012 $ 4    $ (99 ) $ (95 ) 
Other comprehensive loss    (195 )    28       (167 ) 
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss    (24 )    2       (22 ) 

Balance, December 31, 2013 $ (215 ) $ (69 ) $ (284 ) 
Other comprehensive income    (99 )    (46 )    (145 ) 
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss    35       (2 )    33    

Balance, December 31, 2014 $ (279 ) $ (117 ) $ (396 ) 
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21. Noncontrolling Interest  

Exxaro has a 26% ownership interest in each of our Tronox KZN Sands (Pty) Ltd. and Tronox Mineral Sands (Pty) Ltd. 
subsidiaries in order to comply with the ownership requirements of the BEE legislation in South Africa. Exxaro is entitled to exchange 
this interest for approximately 3.2% in additional Class B Shares under certain circumstances. Exxaro also has a 26% ownership 
interest in certain of our other non-operating subsidiaries. We account for such ownership interest as “Noncontrolling interest” in our 
consolidated financial statements.  

Noncontrolling interest activity was as follows:  

22. Share-based Compensation  

Share-based compensation expense, which is recorded in both “Cost of goods sold” and “Selling, general and administrative 
expenses” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, consisted of the following:  

Tronox Limited Management Equity Incentive Plan  

On June 15, 2012, we adopted the Tronox Limited Management Equity Incentive Plan (the “MEIP”), which permits the grant of 
awards that are comprised of incentive options, nonqualified options, share appreciation rights, restricted shares, restricted share units, 
performance awards, and other share-based awards, cash payments, and other forms as the compensation committee of the Board in its 
discretion deems appropriate, including any combination of the above. Subject to further adjustment, the maximum number of shares 
which may be the subject of awards (inclusive of incentive options) is 12,781,225 Class A Shares.  

Restricted Shares  

During 2014, we granted restricted shares which vest ratably over a three-year period. These awards are classified as equity 
awards, and are accounted for using the fair value established at the grant date.  

The following table presents a summary of activity for the year ended December 31, 2014:  

    
Balance at January 1, 2012 $ —    
Fair value of noncontrolling interest on the Transaction Date    233    
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest    (1 )  
Effect of exchange rate changes    1    
Balance at December 31, 2012    233    
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest    36    
Effect of exchange rate changes    (70 )  
Balance at December 31, 2013    199    
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest    10    
Effect of exchange rate changes    (31 )  

Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 178    

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  2012  

Restricted shares and restricted share units $ 13    $ 10    $ 29    
Options    7       5       2    
T-Bucks Employee Participation Plan    2       2       1    

Total compensation expense $ 22    $ 17    $ 32    

Number of  
Shares  

Weighted Average  
Grant Date  
Fair Value  

Outstanding, January 1, 2014    1,148,795    $ 20.62    
Granted    38,766       22.17    
Vested    (459,985 )    18.17    
Forfeited    (92,281 )    18.41    

Outstanding, December 31, 2014    635,295    $ 22.82    

Expected to vest, December 31, 2014    633,939    $ 22.83    

87  





TABLE OF CONTENTS  

At December 31, 2014, there was $5 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested restricted shares, 
adjusted for estimated forfeitures, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1 year. The weighted-average 
grant-date fair value of restricted shares granted during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $22.17 per share, 
$21.18 per share and $25.18 per share, respectively. The total fair value of restricted shares that vested during the years ended 
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $8 million, $2 million and $1 million, respectively.  

Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”)  

During 2014 and 2013, we granted RSUs which have time and/or performance conditions. Both the time-based awards and the 
performance-based awards are classified as equity awards. The time-based awards vest ratably over a three-year period, and are valued 
at the weighted average grant date fair value. The performance-based awards cliff vest at the end of the three years. Included in the 
performance-based awards are RSUs for which vesting is determined by a Total Stockholder Return (“TSR”) calculation over the 
applicable measurement period. The TSR metric is considered a market condition for which we use a Monte Carlo simulation to 
determine the grant date fair value.  

The following table presents a summary of activity for the year ended December 31, 2014:  

At December 31, 2014, there was $12 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested RSUs, adjusted for 
estimated forfeitures, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2 years. The weighted-average grant-date 
fair value of restricted share units granted during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $22.37 per share, $21.06 per 
share and $21.10 per share, respectively. The total fair value of RSUs that vested during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 
was $3 million and less than $1 million, respectively. There were no RSUs that vested during the year ended December 31, 2012.  

Options  

During 2014 and 2013, we granted options to purchase Class A Shares, which vest ratably over a three-year period and have a ten-
year term. The following table presents a summary of activity for the year ended December 31, 2014:  

The aggregate intrinsic values in the table represent the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between our share price at the 
indicated dates and the options’ exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money  

Number of  
Shares  

Weighted Average  
Grant Date  
Fair Value  

Outstanding, January 1, 2014    303,324       21.08    
Granted    765,366       22.37    
Vested    (121,941 )    20.79    
Forfeited    (70,973 )    21.97    

Outstanding at December 31, 2014    875,776    $ 22.17    

Expected to vest, December 31, 2014    860,814    $ 22.17    

Number of  
Options  

Weighted  
Average  
Exercise  

Price  

Weighted  
Average  

Remaining  
Contractual  
Life (years)  

Intrinsic 
 

Value  

Outstanding, January 1, 2014    2,094,771    $ 20.63       8.97    $ 7    
Issued    915,988       22.02                    
Exercised    (314,657 )    20.63                    
Forfeited    (135,227 )    20.52                    
Expired    —       —                      

Outstanding, December 31, 2014    2,560,875    $ 21.14       7.88    $  8    

Expected to vest, December 31, 2014    1,763,957    $ 20.92       8.56    $ 6    

Exercisable, December 31, 2014    770,379    $ 21.63       6.30    $ 3    
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options) that would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their in-the-money options at the end of 
the year. The amount will change based on the fair market value of our stock. Total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2014 and 
2013 was $2 million and less than $1 million, respectively. There were no options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2012. 
We issue new shares upon the exercise of options. During 2014, we received $6 million in cash for the exercise of stock options.  

At December 31, 2014, unrecognized compensation expense related to options, adjusted for estimated forfeitures, was $8 million, 
which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2 years.  

During 2014 and 2013, we issued 915,988 and 1,590,438 options, respectively, with a weighted average grant date fair value of 
$8.19 and $6.33, respectively.  

Fair value is determined on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is recognized in earnings on a 
straight-line basis over the employee service period of three years, which is the vesting period. The assumptions used in the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model on the grant date were as follows:  

The fair value is based on the closing price of our Class A Shares on the grant date. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. 
Treasury Strips available with a maturity period consistent with the expected life assumption. The expected dividend yield is based on 
an annual dividend of $1.00 per share. The expected volatility assumption is based on historical price movements of our peer group. 
The expected term is based on the simplified method, which permits use of the midpoint between the average vesting and full term.  

T-Bucks Employee Participation Plan (“T-Bucks EPP”)  

During 2012, we established the T-Bucks EPP for the benefit of certain qualifying employees of our South African subsidiaries. 
We funded the T-Bucks Trust (the “Trust”) with R124 million (approximately $15 million), which was used to acquire Class A Shares. 
Additional contributions may be made in the future at the discretion of the Board. The T-Bucks EPP is classified as an equity-settled 
shared-based payment plan, whereby participants were awarded share units in the Trust, which entitles them to receive Class A Shares 
upon completion of the vesting period on May 31, 2017. Participants are entitled to receive dividends on the shares during the vesting 
period. Forfeited shares are retained by the Trust, and are allocated to future participants. Compensation costs are recognized over the 
vesting period using the straight-line method. During 2012, the Trust purchased 548,234 Class A Shares at $25.79 per share, which was 
the fair value on the date of purchase. The balance at both December 31, 2014 and 2013 was 548,234 shares.  

23. Pension and Other Postretirement Healthcare Benefits  

We sponsor a noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan (qualified) in the United States, a contributory defined benefit 
retirement plan in The Netherlands, a U.S. contributory postretirement healthcare plan, and a South Africa postretirement healthcare 
plan.  

U.S. Plans  

Qualified Retirement Plan — We sponsor a noncontributory qualified defined benefit plan (funded) (the “U.S. Qualified Plan”) in 
accordance with the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) and the Internal Revenue Code. We made 
contributions into funds managed by a third-party, and those funds are held exclusively for the benefit of the plan participants. Benefits 
under the U.S. Qualified Plan were generally calculated based on years of service and final average pay. The U.S. Qualified Plan was 
frozen and closed to new participants on June 1, 2009.  

February 10,  
2014  

June 19,  
2014  

August 15,  
2014  

Number of options granted    910,375       1,155       4,458    
Fair market value and exercise price $ 21.98    $ 27.25    $ 29.68    
Risk-free interest rate    1.88 %    2.07 %    1.86 % 
Expected dividend yield    4.55 %    3.67 %    3.37 % 
Expected volatility    58 %    57 %    57 % 
Maturity (years)    10       10       10    
Expected term (years)    6       6       6    
Per-unit fair value of options granted $ 8.17    $ 10.80    $ 12.00    
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Postretirement Healthcare Plan — We sponsor an unfunded U.S. postretirement healthcare plan. Under the plan, substantially all 
U.S. employees are eligible for postretirement healthcare benefits provided they reach retirement age while working for us. The plan 
provides medical and dental benefits to U.S. retirees and their eligible dependents. During the fourth quarter of 2014, our benefits 
committee approved changes to this plan which includes eliminating the pre-65 retiree medical programs effective January 1, 2015. 
Participants who have retired prior to January 1, 2015 will receive a one-time subsidy aggregating to less than $1 million towards 
medical cost through a health reimbursement arrangement (“HRA”) that we will be establishing for them. Benefits under this plan for 
participants who have not retired by January 1, 2015 have been eliminated. As a result of this action, we recorded a curtailment gain of 
$6 million, which was included in “Other income (expense), net” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, and reduced the 
projected benefit obligation by $16 million. Additionally, this action resulted in a settlement gain of $3 million, which was recorded in 
“Accumulated other comprehensive income” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and which will be recognized when the settlement of 
the one-time subsidy occurs, which is expected in 2015.  

Foreign Plans  

Netherlands Plan — On January 1, 2007, we established the TDF-Botlek Pension Fund Foundation (the “Netherlands Plan”) to 
provide defined pension benefits to qualifying employees of Tronox Pigments (Holland) B.V. and its related companies. The 
Netherlands Plan is a contributory benefit plan under which participants contribute 4% of the costs. Contributions by us and 
participants are held in the fund for the sole benefit of the participants. Benefits are determined by applying the benefit formula to the 
pensionable salary, and are payable to participants upon retirement. Under The Netherlands Plan, a participant’s surviving spouse and 
children are entitled to benefits subject to certain benefit thresholds. During the fourth quarter of 2014, in response to the tax and 
pension legislation changes in The Netherlands, our benefit committee approved changes to The Netherlands plan which includes 
moving the plan from a defined benefit plan to a multi-employer plan to be administered by the industrywide Pension Fund for the 
Graphical Industry (“PGB”), effective January 1, 2015. This action will end future benefit accrual for participants under the current 
plan effective January 1, 2015, resulting in a curtailment gain of $3 million which was recognized in “Other income (expense), net” in 
the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Such amounts had previously been recognized as unamortized prior service costs in 
“Accumulated other comprehensive income” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The changes also resulted in a reduction of the 
projected benefit obligation by $27 million, which was recognized in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets.  

South Africa Postretirement Healthcare Plan — As part of the Transaction, we established a post-employment healthcare plan, 
which provides medical and dental benefits to certain Namakwa Sands employees, retired employees and their registered dependents 
(the “South African Plan”). The South African Plan provides benefits as follows: (i) members employed before March 1, 1994 receive 
100% post-retirement and death-in-service benefits; (ii) members employed on or after March 1, 1994 but before January 1, 2002 
receive 2% per year of completed service subject to a maximum of 50% post-retirement and death-in-service benefits; and, (iii) 
members employed on or after January 1, 2002 receive no post-retirement and death-in-service benefits.  
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Benefit Obligations and Funded Status — The following provides a reconciliation of beginning and ending benefit obligations, 
beginning and ending plan assets, funded status, and balance sheet classification of our pension and postretirement healthcare plans as 
of and for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. The benefit obligations and plan assets associated with our principal benefit 
plans are measured on December 31.  

At December 31, 2014, our U.S. qualified retirement plan was in an underfunded status of $149 million. As a result, we have a 
projected minimum funding requirement of $15 million for 2014, which will be payable in 2015.  

Retirement Plans  Postretirement Healthcare Plans  

Year Ended December  Year Ended December  
2014  2013  2014  2013  

Change in benefit obligations:                                  
Benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 524    $ 557    $ 23    $ 19    

Service cost    4       5       1       1    
Interest cost    21       20       1       1    
Net actuarial (gains) losses    113       (31 )     1       4    
Foreign currency rate changes    (19 )     6       (1 )     (1 )  
Contributions by plan participants    1       1       —       —    
Curtailment    (27 )     —       (13 )     —    
Settlement    —       —       (3 )     —    
Plan amendments    —       (4 )     —       —    
Benefits paid    (33 )     (27 )     (1 )     (1 )  
Administrative expenses    (3 )     (3 )     —       —    

Benefit obligation, end of year    581       524       8       23    
Change in plan assets:                                  
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year    398       398       —       —    

Actual return on plan assets    53       19       —       —    
Employer contributions (1)    17       5       1       1    
Participant contributions    1       1       —       —    
Foreign currency rate changes    (16 )     5       —       —    
Benefits paid (1)    (33 )     (27 )     (1 )     (1 )  
Administrative expenses    (3 )     (3 )     —       —    

Fair value of plan assets, end of year    417       398       —       —    

Net over (under) funded status of plans $ (164 )  $ (126 )  $ (8 )  $ (23 )  
Classification of amounts recognized in the 

Consolidated Balance Sheets:                                  
Accrued liabilities $ —    $ —    $ —    $ (1 )  
Pension and postretirement healthcare benefits    (164 )     (126 )     (8 )     (22 )  

Total liabilities    (164 )     (126 )     (8 )     (23 )  
Accumulated other comprehensive (income) loss    117       60       (2 )     9    

Total $ (47 )  $ (66 )  $ (10 )  $ (14 )  

(1) We expect 2015 contributions to be $15 million for the U.S. qualified retirement plan. 

December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013  

U.S.  
Qualified  

Plan  

The Netherlands  
Retirement  

Plan  

U.S.  
Qualified  

Plan  

The Netherlands  
Retirement  

Plan  

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 429    $ 152    $ 378    $ 127    
Projected benefit obligation    (429 )     (152 )     (378 )     (146 )  
Fair value of plan assets    280       137       272       126    

Funded status — underfunded $ (149 )  $ (15 )  $ (106 )  $ (20 )  
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Expected Benefit Payments — The following table shows the expected cash benefit payments for the next five years and in the 
aggregate for the years 2020 through 2024:  

Retirement and Postretirement Healthcare Expense — The table below presents the components of net periodic cost (income) 
associated with the U.S. and foreign plans recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 
2014, 2013, and 2012:  

Pretax amounts that are expected to be reclassified from “Accumulated other comprehensive income” in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets to retirement expense during 2015 related to unrecognized actuarial losses are $3 million for the U.S. retirement plans and 
unrecognized settlement gain of $3 million for postretirement healthcare plans.  

Assumptions — The following weighted average assumptions were used to determine net periodic cost:  

The following weighted average assumptions were used in estimating the actuarial present value of the plans’ benefit obligations:  

During 2014, the Society of Actuaries issued an updated mortality table and improvement scale that suggests significant mortality 
improvement over the prior table. We concluded that the updated table represents our best estimate of mortality. This change in 
assumption resulted in an increase in our projected benefit obligation of $36 million.  

2015  2016  2017  2018  2019  
2020-  
2024  

Retirement Plans (1) $  32    $  32    $  31    $  30    $  31    $  155    
Postretirement Healthcare Plan $  —    $  —    $  —    $  —    $  —    $  2    

(1) Includes benefit payments expected to be paid from the U.S. qualified retirement plan of $30 million in 2015, $29 million in 2016, $28 million in 2017, $27 million in 
2018 $27 million in 2019, and $133 million in the aggregate for the period 2020 through 2024. 

Retirement Plans  Postretirement Healthcare Plans  

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31, 
2014  2013  2012  2014  2013  2012  

Net periodic cost:                                                  
Service cost $ 4    $ 5    $ 3    $ 1    $ 1    $ 1    
Interest cost    21       20       22       1       1       1    
Expected return on plan assets    (23 )    (20 )    (21 )    —       —       —    
Net amortization of actuarial loss    1       2       —       1       —       —    
Curtailment gains    (3 )    —       —       (6 )    —       —    

Total net periodic cost (income) $ —    $ 7    $ 4    $ (3 ) $ 2    $ 2    

2014  2013  2012  

United  
States  Netherlands  

United  
States  Netherlands  

United  
States  Netherlands  

Discount rate (1)    4.50 %    3.50 %    3.75 %    3.50 %    4.50 %    5.25 % 
Expected return on plan assets    6.50 %    4.75 %    5.30 %    4.75 %    5.75 %    5.25 % 
Rate of compensation increases    —       3.25 %    —       3.50 %    —       3.50 % 

2014  2013  2012  
United  
States  Netherlands  

United  
States  Netherlands  

United  
States  Netherlands  

Discount rate    3.75 %    2.25 %    4.50 %    3.50 %    3.75 %    3.50 % 
Rate of compensation increases    —       —       —       3.25 %    —       3.50 % 
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The following weighted-average assumptions were used in determining the actuarial present value of the South African Postretirement 
Healthcare Plan:  

Expected Return on Plan Assets — In forming the assumption of the U.S. long-term rate of return on plan assets, we took into 
account the expected earnings on funds already invested, earnings on contributions expected to be received in the current year, and 
earnings on reinvested returns. The long-term rate of return estimation methodology for U.S. plans is based on a capital asset pricing 
model using historical data and a forecasted earnings model. An expected return on plan assets analysis is performed which 
incorporates the current portfolio allocation, historical asset-class returns, and an assessment of expected future performance using 
asset-class risk factors. Our assumption of the long-term rate of return for The Netherlands plan was developed considering the 
portfolio mix and country-specific economic data that includes the rates of return on local government and corporate bonds.  

Discount Rate — The discount rates selected for estimation of the actuarial present value of the benefit obligations for both U.S. 
plans were 3.75% and 4.50% as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The 2014 and 2013 rates were selected based on the 
results of a cash flow matching analysis, which projected the expected cash flows of the plans using a yield curves model developed 
from a universe of Aa-graded U.S. currency corporate bonds (obtained from Bloomberg) with at least $50 million outstanding. Bonds 
with features that imply unreliable pricing, a less than certain cash flow, or other indicators of optionality are filtered out of the 
universe. The remaining universe is categorized into maturity groups, and within each of the maturity groups yields are ranked into 
percentiles.  

Plan Assets — Asset categories and associated asset allocations for our funded retirement plans at December 31, 2014 and 2013:  

The U.S. plan is administered by a board-appointed committee that has fiduciary responsibility for the plan’s management. The 
committee maintains an investment policy stating the guidelines for the performance and allocation of plan assets, performance review 
procedures and updating of the policy. At least annually, the U.S. plan’s asset allocation guidelines are reviewed in light of evolving 
risk and return expectations.  

Substantially all of the plan’s assets are invested with nine equity fund managers, three fixed-income fund managers and one 
money-market fund manager. To control risk, equity fund managers are prohibited from entering into the following transactions, (i) 
investing in commodities, including all futures contracts, (ii) purchasing letter stock, (iii) short selling, and (iv) option trading. In 
addition, equity fund managers are prohibited from purchasing on margin and are prohibited from purchasing Tronox securities. Equity 
managers are monitored to ensure investments are in line with their style and are generally permitted to invest in U.S. common stock, 
U.S. preferred stock, U.S. securities convertible into common stock, common stock of foreign companies listed on major U.S. 
exchanges, common stock of foreign companies listed on foreign exchanges, covered call writing, and cash and cash equivalents.  

2014  2013  2012  

Discount rate    9.16 %    10.14 %    9.45 % 

December 31,  

2014  2013  
Actual  Target  Actual  Target  

United States:                                  
Equity securities    37 %    38 %    38 %    38 % 
Debt securities    62       62       61       62    
Cash and cash equivalents    1       —       1       —    

Total    100 %    100 %    100 %    100 % 
                                

Netherlands:                                  
Equity securities    35 %    35 %    36 %    35 % 
Debt securities    63       62       55       62    
Cash and cash equivalents    2       3       9       3    

Total    100 %    100 %    100 %    100 % 

93  



TABLE OF CONTENTS  

Fixed-income fund managers are prohibited from investing in (i) direct real estate mortgages or commingled real estate funds, (ii) 
private placements above certain portfolio thresholds, (iii) tax exempt debt of state and local governments above certain portfolio 
thresholds, (iv) fixed income derivatives that would cause leverage, (v) guaranteed investment contracts, and (vi) Tronox securities. 
They are permitted to invest in debt securities issued by the U.S. government, its agencies or instrumentalities, commercial paper rated 
A3/P3, FDIC insured certificates of deposit or bankers’ acceptances and corporate debt obligations. Each fund manager’s portfolio has 
an average credit rating of A or better.  

The Netherlands plan is administered by a pension committee representing the employer, the employees, and the pensioners. The 
pension committee has six members, whereby three members are elected by the employer, two members are elected by the employees 
and one member is elected by the pensioners, and each member has one vote. The pension committee meets at least quarterly to discuss 
regulatory changes, asset performance, and asset allocation. The plan assets are managed by one Dutch fund manager against a mandate 
set at least annually by the pension committee. In accordance with policies set by the pension committee, a new fund manager was 
appointed effective December 1, 2006. Simultaneous with the change in fund manager, the asset allocation was modified using 
committee policy guidelines. The plan assets are evaluated annually by a multinational benefits consultant against state defined 
actuarial tests to determine funding requirements.  

The fair values of pension investments as of December 31, 2014 are summarized below:  

U.S. Pension  

Fair Value Measurement at December 31, 2014, Using:  

Quoted Prices  
in Active  

Markets for  
Identical Assets  

(Level 1)  

Significant  
Other  

Observable  
Inputs  

(Level 2)  

Significant  
Unobservable  

Inputs  
(Level 3)  Total  

Asset category:                                  
Commingled Equity Funds $   —    $ 104 (1) $   —    $ 104    
Debt securities                                  

Commingled Fixed Income Funds    —       172 (2)    —       172    
Cash & cash equivalents                                  

Commingled Cash Equivalents Fund    —       4 (3)    —       4    

Total at fair value $      $ 280    $ —    $ 280    

(1) For commingled equity funds owned by the funds, fair value is based on observable inputs of comparable market transactions, which are Level 2 inputs. 

(2) For commingled fixed income funds, fair value is based on observable inputs of comparable market transactions, which are Level 2 inputs. 

(3) For commingled cash equivalents funds, fair value is based on observable inputs of comparable market transactions, which are Level 2 inputs. 

Netherlands Pension  

Fair Value Measurement at December 31, 2014, Using:  

Quoted Prices  
in Active  

Markets for  
Identical Assets  

(Level 1)  

Significant  
Other  

Observable  
Inputs  

(Level 2)  

Significant  
Unobservable  

Inputs  
(Level 3)  Total  

Asset category:                                  
Equity securities — Non-U.S. Pooled Funds $   —    $ 36 (1) $   —    $ 36    
Debt securities — Non-U.S. Pooled Funds    —       86 (2)    —       86    
Real Estate Pooled Funds    —       15 (3)    —       15    

Total at fair value $ —    $ 137    $ —    $ 137    

(1) For equity securities in the form of fund units that are redeemable at the measurement date, the unit value is deemed a Level 2 input. 

(2) For pooled fund debt securities, the fair value is based on observable inputs, but do not solely rely on quoted market prices, and therefore are deemed Level 2 inputs. 

(3) For real estate pooled funds, the fair value is based on observable inputs, but do not solely rely on quoted market prices, and therefore are deemed Level 2 inputs. 
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The fair values of pension investments as of December 31, 2013 are summarized below:  

Defined Contribution Plans  

U.S. Savings Investment Plan  

In 2006, we established the U.S. Savings Investment Plan (the “SIP”), a qualified defined contribution plan under section 401(k) 
of the Internal Revenue Code. Under the SIP, our regular full-time and part-time employees contribute a portion of their earnings, and 
we match these contributions up to a predefined threshold. During 2014 and 2013, our matching contribution was 100% of the first 6% 
of employee contributions. During 2012, our matching contribution was 100% of the first 3% of employees’ contribution and 50% of 
the next 3%. The  

U.S. Pension  

Fair Value Measurement at December 31, 2013, Using:  

Quoted Prices  
in Active  

Markets for  
Identical Assets  

(Level 1)  

Significant  
Other  

Observable  
Inputs  

(Level 2)  

Significant  
Unobservable  

Inputs  
(Level 3)  Total  

Asset category:                                  
Commingled Equity Funds $ —    $ 104 (1) $   —    $ 104    
Debt securities                                  

Corporate    —       3 (5)    —       3    
Government    10 (4)    1 (5)    —       11    
Mortgages    —       10 (5)    —       10    
Commingled Fixed Income Funds    —       141 (2)    —       141    

Cash & cash equivalents                                  
Commingled Cash Equivalents Fund    —       3 (3)    —       3    

Total at fair value $ 10    $ 262    $ —    $ 272    

(1) For commingled equity funds owned by the funds, fair value is based on observable inputs of comparable market transactions, which are Level 2 inputs. 

(2) For commingled fixed income funds, fair value is based on observable inputs of comparable market transactions, which are Level 2 inputs. 

(3) For commingled cash equivalents funds, fair value is based on observable inputs of comparable market transactions, which are Level 2 inputs. 

(4) For government debt securities that are traded on active exchanges, fair value is based on observable quoted prices, which are Level 1 inputs. 

(5) For corporate, government, and mortgage related debt securities, fair value is based on observable inputs of comparable market transactions, which are Level 2 inputs. 

Netherlands Pension  

Fair Value Measurement at December 31, 2013, Using:  

Quoted Prices  
in Active  

Markets for  
Identical Assets  

(Level 1)  

Significant  
Other  

Observable  
Inputs  

(Level 2)  

Significant  
Unobservable  

Inputs  
(Level 3)  Total  

Asset category:                                  
Equity securities — Non-U.S. Pooled Funds $   —    $ 48 (1) $   —    $ 48    
Debt securities — Non-U.S. Pooled Funds    —       70 (2)    —       70    
Cash    —       8       —       8    

Total at fair value $ —    $ 126    $ —    $ 126    

(1) For equity securities in the form of fund units that are redeemable at the measurement date, the unit value is deemed as a Level 2 input. 

(2) For pooled fund debt securities, the fair value is based on observable inputs, but do not solely rely on quoted market prices, and therefore are deemed Level 2 inputs. 
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Board has approved an additional company discretionary contribution of 6% of pay for 2014 and 2013. During 2012, the discretionary 
contribution was 7.5% of pay. The discretionary contribution is subject to approval each year by the Board. Our matching contribution 
to the SIP vests immediately; however, our discretionary contribution is subject to vesting conditions that must be satisfied over a three 
year vesting period. Contributions under SIP, including our match, are invested in accordance with the investment options elected by 
plan participants. Compensation expense associated with our matching contribution to the SIP was $4 million, $3 million, and $2 
million during 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively, which was included in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Compensation expense associated with our discretionary contribution was $4 million, $4 
million, and $4 million during 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively, which was included in “Selling, general and administrative 
expenses” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

U.S. Savings Restoration Plan  

In 2006, we established the U.S. Savings Restoration Plan (the “SRP”), a nonqualified defined contribution plan, for employees 
whose eligible compensation is expected to exceed the IRS compensation limits for qualified plans. Under the SRP, participants can 
contribute up to 20% of their annual compensation and incentive. Our matching contribution under the SRP is the same as the SIP. Our 
matching contribution under this plan vests immediately to plan participants. Contributions under the SRP, including our match, are 
invested in accordance with the investment options elected by plan participants. Compensation expense associated with our matching 
contribution to the SRP was $1 million, less than $1 million, and $1 million during 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively, which was 
included in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

24. Related Party Transactions  

Prior to the Transaction Date, Tronox Incorporated conducted transactions with Exxaro Australia Sands Pty Ltd, Tronox 
Incorporated’s 50% partner in the Tiwest Joint Venture. Tronox Incorporated purchased, at open market prices, raw materials used in 
its production of TiO 2 , as well as Exxaro Australia Sands Pty Ltd’s share of TiO 2 produced by the Tiwest Joint Venture. Tronox 
Incorporated also provided administrative services and product research and development activities, which were reimbursed by Exxaro. 
During 2012, Tronox Incorporated made payments of $173 million and received payments of $9 million. Subsequent to the Transaction 
Date, such transactions are considered intercompany transactions and are eliminated in consolidation.  

We have service level agreements with Exxaro for services such as tax preparation and research and development, both of which 
expire during 2015, as well as information technology services, which expired during 2014. Such service level agreements amounted to 
$3 million, $5 million and $7 million of expense during 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Additionally, we have a professional 
service agreement with Exxaro related to the Fairbreeze construction project. During 2014 and 2013, we paid $3 million and $3 million, 
respectively, to Exxaro, which was capitalized in “Property, plant and equipment, net” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

25. Segment Information  

The reportable segments presented below represent our operating segments for which separate financial information is available 
and which is utilized on a regular basis by our chief operating decision maker to assess performance and to allocate resources. In 
identifying our reportable segments, we also considered the nature of services provided by our operating segments. We have two 
reportable segments, Mineral Sands and Pigment. Our Mineral Sands segment includes the exploration, mining, and beneficiation of 
mineral sands deposits, as well as heavy mineral production, and produces titanium feedstock, including chloride slag, slag fines, and 
rutile, as well as pig iron and zircon. Our Pigment segment primarily produces and markets TiO 2 . Corporate and Other is comprised of 
our electrolytic operations, all of which are located in the United States, as well as our corporate activities.  

Segment performance is evaluated based on segment operating profit (loss), which represents the results of segment operations 
before unallocated costs, such as general corporate expenses not identified to a specific segment, interest expense, other income 
(expense), and income tax expense or benefit. Sales between segments are generally priced at market. Any resulting profit remaining in 
the inventory of the acquiring segment is eliminated in consolidation.  

96  



TABLE OF CONTENTS  

Net sales and income from operations by segment were as follows:  

During 2014, our ten largest pigment customers and our ten largest third-party mineral sands customers represented 27% and 13%, 
respectively, of net sales; however, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of total net sales.  

Depreciation, amortization and depletion by segment was as follows:  

Capital expenditures by segment were as follows:  

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  2012  

Mineral Sands segment $ 794    $ 1,103    $ 760    
Pigment segment    1,179       1,169       1,246    
Corporate and Other    113       128       128    
Eliminations    (349 )    (478 )    (302 ) 

Net sales (1) $ 1,737    $ 1,922    $ 1,832    
Mineral Sands segment $ 1    $ 238    $ 156    
Pigment segment    49       (179 )    57    
Corporate and Other    (83 )    (70 )    (139 ) 
Eliminations    33       14       (49 ) 

Income from operations    —       3       25    
Interest and debt expense, net    (133 )    (130 )    (65 ) 
Net gain (loss) on liquidation of non-operating subsidiaries    (35 )    24       —    
Loss on extinguishment of debt    (8 )    (4 )    —    
Gain on bargain purchase    —       —       1,055    
Other income (expense), net    27       46       (7 ) 

Income (loss) before income taxes $ (149 ) $ (61 ) $ 1,008    

(1) Net sales to external customers, by geographic region, based on country of production, were as follows: 

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  2012  

U.S. operations $ 749    $ 793    $ 843    
International operations:                          

Australia    426       424       443    
The Netherlands    233       224       248    
South Africa    329       481       298    

Total $ 1,737    $ 1,922    $ 1,832    

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  2012  

Mineral Sands segment $ 204    $ 234    $ 125    
Pigment segment    78       83       71    
Corporate and Other    13       16       15    

Total $ 295    $ 333    $ 211    

Year Ended December 31,  

2014  2013  2012  

Mineral Sands segment $ 127    $ 102    $ 96    
Pigment segment    48       48       39    
Corporate and Other    12       15       31    

Total $ 187    $ 165    $ 166    
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Total assets by segment were as follows:  

Property, plant and equipment, net and mineral leaseholds, net, by geographic region, were as follows:  

26. Acquisition of the Mineral Sands Business  

On September 25, 2011, Tronox Incorporated entered into the Transaction Agreement with Exxaro to acquire 74% of Exxaro’s 
South African mineral sands operations, including its Namakwa and KZN Sands mines, separation and slag furnaces, along with its 
50% share of the Tiwest Joint Venture in Western Australia (together the “mineral sands business”). On June 15, 2012, the existing 
business of Tronox Incorporated was combined with the mineral sands business in an integrated series of transactions whereby Tronox 
Limited became the parent company in a tax inversion transaction. We accounted for the Transaction under ASC 805, Business 
Combinations , which requires recording assets and liabilities at fair value. Under the acquisition method of accounting, each tangible 
and separately identifiable intangible asset acquired and liability assumed was recorded based on their preliminary estimated fair values 
on the Transaction Date.  

Because the total consideration transferred was less than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the excess of the fair value of the 
net assets acquired over the value of consideration was recorded as a bargain purchase gain. The valuations were derived from fair 
value assessments and assumptions used by management. The measurement period ended in June 2013. The bargain purchase gain was 
not taxable for income tax purposes. See Note 7.  

December 31,  

2014  2013  

Mineral Sands segment $ 2,624    $ 2,957    
Pigment segment    1,184       1,559    
Corporate and Other    1,268       1,227    
Eliminations    (11 )    (44 ) 

Total $ 5,065    $ 5,699    

December 31,  

2014  2013  

U.S. operations $ 211    $ 203    
International operations:                  

South Africa    941       1,008    
Australia    1,083       1,208    
The Netherlands    50       55    

Total $ 2,285    $ 2,474    
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Valuation  

Consideration:          
Number of Class B Shares (1)    9,950,856    
Fair value of Class B Shares on the Transaction Date    137.70    
Fair value of equity issued (2)    1,370    
Cash paid    1    
Noncontrolling interest (3)    233    

$ 1,604    
Fair Value of Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed:          
Current Assets:          

Cash and cash equivalents $ 115    
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts    196    
Inventories    553    
Prepaid and other assets    20    

Total Current Assets    884    
Noncurrent Assets:          

Property, plant and equipment, net (4)    880    
Mineral leaseholds, net (5)    1,457    
Intangibles, net (4)    12    
Long-term deferred tax asset    30    
Other long-term assets, net    19    

Total Assets $ 3,282    
Current Liabilities:          

Accounts payable    110    
Accrued liabilities    25    
Unfavorable contracts (6)    85    
Short-term debt    75    
Deferred tax liabilities    14    
Income taxes payable    2    

Total Current Liabilities    311    
Noncurrent Liabilities:          

Long-term debt    19    
Long-term deferred tax liability    209    
Asset retirement obligations    57    
Other long-term liabilities    27    

Total Liabilities    623    
Net Assets $ 2,659    

Gain on Bargain Purchase $ 1,055    

(1) The number of Class B Shares issued in connection with the Transaction has not been restated to affect for the 5-for-1 share split as discussed in Note 20. 

(2) The fair value of the Class B shares issued was determined based the closing market price of Tronox Incorporated’s common shares on June 14 , 2012, less a 15% 
discount for marketability due to a restriction that the shares cannot be sold for a period of at least three years following the Transaction Date. 

(3) The fair value of the noncontrolling interest is based upon a structured arrangement with Tronox Limited, which allows the ownership interest to be exchanged for 
approximately 1.45 million additional Class B shares on the earlier of the 10 year anniversary of the Transaction Date or the date when the South African Department of 
Mineral Resources determines that ownership is no longer required under the BEE legislation. 

(4) The fair value of property, plant and equipment and internal use software was determined using the cost approach, which estimates the replacement cost of each asset 
using current prices and labor costs, less estimates for physical, functional and technological obsolescence. 

(5) The fair value of mineral rights was determined using the Discounted Cash Flow method, which was based upon the present value of the estimated future cash flows for 
the expected life of the asset taking into account the relative risk of achieving those cash flows and the time value of money. Discount rates of 17% for South Africa and 
15.5% for Australia were used taking into account the risks associated with such assets, as well as the economic and political environment where each asset is located. 

(6) The fair value of unfavorable contracts was determined by multiplying the committed tonnage in each contract by the difference between the committed prices in the 
contract versus the estimated market price over the term of the contract. 
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27. Guarantor Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements  

The obligations of Tronox Finance LLC, our wholly owned subsidiary, under the Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally 
(subject to certain customary circumstances providing for the release of a guarantor subsidiary) guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis, 
jointly and severally, by Tronox Limited (referred to for purposes of this note only as the “Parent Company”) and each of its current 
and future restricted subsidiaries, other than excluded subsidiaries, that guarantee any indebtedness of the Parent Company or its 
restricted subsidiaries (collectively, the “Guarantor Subsidiaries”). The Subsidiary Issuer, Tronox Finance LLC, and each of the 
Guarantor Subsidiaries are 100% owned, directly or indirectly, by the Parent Company. Our subsidiaries that do not guarantee the 
Senior Notes are referred to as the “Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries.” The guarantor condensed consolidating financial statements 
presented below presents the statements of operations, statements of comprehensive income (loss), balance sheets and statements of 
cash flow data for: (i) the Parent Company, the Guarantor Subsidiaries, the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries, and the subsidiary issuer, on a 
consolidated basis (which is derived from Tronox historical reported financial information); (ii) the Parent Company, alone (accounting 
for our Guarantor Subsidiaries, the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries, and Tronox Finance LLC on an equity basis under which the 
investments are recorded by each entity owning a portion of another entity at cost, adjusted for the applicable share of the subsidiary’s 
cumulative results of operations, capital contributions and distributions, and other equity changes); (iii) the Guarantor Subsidiaries 
alone; (iv) the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries alone; and (v) the subsidiary issuer, Tronox Finance LLC.  

The guarantor condensed consolidating financial statements are presented on a legal entity basis, not on a business segment basis. 
The indenture governing the Senior Notes provides for a Guarantor Subsidiary to be automatically and unconditionally released and 
discharged from its guarantee obligations in certain customary circumstances, including:  

• Sale or other disposition of such Guarantor Subsidiary’s capital stock or all or substantially all of its assets and all of the 
indenture obligations (other than contingent obligations) of such Subsidiary Guarantor in respect of all other indebtedness of 
the Subsidiary Guarantors terminate upon the consummation of such transaction; 

• Designation of such Guarantor Subsidiary as an “unrestricted subsidiary”  under the indenture; 

• In the case of certain Guarantor Subsidiaries that incur or guarantee indebtedness under certain credit facilities, upon the 
release or discharge of such Guarantor Subsidiary’s guarantee or incurrence of indebtedness that resulted in the creation of 
such guarantee, except a discharge or release as a result of payment under such guarantee; 

• Legal defeasance, covenant defeasance, or satisfaction and discharge of the indenture obligations; 

• Payment in full of the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Senior Notes and all other obligations under the 
indenture; or 

• Release or discharge of the Guarantor Subsidiary’s guarantee of certain other indebtedness.  
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GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPE RATIONS  
Year Ended December 31, 2014  

(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)  

Year Ended December 31, 2014  
(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Tronox  

Finance LLC  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Net sales $ 1,737    $  (222 )  $  —    $ —    $  1,235    $  724    
Cost of goods sold    (1,530 )    237       —       —       (1,112 )     (655 )  
Gross profit    207       15       —       —       123       69    
Selling, general and administrative  

expenses    (192 )    15       —       (13 )    (140 )     (54 )  
Restructuring expense    (15 )    —       —       —       (6 )     (9 )  
Income (loss) from operations    —       30       —       (13 )    (23 )     6    
Interest and debt expense, net    (133 )    —       (59 )     —       (4 )     (70 )  
Intercompany interest income (expense)    —       —       —       546       (578 )     32    
Net loss on liquidation of non-operating subsidiaries    (35 )    —       —       —       (33 )     (2 )  
Loss on extinguishment of debt    (8 )    —       —       —       (2 )     (6 )  
Other income (expense)    27       53       —       1       (36 )     9    
Equity in earnings of subsidiary    —       753       —       (706 )    (47 )     —    
Income (loss) before income taxes    (149 )    836       (59 )     (172 )    (723 )     (31 )  
Income tax benefit (provision)    (268 )    —       18       (255 )    22       (53 )  
Net income (loss)    (417 )    836       (41 )     (427 )    (701 )     (84 )  
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest    10       10       —       —       —       —    

Net income (loss) attributable to Tronox Limited $ (427 ) $  826    $  (41 )  $ (427 ) $  (701 )  $  (84 )  

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Tronox  

Finance LLC  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Net income (loss) $ (417 ) $  836    $  (41 )  $ (427 ) $  (701 )  $  (84 )  
Other comprehensive income (loss):                                                  
Foreign currency translation adjustments    (95 )    217       —       (95 )    (85 )     (132 )  
Pension and postretirement plans    (48 )    50       —       (48 )    (47 )     (3 )  
Other comprehensive income (loss)    (143 )    267       —       (143 )    (132 )     (135 )  
Total comprehensive income (loss)    (560 )    1,103       (41 )     (570 )    (833 )     (219 )  
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to 

noncontrolling interest:                                                  
Net income    10       10       —       —       —       —    
Foreign currency translation adjustments    (31 )    —       —       (31 )    —       —    
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to 

noncontrolling interest    (21 )    10       —       (31 )    —       —    
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to 

Tronox Limited $ (539 ) $  1,093    $  (41 )  $ (539 ) $  (833 )  $  (219 )  
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GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS  
As of December 31, 2014  
(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Tronox  

Finance LLC  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

ASSETS                                                  
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,279    $  —    $  —    $ 283    $  173    $  823    
Inventories, net    770       (13 )     —       —       448       335    
Other current assets    332       (2,273 )     35       973       883       714    
Investment in subsidiaries    —       2,921       —       (3,961 )    1,040       —    
Property, plant and equipment, net    1,227       —       —       —       696       531    
Mineral leaseholds, net    1,058       —       —       —       599       459    
Intercompany loans receivable    —       (7,149 )     773       5,937       111       328    
Other long-term assets    399       —       23       (1 )    331       46    

Total assets $ 5,065    $  (6,514 )  $  831    $ 3,231    $  4,281    $  3,236    
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY                                                  
Total current liabilities $ 366    $  (2,272 )  $  22    $ 846    $  1,515    $  255    
Long-term debt    2,375       —       898       —       —       1,477    
Intercompany loans payable    —       (7,149 )     9       774       6,257       109    
Other long-term liabilities    536       —       —       1       284       251    

Total liabilities    3,277       (9,421 )     929       1,621       8,056       2,092    
Total equity    1,788       2,907       (98 )     1,610       (3,775 )     1,144    

Total liabilities and equity $ 5,065    $  (6,514 )  $  831    $ 3,231    $  4,281    $  3,236    
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GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CAS H FLOWS  
Year Ended December 31, 2014  

(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

We revised each of our guarantor condensed consolidating financial statements as of “December 31, 2013 and for the two years 
then ended” regarding the presentation of intercompany activities between the Parent Company, the Guarantor Subsidiaries, the Non-
Guarantor Subsidiaries, and the subsidiary issuer. These revisions, which we determined are not material to our prior year condensed 
financial statements or consolidated financial statements based on quantitative and qualitative considerations, did not affect our 
consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations or consolidated cash flows. The revisions were as follows:  

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Tronox  

Finance LLC  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:                                                  
Net income (loss) $ (417 ) $  836    $  (41 )  $ (427 ) $  (701 )  $  (84 )  
Depreciation, depletion and amortization    295       —       —       —       217       78    
Other    263       (836 )     (10 )     692       362       55    
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities    141       —       (51 )     265       (122 )     49    
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:          
Capital expenditures    (187 )    —       —       —       (76 )     (111 )  
Collections of intercompany debt    —       (51 )     51       —       —       —    
Cash used in investing activities    (187 )    (51 )     51       —       (76 )     (111 )  
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:          
Repayments of debt    (20 )    —       —       —       (3 )     (17 )  
Repayments of intercompany debt    —       51       —       (51 )    —       —    
Debt issuance costs    (2 )    —       —       —       —       (2 )  
Dividends paid    (116 )    —       —       (116 )    —       —    
Proceeds from the exercise of warrants and options    6       —       —       6       —       —    
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities    (132 )    51       —       (161 )    (3 )     (19 )  
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and 

cash equivalents    (21 )    —       —       —       —       (21 )  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents    (199 )    —       —       104       (201 )     (102 )  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period $ 1,478    $  —    $  —    $ 179    $  374    $  925    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 1,279    $  —    $  —    $ 283    $  173    $  823    

• The condensed consolidating financial statements previously issued were not prepared under the equity method of 
accounting. In accordance with Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X, we have properly prepared our revised condensed consolidating 
financial statements under the equity method of accounting. 

• In the condensed consolidating financial statements previously issued, Tronox Finance LLC, the subsidiary issuer, was 
included in the “Parent Company” column. In the revised condensed consolidating financial statements, we have properly 
included Tronox Finance LLC in a separate column. 

• Two subsidiaries which were incorrectly classified as “Guarantor Subsidiaries” have been reclassified to “Non-Guarantor 
Subsidiaries”  in the revised condensed consolidating financial statements. 

• Certain financial statement line items have been expanded and reclassifications were made to enhance transparency. 
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REVISED GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT S OF OPERATIONS  
Year Ended December 31, 2013  

(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

AS PREVIOUSLY FILED  
GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPE RATIONS  

Year Ended December 31, 2013  
(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Tronox  

Finance LLC  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Net sales $ 1,922    $  (292 )  $  —    $ —    $  1,315    $  899    
Cost of goods sold    1,732       (282 )     —       —       1,242       772    
Gross profit    190       (10 )     —       —       73       127    
Selling, general and administrative  

expenses    (187 )    21       —       (34 )    (113 )     (61 )  
Income (loss) from operations    3       11       —       (34 )    (40 )     66    
Interest and debt expense, net    (130 )    —       (59 )     —       (6 )     (65 )  
Intercompany interest income (expense)    —       —       —       546       (577 )     31    
Net gain (loss) on liquidation of non-operating 

subsidiary    24       —       —       —       (23 )     47    
Loss on extinguishment of debt    (4 )    —       —       —       (3 )     (1 )  
Other income (expense)    46       1       —       1       (17 )     61    
Equity in earnings of subsidiary    —       342       —       (473 )    131       —    
Income (loss) before income taxes    (61 )    354       (59 )     40       (535 )     139    
Income tax benefit (provision)    (29 )    —       18       (166 )    153       (34 )  
Net income (loss)    (90 )    354       (41 )     (126 )    (382 )     105    
Income attributable to noncontrolling interest    36       36       —       —       —       —    

Net income (loss) attributable to Tronox Limited $ (126 ) $  318    $  (41 )  $ (126 ) $  (382 )  $  105    

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Net sales $ 1,922    $ (330 )  $ —    $ 1,297    $ 955    
Cost of goods sold    1,732       (337 )     —       1,242       827    
Gross profit    190       7       —       55       128    
Selling, general and administrative expenses    (187 )    4       (34 )    (113 )    (44 ) 
Income (loss) from operations    3       11       (34 )    (58 )    84    
Interest and debt expense, net    (130 )    —       547       (644 )    (33 ) 
Other income (expense)    66       (43 )     1       (14 )    122    
Equity in earnings of subsidiary    —       473       (473 )    —       —    
Income (loss) before income taxes    (61 )    441       41       (716 )    173    
Income tax benefit (provision)    (29 )    —       (166 )    168       (31 ) 
Net income (loss)    (90 )    441       (125 )    (548 )    142    
Income attributable to noncontrolling interest    36       —       —       36       —    

Net income (loss) attributable to Tronox Limited $ (126 ) $ 441    $ (125 ) $ (584 ) $ 142    
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REVISED GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT S OF OPERATIONS  
Year Ended December 31, 2012  

(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

AS PREVIOUSLY FILED  
GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPE RATIONS  

Year Ended December 31, 2012  
(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Tronox  

Finance LLC  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Net sales $ 1,832    $  (125 )  $  —    $ —    $  1,340    $  617    
Cost of goods sold    1,568       (76 )     —       —       1,057       587    
Gross profit    264       (49 )     —       —       283       30    
Selling, general and administrative  

expenses    (239 )    4       —       (98 )    (115 )     (30 )  
Income (loss) from operations    25       (45 )     —       (98 )    168       —    
Interest and debt expense, net    (65 )    —       (22 )     —       (13 )     (30 )  
Intercompany interest income (expense)    —       —       —       297       (320 )     23    
Gain on bargain purchase    1,055       —       —       1,055       —       —    
Other income (expense)    (7 )    434       —       1,379       (1,813 )     (7 )  
Equity in earnings of subsidiary    —       1,849       —       (1,439 )    (410 )     —    
Income (loss) before income taxes    1,008       2,238       (22 )     1,194       (2,388 )     (14 )  
Income tax benefit (provision)    125       —       7       (60 )    133       45    
Net income (loss)    1,133       2,238       (15 )     1,134       (2,255 )     31    
Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest    (1 )    (1 )     —       —       —       —    

Net income (loss) attributable to Tronox Limited $ 1,134    $  2,239    $  (15 )  $ 1,134    $  (2,255 )  $  31    

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Net sales $ 1,832    $ (153 )  $ —    $ 1,340    $ 645    
Cost of goods sold    1,568       (104 )     —       1,057       615    
Gross profit    264       (49 )     —       283       30    
Selling, general and administrative expenses    (239 )    4       (98 )    (115 )    (30 ) 
Income (loss) from operations    25       (45 )     (98 )    168       —    
Interest and debt expense    (65 )    —       297       (356 )    (6 ) 
Other income (expense)    (7 )    432       (95 )    (337 )    (7 ) 
Gain on bargain purchase    1,055       —       1,055       —       —    
Equity in earnings of subsidiary    —       1,142       (1,144 )    2       —    
Income (loss) before income taxes    1,008       1,529       15       (523 )    (13 ) 
Income tax benefit (provision)    125       —       (60 )    139       46    
Net income (loss)    1,133       1,529       (45 )    (384 )    33    
Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest    (1 )    —       —       (1 )    —    

Net income (loss) attributable to Tronox Limited $ 1,134    $ 1,529    $ (45 ) $ (383 ) $ 33    
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REVISED GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING  
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)  

Year Ended December 31, 2013  
(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

AS PREVIOUSLY FILED  
GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING  

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)  
Year Ended December 31, 2013  

(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Tronox  

Finance LLC  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Net income (loss) $ (90 ) $  354    $  (41 )  $ (126 ) $  (382 )  $  105    
Other comprehensive income (loss):                                                  

Foreign currency translation adjustments    (289 )    574       —       (289 )    (264 )     (310 )  
Pension and postretirement plans    30       (31 )     —       30       27       4    

Other comprehensive income (loss)    (259 )    543       —       (259 )    (237 )     (306 )  
Total comprehensive income (loss)    (349 )    897       (41 )     (385 )    (619 )     (201 )  
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to 

noncontrolling interest:                                                  
Net income    36       36       —       —       —       —    
Foreign currency translation adjustments    (70 )    —       —       (70 )    —       —    

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to 
noncontrolling interest    (34 )    36       —       (70 )    —       —    

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to 
Tronox Limited $ (315 ) $  861    $  (41 )  $ (315 ) $  (619 )  $  (201 )  

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Net income (loss) $ (90 ) $ 441    $ (125 ) $ (548 ) $ 142    
Other comprehensive income (loss):                                          

Foreign currency translation adjustments    (289 )    —       —       23       (312 ) 
Pension and postretirement plans    30       —       —       26       4    

Other comprehensive income (loss)    (259 )    —       —       49       (308 ) 
Total comprehensive income (loss)    (349 )    441       (125 )    (499 )    (166 ) 
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling 

interest:                                          
Net income    36       —       —       36       —    
Foreign currency translation adjustments    (70 )    —       —       (70 )    —    

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling 
interest    (34 )    —       —       (34 )    —    

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Tronox Limited $ (315 ) $ 441    $ (125 ) $ (465 ) $ (166 ) 

106  



TABLE OF CONTENTS  

REVISED GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING  
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)  

Year Ended December 31, 2012  
(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

AS PREVIOUSLY FILED  
GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING  

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)  
Year Ended December 31, 2012  

(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Tronox  

Finance LLC  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Net income (loss) $ 1,133    $  2,238    $  (15 )  $ 1,134    $  (2,255 )  $  31    
Other comprehensive income (loss):                                                  

Foreign currency translation adjustments    11       7       —       11       (1 )     (6 )  
Pension and postretirement plans    (48 )    48       —       (48 )    (47 )     (1 )  

Other comprehensive income (loss)    (37 )    55       —       (37 )    (48 )     (7 )  
Total comprehensive income (loss)    1,096       2,293       (15 )     1,097       (2,303 )     24    
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to 

noncontrolling interest:                                                  
Net income    (1 )    (1 )     —       —       —       —    
Foreign currency translation adjustments    1       —       —       1       —       —    

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to 
noncontrolling interest    —       (1 )     —       1       —       —    

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to 
Tronox Limited $ 1,096    $  2,294    $  (15 )  $ 1,096    $  (2,303 )  $  24    

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Net income (loss) $ 1,133    $ 1,529    $ (45 ) $ (384 ) $ 33    
Other comprehensive income (loss):                                          

Foreign currency translation adjustments    11       19       —       (2 )    (6 ) 
Pension and postretirement plans    (48 )    —       —       (47 )    (1 ) 

Other comprehensive income (loss)    (37 )    19       —       (49 )    (7 ) 
Total comprehensive income (loss)    1,096       1,548       (45 )    (433 )    26    
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling 

interest:                                          
Net loss    (1 )    —       —       (1 )    —    
Foreign currency translation adjustments    1       —       —       1       —    

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling 
interest    —       —       —       —       —    

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Tronox Limited $ 1,096    $ 1,548    $ (45 ) $ (433 ) $ 26    

107  



TABLE OF CONTENTS  

REVISED GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE S HEETS  
As of December 31, 2013  
(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

AS PREVIOUSLY FILED  
GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS  

As of December 31, 2013  
(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Tronox  

Finance LLC  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

ASSETS                                                  
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,478    $  —    $  —    $ 179    $  374    $  925    
Inventory    759       (44 )     —       —       474       329    
Other current assets    416       (1,605 )     25       556       721       719    
Investment in subsidiaries    —       1,849       —       (3,145 )    1,296       —    
Property, plant and equipment, net    1,258       —       —       —       710       548    
Mineral leaseholds, net    1,216       —       —       —       700       516    
Intercompany loans receivable    —       (7,302 )     825       6,043       105       329    
Other long-term assets    572       —       12       88       364       108    

Total assets $ 5,699    $  (7,102 )  $  862    $ 3,721    $  4,744    $  3,474    
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY                                                  
Total current liabilities $ 363    $  (1,605 )  $  22    $ 658    $  1,091    $  197    
Long-term debt    2,395       —       897       —       3       1,495    
Intercompany loans payable    —       (7,302 )     —       825       6,372       105    
Other long-term liabilities    504       —       —       —       235       269    

Total liabilities    3,262       (8,907 )     919       1,483       7,701       2,066    
Total equity    2,437       1,805       (57 )     2,238       (2,957 )     1,408    

Total liabilities and equity $ 5,699    $  (7,102 )  $  862    $ 3,721    $  4,744    $  3,474    

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

ASSETS                                          
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,478    $ —    $ 179    $ 1,094    $ 205    
Investment in subsidiaries    —       (952 )     (1,095 )    1,590       457    
Other current assets    1,175       (9,645 )     6,599       2,125       2,096    
Property, plant and equipment, net    1,258       —       —       710       548    
Mineral leaseholds, net    1,216       —       —       701       515    
Other long-term assets    572       —       88       376       108    

Total assets $ 5,699    $ (10,597 )  $ 5,771    $ 6,596    $ 3,929    
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY                                          
Total current liabilities $ 363    $ (2,333 )  $ 658    $ 1,801    $ 237    
Long-term debt    2,395       (7,268 )     825       7,272       1,566    
Other long-term liabilities    504       —       —       236       268    

Total liabilities    3,262       (9,601 )     1,483       9,309       2,071    
Total equity    2,437       (996 )     4,288       (2,713 )    1,858    

Total liabilities and equity $ 5,699    $ (10,597 )  $ 5,771    $ 6,596    $ 3,929    
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REVISED GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT S OF CASH FLOWS  
Year Ended December 31, 2013  

(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Tronox  

Finance LLC  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:                                                  
Net income (loss) $ (90 ) $  354    $  (41 )  $ (126 ) $  (382 )  $  105    
Depreciation, depletion and amortization    333       —       —       —       221       112    
Other    87       (354 )     (16 )     (58 )    531       (16 )  
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities    330       —       (57 )     (184 )    370       201    
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:                                                  
Capital expenditures    (165 )    —       —       —       (71 )     (94 )  
Proceeds from the sale of assets    1       —       —       —       —       1    
Collections of intercompany debt    —       (57 )     57       —       —       —    
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities    (164 )    (57 )     57       —       (71 )     (93 )  
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:                                                  
Repayments of debt    (189 )    —       —       —       (3 )     (186 )  
Repayments of intercompany debt    —       57       —       (57 )    —       —    
Proceeds from debt    945       —       —       —       —       945    
Debt issuance costs    (29 )    —       —       —       —       (29 )  
Dividends paid    (115 )    —       —       (115 )    —       —    
Proceeds from the exercise of warrants and options    2       —       —       2       —       —    
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities    614       57       —       (170 )    (3 )     730    
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and 

cash equivalents    (18 )    —       —       —       —       (18 )  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents    762       —       —       (354 )    296       820    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    716    $  —    $  —    $ 533    $  78    $  105    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 1,478    $  —    $  —    $ 179    $  374    $  925    
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AS PREVIOUSLY FILED  
GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CAS H FLOWS  

Year Ended December 31, 2013  
(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:                                          
Net income (loss) $ (90 )  $ 441    $ (125 ) $ (548 ) $ 142    
Other    427       (441 )    (116 )    1,628       (644 ) 
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities    337       —       (241 )    1,080       (502 ) 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:                                          
Capital expenditures    (172 )     —       —       (71 )    (101 ) 
Proceeds from the sale of assets    1       —       —       —       1    
Cash used in investing activities    (171 )     —       —       (71 )    (100 ) 
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:                                          
Repayments of debt    (189 )     —       —       —       (189 ) 
Proceeds from borrowings    945       —       —       —       945    
Debt issuance costs    (29 )     —       —       —       (29 ) 
Dividends paid    (115 )     —       (115 )    —       —    
Proceeds from the conversion of warrants    2       —       2       —       —    
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities    614       —       (113 )    —       727    
Effects of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash 

Equivalents    (18 )     —       —       —       (18 ) 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents    762       —       (354 )    1,009       107    
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period    716       —       533       85       98    

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period $ 1,478    $ —    $ 179    $ 1,094    $ 205    
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REVISED GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT S OF CASH FLOWS  
Year Ended December 31, 2012  

(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Tronox  

Finance LLC  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:                                                  
Net income (loss) $ 1,133    $  2,238    $  (15 )  $ 1,134    $  (2,255 )  $  31    
Depreciation, depletion and amortization    211       —       —       —       146       65    
Gain on bargain purchase    (1,055 )    233       —       (115 )    (410 )     (763 )  
Other    (165 )    (2,471 )     (1,750 )     862       3,089       105    
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities    124       —       (1,765 )     1,881       570       (-562 )  
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:                                                  
Capital expenditures    (166 )    —       —       —       (90 )     (76 )  
Net cash received in acquisition of mineral sands 

business    114       —       —       114       —       —    
Collections of intercompany debt    —       (883 )     883       —       —       —    
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities    (52 )    (883 )     883       114       (90 )     (76 )  
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:                                                  
Repayments of debt    (585 )    —       —       —       (557 )     (28 )  
Repayments of intercompany debt    —       883       —       (883 )    —       —    
Proceeds from debt    1,707       —       900       —       60       747    
Debt issuance costs    (38 )    —       (18 )     —       (12 )     (8 )  
Dividends paid    (61 )    —       —       (61 )    —       —    
Proceeds from the exercise of warrants and options    1       —       —       1       —       —    
Merger consideration    (193 )    —       —       (193 )    —       —    
Class A ordinary shares repurchased    (326 )    —       —       (326 )    —       —    
Shares purchased for the Employee Participation 

Plan    (15 )    —       —       —       —       (15 )  
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities    490       883       882       (1,462 )    (509 )     697    
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and 

cash equivalents    —       —       —       —       —       —    
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents    562       —       —       533       (29 )     58    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    154    $  —    $  —    $ —    $  107    $  47    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 716    $  —    $  —    $ 533    $  78    $  105    
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AS PREVIOUSLY FILED  
GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CAS H FLOWS  

Year Ended December 31, 2012  
(Millions of U.S. dollars)  

Consolidated  Eliminations  
Parent  

Company  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Non-  
Guarantor  

Subsidiaries  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:                                          
Net income (loss) $ 1,133    $ 1,529    $ (45 ) $ (384 ) $ 33    
Gain on bargain purchase    (1,055 )    —       (1,055 )    —       —    
Other    40       (1,529 )    2,098       (14 )    (515 ) 
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities    118       —       998       (398 )    (482 ) 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:                                          
Capital expenditures    (166 )    —       —       (89 )    (77 ) 
Net cash received in acquisition of mineral sands business    114       —       114       —       —    
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities    (52 )    —       114       (89 )    (77 ) 
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:                                          
Repayments of debt    (585 )    —       —       (481 )    (104 ) 
Proceeds from debt    1,707       —       —       960       747    
Debt issuance costs    (38 )    —       —       (19 )    (19 ) 
Dividends paid    (61 )    —       (61 )    —       —    
Proceeds from the exercise of warrants and options    1       —       1       —       —    
Merger consideration    (193 )    —       (193 )    —       —    
Class A ordinary shares repurchased    (326 )    —       (326 )    —       —    
Shares purchased for the Employee Participation Plan    (15 )    —       —       —       (15 ) 
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities    490       —       (579 )    460       609    
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    6       —       —       8       (2 ) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    562       —       533       (19 )    48    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    154       —       —       104       50    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 716    $ —    $ 533    $ 85    $ 98    
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28. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)  

The following represents our unaudited quarterly results for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. These quarterly results 
were prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and reflect all adjustments that are, in the opinion of 
management, necessary for a fair statement of the results, and were of a normal recurring nature.  

Unaudited quarterly results for 2014:  

Unaudited quarterly results for 2013:  

The sum of the quarterly per share amounts may not equal the annual per share amounts due to relative changes in the weighted 
average number of shares used to calculate net income (loss) per share.  

29. Subsequent Event  

On February 3, 2015, we announced that we signed a definitive agreement with FMC Corporation to acquire its Alkali Chemicals 
Group for $1.64 billion. We will fund the acquisition through existing cash and new debt pursuant to signed commitments from 
multiple banks. The transaction, which has been approved by the board of directors of both companies, is expected to close in the first 
quarter of 2015, and is subject to customary closing conditions.  

1 st 

Quarter  2 nd Quarter  
3 rd 

Quarter  
4 th 

Quarter  

Net sales $ 418   $ 490    $ 429   $ 400   
Cost of goods sold    393      430       361      346   
Gross profit    25      60       68      54   
Net income (loss)    (54 )    2    $ (90 ) $ (275 ) 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest    4      2       3      1   

Net income (loss) attributable to Tronox Limited $ (58 ) $ —    $ (93 ) $ (276 ) 

Loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.51 ) $ —    $ (0.82 ) $ (2.40 ) 

1 st 

Quarter  2 nd Quarter  
3 rd 

Quarter  
4 th 

Quarter  

Net sales $ 470   $ 525    $ 491   $ 436   
Cost of goods sold    438      475       437      382   
Gross profit    32      50       54      54   
Net loss    (45 )    (1 )  $ (41 ) $ (3 ) 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest    12      12       8      4   

Net loss attributable to Tronox Limited $ (57 ) $ (13 )  $ (49 ) $ (7 ) 

Loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.50 ) $ (0.11 )  $ (0.43 ) $ (0.06 ) 
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure  

None.  

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures  

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

As of December 31, 2014, our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial 
Officer (“CFO”), has conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, our CEO and CFO 
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2014 were not effective because of the material weaknesses 
in our internal control over financial reporting described below.  

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Management has 
assessed the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014. In making our assessment of internal 
control over financial reporting, management used the criteria described in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. We have identified the following control deficiencies that 
constitute material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014:  

These material weaknesses resulted in adjustments to our depreciation, depletion, amortization and royalty expenses and 
related financial statement disclosures that were identified by us and our independent auditors.  

This material weakness did not result in any adjustments to our financial statements and related disclosures.  

These control deficiencies could result in misstatements to the annual or interim consolidated financial statements and disclosures 
that would result in a material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected on a timely 
basis. Accordingly, we have determined that these control deficiencies constitute material weaknesses.  

Because of these material weaknesses, our management concluded that the Company did not maintain effective internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014.The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2014 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report 
which appears herein.  

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred in the quarter ended December 31, 2014 that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  

• The controls over the information and communication related to our South African operations were improperly designed and 
not effective. Specifically, information required to execute control activities to completely and accurately record and disclose 
transactions was not communicated timely to the individuals responsible for executing control activities. The controls over 
our calculation of accrued royalty expense relating to our mining operations in Namakwa South Africa were improperly 
designed and not effective. 

• Additionally, the controls over restricted access and segregation of duties within our SAP systems were improperly designed 
and not effective as certain personnel have inappropriate access to execute conflicting transactions. Further, certain personnel 
have the ability to prepare and post journal entries without an independent review required by someone other than the 
preparer. Specifically, the controls were not designed to provide reasonable assurance that incompatible access within the 
system, including the ability to record transactions, was appropriately segregated, impacting the validity, accuracy, and 
completeness of all key accounts and disclosures. 
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(d) Remediation Plan  

Management has been actively engaged in developing and executing a remediation plan to address the material weaknesses. The 
remediation actions will result in improvement of the control activities and procedures, including both preventative and detective 
controls. The plan being executed includes the following changes to our internal control over financial reporting:  

Item 9B. Other Information  

Not Applicable.  

PART III  

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance  

Information regarding members of the Board of Directors, including its audit committee and audit committee financial experts, as 
well as information regarding our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our Chief Executive Officer and senior financial 
officers, will be presented in Tronox Limited’s definitive proxy statement for its 2015 annual general meeting of shareholders, which 
will be held May 20, 2015, and is incorporated herein by reference. Information regarding our executive officers is included in Part I of 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant.”  

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item with respect to compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act 
will be set forth under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in Tronox Limited’s definitive proxy 
statement for its 2015 annual general meeting of shareholders, and is incorporated herein by reference.  

Item 11. Executive Compensation  

Information regarding executive officer and director compensation will be presented in Tronox Limited’s definitive proxy 
statement for its 2015 annual general meeting of shareholders, which will be held May 20, 2015, and is incorporated herein by 
reference.  

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters  

Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related shareholder matters will be 
presented in Tronox Limited’s definitive proxy statement for its 2015 annual general meeting of shareholders, which will be held May 
20, 2015, and is incorporated herein by reference.  

• Provide additional training on the Company's consolidated accounting policies and enhance the level of communication and 
understanding of internal controls with key individuals on matters relating to the South African operations; 

• Improve the controls over the calculation of the royalty expense accrual to include a monthly review by Company personnel 
who are trained and knowledgeable of the local regulations. In addition we plan to hire a dedicated South African Tax 
Director effective April 2015 who will oversee the review and approval of our royalty tax accrual; and 

• Implement changes in controls over restricted access and segregation of duties within the SAP systems. 
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Equity Compensation Plan Information  

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2014 regarding securities issued under the Tronox Limited 
Management Equity Incentive Plan (the “Tronox Limited MEIP”).  

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.  

Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions will be presented in Tronox Limited’s definitive proxy 
statement for its 2015 annual general meeting of shareholders, which will be held May 20, 2015, and is incorporated herein by 
reference.  

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.  

Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions will be presented in Tronox Limited’s definitive proxy 
statement for its 2015 annual general meeting of shareholders, which will be held May 20, 2015, and is incorporated herein by 
reference.  

PART IV  

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.  

Reference is made to the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules appearing at 
“Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this report.  

All financial statement schedules are omitted as they are inapplicable, or the required information has been included in the 
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.  

Number of securities  
to be issued upon  

exercise of  
outstanding restricted  
shares, restricted share  

units and options (2)  

Weighted-average  
exercise price of  

outstanding  
restricted shares,  

restricted  
share units and  

Number of securities  
remaining available for  
future issuance under  
equity compensation  

plans (excluding  
securities reflected in  

the second column) (1)  

Equity compensation plans approved by security 
holders    4,071,946    $ 21.64       7,742,113    

Equity compensation plans not approved by security 
holders    —       —       —    

Total    4,071,946    $ 21.64       7,742,113    

(1) Each share unit awarded under the Tronox Limited MEIP was granted at no cost to the persons receiving them and represents the contingent right to receive the 
equivalent number of Class A Shares. 

(2) Excludes Warragnts, as they were not issued under the Tronox Limited MEIP. 

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K: 

1. Consolidated Financial Statements 

2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules 
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2.1 Amended and Restated Transaction Agreement by and among Tronox Incorporated, Tronox Limited, Concordia Acquisition 
Corporation, Concordia Merger Corporation, Exxaro Resources Limited, Exxaro Holdings Sands (Proprietary) Limited and 
Exxaro International BV, dated as of April 20, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Annex A to the proxy statement/prospectus 
which forms a part of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by Tronox Limited and Tronox Incorporated on May 4, 
2012). 

2.2 Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2015, by and among FMC Corporation, Tronox US Holdings 
Inc. and Tronox Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Tronox 
Limited on February 4, 2015). 

3.1 Constitution of Tronox Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Tronox 
Limited on June 20, 2012). 

4.1 Indenture, dated as of August, 20, 2012, among Tronox Finance LLC, Tronox Limited, the other guarantors named therein 
and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q filed by Tronox Limited on November 14, 2012). 

4.2 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2012, among Tronox Finance LLC, Tronox Limited, the other 
guarantors named therein and Goldman, Sachs & Co., Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC and UBS Securities LLC, as 
representative of the initial purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed 
by Tronox Limited on November 14, 2012). 

4.3 First Supplemental Indenture, dated August 29, 2012, to the Indenture, dated as of August, 20, 2012 among Tronox Finance 
LLC, Tronox Limited, the other guarantors named therein and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by Tronox Limited on November 14, 
2012). 

10.1 Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2012, by and between Tronox Incorporated, Tronox 
Limited, Computershare Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary, Computershare Trust Company, N.A. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Tronox Limited on June 20, 2012). 

10.2* Employment Agreement entered into as of February 14, 2011 by and between Tronox LLC and John D. Romano 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by Tronox Limited and Tronox 
Incorporated on December 30, 2011). 

10.3* Employment Agreement entered into as of February 14, 2011 by and between Tronox LLC and Michael J. Foster 
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Exhibit 10.29 
   

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT  
   

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“ Agreement ”) is entered into to be effective as of the 15th day of June, 2012 (the “ Effective 
Date ”), by and between Tronox LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (together with its successors and assigns, the “ Company ”), and 
Willem Hendrik Van Niekerk, an individual (the “ Executive ”).  

   
WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire to enter into this Agreement to set out the terms and conditions for the continued 

employment relationship of the Executive with the Company.  
   
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein and for other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which hereby are acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:  
   
1.                   Employment Agreement . Effective on the Effective Date, on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the 

Company agrees to employ the Executive and the Executive agrees to continue to be employed by the Company for the Employment Period set 
forth in Section  2 and in the positions and with the duties set forth in Section  3. Terms used herein with initial capitalization not otherwise 
defined are defined in Section 25 .  

   
2.                   Term . The term of employment under this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and continue until the third 

(3rd) anniversary of the Effective Date (the “ Term ”). Commencing on June 15, 2015 and each anniversary thereof, the Term shall 
automatically be extended by twelve (12) months unless either party has provided written notice to the other at least ninety (90) days before the 
end of the Term of its or his desire to not so extend the Term. The period of time between the Effective Date and the termination of the 
Executive’s employment hereunder shall be referred to as the “ Employment Period .” Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive’s 
employment hereunder may be earlier terminated in accordance with Section  9 hereof, subject to Section 10 hereof.  

   
3.                   Position and Duties . During the Employment Period, the Executive shall serve as the Senior Vice President, Strategic 

Planning & Business Development of the Company’s ultimate parent company and shall report directly to the Chief Executive Officer, Tronox 
Ltd (the Company’s ultimate parent company). The Executive shall have the duties, responsibilities and authorities customarily associated with 
the position of Senior Vice President, Strategic Planning & Business Development in a company the size and nature of the Company. The 
Executive shall devote the Executive’s reasonable best efforts and full business time to the performance of the Executive’s duties hereunder 
and the advancement of the business and affairs of the Company and shall be subject to, and shall comply in all material respects with, the 
policies of the Company and the Company Affiliates applicable to the Executive; provided that the Executive shall be entitled (i) to serve on 
the corporate, civic or charitable boards or committees on which the Executive is serving as of the Effective Date and has notified the Board of 
in writing, (ii) to serve as a member of the board of directors of a reasonable number of other companies, subject to the advance approval of the 
Board of Directors of the Company (the “ Board ”), (iii) to serve on civic, charitable, educational, religious, public interest or public service 
boards, and (iv) to manage the Executive’s personal and family investments, in each case, to the extent such activities do not materially 
interfere with the performance of the Executive’s duties and responsibilities hereunder.  

   

  



4.                   Place of Performance . During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be based at the Company’s principal 
executive offices in Stamford, Connecticut; provided that the Executive understands and agrees that the Executive may be required to travel 
from time to time for business purposes.  

   
5.                   Compensation and Benefits; Equity Awards .  
   

(a)                 Base Salary . During the Employment Period, the Company shall pay to the Executive a base salary (the “ Base 
Salary ”) at the rate of no less than $470,000 per calendar year, less applicable deductions.  

   
(b)                U.S. Payroll Requirements . The Base Salary shall be paid in substantially equal installments. In order to be paid 

through the U.S. payroll, Executive must apply for and receive an approved notice from the USCIS (form I-797) and have the U.S. Consulate 
stamp Executive’s visa into Executive’s passport. Once the Company is satisfied that Executive has completed all necessary steps to be paid in 
the U.S., Executive shall be paid in accordance with the Company’s regular payroll procedures.  

   
(c)                 Annual Bonus . During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be paid an annual cash performance bonus 

(an “ Annual Bonus ”) under the Company’s annual bonus plan (as in effect from time to time for senior executives) in respect of each fiscal 
year that ends during the Employment Period, to the extent earned based on performance against performance criteria. The performance criteria 
for any particular fiscal year shall be determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “ Committee ”), in good faith, after 
consultation with the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, no later than sixty (60) days after the commencement of the relevant bonus period. 
The Executive’s target annual bonus opportunity shall be no less than 70% of the Executive’s Base Salary as of the beginning of the applicable 
performance period (the “ Target Bonus ”) if target levels of performance for that year are achieved, up to a maximum of 140% of the 
Executive’s Base Salary. The Executive’s Annual Bonus for a bonus period shall be determined by the Committee after the end of the 
applicable bonus period and shall be paid to the Executive in the calendar year following the year to which such Annual Bonus relates when 
annual bonuses for that year are paid to other senior executives of the Company generally.  

   
(d)                Equity Awards . On June 15, 2012, and on commencing at the beginning of the next fiscal year and each year 

thereafter during the Employment Period, the Executive shall be granted an annual equity award under the Tronox Limited Management Equity 
Incentive Plan (or successor plan) with a grant date fair value equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the Executive’s Base Salary on the 
first day of the applicable fiscal year (the “ Annual Equity Award ”). The terms and conditions applicable to any Annual Equity Award shall be 
determined by the Committee in accordance with the Company’s applicable long-term incentive plan.  

   
(e)                 Vacation; Benefits . During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to six (6) weeks of paid 

vacation per calendar year (as prorated for partial years) in accordance with the Company’s policy on accrual and use applicable to employees 
as in effect from time to time.  
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(f)                 During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be eligible to participate in such medical, dental and life 
insurance, retirement and other plans as the Company may have or establish from time to time on terms and conditions applicable to other 
senior executives of the Company generally. The foregoing, however, shall not be construed to require the Company to establish any such plans 
or to prevent the modification or termination of such plans once established.  

   
6.                   Expenses .  
   

(a)                 Business Expenses . The Company shall reimburse the Executive promptly for all expenses reasonably incurred 
by the Executive in the performance of his duties in accordance with policies which may be adopted from time to time by the Company 
following presentation by the Executive of an itemized account, including reasonable substantiation, of such expenses.  

   
(b)                The Executive shall be entitled to relocation services and relocation expense reimbursement as set forth under 

the terms of that certain Relocation Services Letter among the MI Group and the Executive, dated June 4, 2012, attached hereto as Exhibit A 
and incorporated herein.  

   
7.                   Confidentiality, Non-Disclosure and Non-Competition Agreement . The Company and the Executive acknowledge and 

agree that during the Executive’s employment with the Company, the Executive will have access to and may assist in developing Confidential 
Information and will occupy a position of trust and confidence with respect to the affairs and business of the Company and the Company 
Affiliates. The Executive agrees that the following obligations are necessary to preserve the confidential and proprietary nature of Confidential 
Information and to protect the Company and the Company Affiliates against harmful solicitation of employees and customers, harmful 
competition and other actions by the Executive that would result in serious adverse consequences for the Company and the Company Affiliates: 

   
(a)                 Non-Disclosure . During and after the Executive’s employment with the Company, the Executive will not 

knowingly use, disclose, copy or transfer any Confidential Information other than as authorized in writing by the Company or within the scope 
of the Executive’s duties with the Company as determined reasonably and in good faith by the Executive. Anything herein to the contrary 
notwithstanding, the provisions of this Section 7(a) shall not apply (i) when disclosure is required by law or by any court, arbitrator, mediator 
or administrative or legislative body (including any committee thereof) with actual or apparent jurisdiction to order the Executive to disclose or 
make accessible any information, provided that prior to any such disclosure the Executive shall provide the Company with reasonable notice of 
the requirements to disclose and an opportunity to object to such disclosure and the Executive shall cooperate with the Company in filing such 
objection; (ii) as to information that becomes generally known to the public or within the relevant trade or industry other than due to the 
Executive’s violation of this Section 7(a) or (iii) as to disclosure which are reasonably necessary to be made in connection with a good faith 
judicial proceeding to enforce or defend the Executive’s rights under this Agreement or any other agreement between the Executive and the 
Company.  
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(b)                Materials . The Executive will use Confidential Information only for normal and customary use in the 
Company’s business, as determined reasonably and in good faith by the Company. The Executive will return to the Company all Confidential 
Information and copies thereof and all other property of the Company or any Company Affiliate in his possession or under his control at any 
time upon the reasonable request of the Company and in any event promptly after termination of the Executive’s employment. The Executive 
agrees to identify and return to the Company any copies of any Confidential Information after the Executive ceases to be employed by the 
Company. Anything to the contrary notwithstanding, nothing in this Section 7 shall prevent the Executive from retaining a home computer 
(provided all Confidential Information has been removed), papers and other materials of a personal nature, including diaries, calendars and 
Rolodexes, information relating to his compensation or relating to reimbursement of expenses, information that may be needed for tax 
purposes, and copies of plans, programs and agreements relating to his employment.  

   
(c)                 No Solicitation or Hiring of Employees . During the Non-Compete Period, the Executive shall not, except in the 

furtherance of the Executive’s duties hereunder, solicit, entice, persuade or induce any individual who is employed by the Company or the 
Company Affiliates (or who was so employed within six (6) months prior to the Executive’s action) to terminate or refrain from continuing 
such employment or to become employed by or enter into contractual relations with any other individual or entity other than the Company or 
the Company Affiliates, and the Executive shall not hire, directly or indirectly, for himself or any other person, as an employee, consultant or 
otherwise, any such person. Anything to the contrary notwithstanding, the Company agrees that (i) the Executive’s responding to an unsolicited 
request from any former employee of the Company for advice on employment matters; and (ii) the Executive’s responding to an unsolicited 
request for an employment reference regarding any former employee of the Company from such former employee, or from a third party, by 
providing a reference setting forth his personal views about such former employee, shall not be deemed a violation of this Section 7(c) ; in each 
case, to the extent the Executive does not encourage the former employee to become employed by a company or business that employs the 
Executive or with which the Executive is otherwise associated (including, but not limited to, association as a sole proprietor, owner, employer, 
partner, principal, investor, joint venturer, shareholder, associate, employee, member, consultant, contractor, director or otherwise).  

   
(d)                Non-Competition .  
   

(i)                  During the Non-Compete Period, the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, (A) solicit, service, or 
assist any other individual, person, firm or other entity in soliciting or servicing for a Competitive Enterprise any Customer for the purpose of 
providing and/or selling any products that are provided and/or sold by the Company or its subsidiaries, or performing any services that are 
performed by the Company or its subsidiaries, (B) interfere with or damage (or attempt to interfere with or damage) any relationship and/or 
agreement between the Company or its subsidiaries and any Customer or (C) associate (including, but not limited to, association as a sole 
proprietor, owner, employer, partner, principal, investor, joint venturer, shareholder, associate, employee, member, consultant, contractor, 
director or otherwise) with any Competitive Enterprise; provided , however , that Executive may own, as a passive investor, securities of any 
such entity that has outstanding publicly traded securities so long as his direct holdings in any such entity shall not in the aggregate constitute 
more than one percent (1%) of the voting power of such entity. The Executive acknowledges that this covenant has a unique, very substantial 
and immeasurable value to the Company, that the Executive has sufficient assets and skills to provide a livelihood for the Executive while such 
covenant remains in force and that, as a result of the foregoing, in the event that the Executive breaches such covenant, monetary damages 
would be an insufficient remedy for the Company and equitable enforcement of the covenant would be proper.  
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(ii)                If the restrictions contained in Section 7(d)(i) shall be determined by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be unenforceable by reason of their extending for too great a period of time or over too great a geographical area or by reason of 
their being too extensive in any other respect, Section 7(d)(i) shall be modified to be effective for the maximum period of time for which it may 
be enforceable and over the maximum geographical area as to which it may be enforceable and to the maximum extent in all other respects as 
to which it may be enforceable.  

   
(e)                 Conflicting Obligations and Rights . The Executive agrees to inform the Company of any apparent conflicts 

between the Executive’s work for the Company and any obligations the Executive may have to preserve the confidentiality of another’s 
proprietary information or related materials before using the same on the Company’s behalf. The Company shall receive such disclosures in 
confidence and consistent with the objectives of avoiding any conflict of obligations and rights or the appearance of any conflict of interest.  

   
(f)                 Enforcement . The Executive acknowledges that in the event of any breach of this Section 7 , the business 

interests of the Company and the Company Affiliates will be irreparably injured, the full extent of the damages to the Company and the 
Company Affiliates will be impossible to ascertain, monetary damages will not be an adequate remedy for the Company and the Company 
Affiliates, and the Company will be entitled to enforce this Agreement by a temporary, preliminary and/or permanent injunction or other 
equitable relief, without the necessity of posting bond or security, which the Executive expressly waives. The Executive understands that the 
Company may waive some of the requirements expressed in this Agreement, but that such a waiver to be effective must be made in writing and 
should not in any way be deemed a waiver of the Company’s right to enforce any other requirements or provisions of this Agreement. The 
Executive agrees that each of the Executive’s obligations specified in this Agreement is a separate and independent covenant and that the 
unenforceability of any of them shall not preclude the enforcement of any other covenants in this Agreement.  

   
8.                   Mutual Non-Disparagement . During the Employment Period and for the two year period following the Date of 

Termination, other than in the good faith performance of the Executive’s duties to the Company, its ultimate parent and their affiliates while the 
Executive is employed by the Company, the Executive agrees not to make public statements or communications that disparage the Company, 
its business, services, products or its affiliates or its or their current, former or future directors or executive officers (in their capacity as such), 
or with respect to any current or former director or executive officer of the Company or its affiliates (in their capacity as such). During the 
Employment Period and for the two year period following Date of Termination, the Company agrees that it shall not, and that it shall instruct 
its directors, executive officers and employees to not, make public statements or communications that disparage the Executive, other than in the 
good faith performance of their duties to the Company. The foregoing shall not be violated by truthful statements in response to legal process, 
required governmental testimony or filings, or administrative or arbitral proceedings (including, without limitation, depositions in connection 
with such proceedings) or in connection with any arbitral or judicial proceeding to enforce or defend the Executive’s or the Company’s rights 
under this Agreement or any other agreement between the parties hereto.  
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9.                   Termination of Employment .  
   

(a)                 Permitted Terminations . The Executive’s employment hereunder may be terminated during the Employment 
Period under the following circumstances:  

   
(i)                  Death . The Executive’s employment hereunder shall terminate upon the Executive’s death.  
   
(ii)                By the Company . The Company may terminate the Executive’s employment:  
   

(A)              Disability . For Disability;  
   
(B)               Cause . For Cause or without Cause; or  
   

(iii)              Notice of Non-Renewal of the Term . If the Company or the Executive provides a notice of non-renewal 
of the Term in accordance with Section 2, the Executive’s employment shall terminate upon expiration of the Term.  

   
(iv)              By the Executive . The Executive may terminate his employment for any reason or for no reason by 

giving thirty (30) days advance Notice of Termination to the Company (or ninety (90) days in the event of a termination for Good Reason as 
provided in Section 10(d) hereof).  

   
(b)                Termination . Any termination of the Executive’s employment by the Company or the Executive (other than 

because of the Executive’s death or a notice of non-renewal of the Term) shall be communicated by written Notice of Termination to the other 
party hereto in accordance with Section 12 hereof. For purposes of this Agreement, a “ Notice of Termination ” shall mean a notice which shall 
indicate the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon, if any, and shall set forth in reasonable detail the facts and 
circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of the Executive’s employment under the provision so indicated. Termination of the 
Executive’s employment shall take effect on the Date of Termination.  

   
(c)                 Effect of Termination . Upon any termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company, and its 

subsidiaries, the Executive shall resign from, and shall be considered to have simultaneously resigned from, all positions with the Company and 
all of its subsidiaries.  
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10.               Compensation Upon Termination .  
   

(a)                 Death . If the Executive’s employment is terminated during the Employment Period as a result of the 
Executive’s death pursuant to Section 9(a)(i) , the Employment Period shall terminate without further notice or any action required by the 
Company or the Executive’s legal representatives. Upon the Executive’s death, the Company shall pay or provide to the Executive’s 
representative or estate (i) all Accrued Benefits, if any, to which the Executive is entitled, (ii) a pro-rata portion of the Executive’s Annual 
Bonus for the fiscal year in which the Executive’s termination occurs based on actual results for such year (determined by multiplying the 
amount of such bonus which would be due for the full fiscal year by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days during the fiscal 
year of termination that the Executive is employed by the Company and the denominator of which is 365) payable at the same time bonuses for 
such year are paid to other senior executives of the Company (the “ Pro-Rata Bonus ”), and (iii) subject to (A) the Executive’s (or in the event 
of the Executive’s death, his dependent’s) timely election of continuation coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act 
of 1985, as amended (“ COBRA ”), (B) the Executive’s (or in the event of the Executive’s death, his dependent’s) continued copayment of 
premiums at the same level and cost to the Executive as if the Executive were an employee of the Company (excluding, for purposes of 
calculating cost, an employee’s ability to pay premiums with pre-tax dollars), and (C) the Executive’s (or in the event of the Executive’s death, 
his dependent’s) continued compliance with the obligations in Sections  7 and 8 hereof, continued participation in the Company’s group health 
plan (to the extent permitted under applicable law and the terms of such plan) which covers the Executive (and the Executive’s eligible 
dependents) for a period of twelve (12) months at the Company’s expense, provided that the Executive is eligible and remains eligible for 
COBRA coverage; and provided , further , that in the event that the Executive obtains other employment that offers group health benefits, such 
continuation of coverage by the Company shall immediately cease (the benefits and conditions specified in this Section 10(a)(iii) , “ COBRA 
Coverage ”). Except as set forth herein, the Company shall have no further obligation to the Executive (or the Executive’s legal representatives 
or estate) under this Agreement.  

   
(b)                Disability . If the Company terminates the Executive’s employment during the Employment Period because of 

the Executive’s Disability pursuant to Section 9(a)(ii)(A) , the Company shall pay to the Executive (i) all Accrued Benefits, if any, to which the 
Executive is entitled, (ii) the Pro-Rata Bonus, and (iii) twelve (12) months of COBRA Coverage. Except as set forth herein, the Company shall 
have no further obligations to the Executive (or the Executive’s legal representatives) under this Agreement.  

   
(c)                 Termination by the Company for Cause, by the Executive without Good Reason, or upon Expiration of the 

Term . If, during the Employment Period, the Company terminates the Executive’s employment for Cause pursuant to Section 9(a)(ii)(B) , the 
Executive terminates his employment without Good Reason, or upon termination of the Executive’s employment at the expiration of the Term 
pursuant to a notice of non-renewal by either party in accordance with Section  2 hereof, the Company shall pay to the Executive all Accrued 
Benefits (other than, in the event the Company terminates the Executive’s employment for Cause or the Executive terminates his employment 
without Good Reason, the amount specified in Section 25(a)(iii) ), if any, to which the Executive is entitled. Except as set forth herein, the 
Company shall have no further obligations to the Executive under this Agreement.  

   

  

7 



(d)                Certain Terminations Prior to or After a Change in Control . If, prior to the occurrence of a Change in Control or 
after the 12-month protection period has expired in Section 10(e) , the Company terminates the Executive’s employment during the 
Employment Period other than for Cause, death or Disability or if the Executive terminates his employment hereunder with Good Reason, the 
Company shall pay or provide the Executive (or the Executive’s estate, if the Executive dies after such termination but before receiving such 
amount) (i) all Accrued Benefits, if any, to which the Executive is entitled; (ii) the Pro-Rata Bonus; (iii) a lump sum payment of an amount 
equal to the product of (x) one (1.0) and (y) the sum of the Executive’s (I) Base Salary, and (II) Target Bonus, payable in a lump sum on the 
first payroll date following the execution (and non-revocation) of the general release of claims described in Section 10(f) , subject to Section 10
(g) , and (iv) twelve (12) months of COBRA Coverage.  

   
(e)                 Certain Terminations Following a Change in Control . If, upon or within twelve (12) months following the date 

of consummation of any Change in Control, the Company terminates the Executive’s employment other than for Cause, death or Disability or 
if the Executive terminates his employment hereunder with Good Reason, the Company shall pay or provide the Executive (or the Executive’s 
estate, if the Executive dies after such termination but before receiving such amount) (i) all Accrued Benefits, if any, to which the Executive is 
entitled; (ii) the Pro-Rata Bonus; (iii) a lump sum payment of an amount equal to the product of (x) two (2.0) and (y) the sum of the 
Executive’s (I) Base Salary, and (II) Target Bonus, payable in a lump sum on the first payroll date following the execution (and non-
revocation) of the general release of claims described in Section 10(f) , subject to Section 10(g) ; and (iv) eighteen (18) months of COBRA 
Coverage. For the avoidance of doubt, Change in Control shall include the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Amended 
and Restated Transaction Agreement by and among Tronox Incorporated, Tronox Limited, Concordia Acquisition Corporation, Concordia 
Merger Corporation, Exxaro Resources Limited, Exxaro Holdings Sands (Proprietary) Limited and Exxaro International BV, dated as of April 
20, 2012, as amended from time to time (the “ Exxaro Transaction ”). In addition, Change in Control shall also mean any transaction or event 
or combination of transactions or events, that results in Exxaro, or any of its affiliated entities, owning or controlling more than fifty percent 
(50%) of the stock of the combined company formed pursuant to the Exxaro Transaction.  

   
(f)                 Release . As a condition of receiving any and all amounts payable and benefits or additional rights provided 

pursuant to this Agreement beyond the Accrued Benefits, the Executive must execute and deliver to the Company and not revoke a general 
release of claims in favor of the Company in substantially the form attached on Exhibit B hereto. Such release must be executed and delivered 
(and no longer subject to revocation, if applicable) within sixty (60) days following the Executive’s Date of Termination. The Company shall 
deliver to the Executive the appropriate form of release of claims for the Executive to execute within five (5) business days following the Date 
of Termination.  

   
(g)                Liquidated Damages . The parties acknowledge and agree that the damages that will result to the Executive for 

termination by the Company of the Executive’s employment without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason shall be extremely difficult or 
impossible to establish or prove, and agree that the amounts payable to the Executive under Section 10(d) shall constitute liquidated damages 
for any such termination. The Executive agrees that, except for such other payments and benefits to which the Executive may be entitled as 
expressly provided by the terms of this Agreement or any other applicable benefit plan or compensation arrangement (including equity-related 
awards), such liquidated damages shall be in lieu of all other claims that the Executive may make by reason of any such termination of his 
employment.  
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(h)                Certain Payment Delays . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, to the extent that the 
payment of any amount described in Section 10 constitutes “nonqualified deferred compensation” for purposes of Code Section 409A (as 
defined in Section 24 hereof), any such payment scheduled to occur during the first sixty (60) days following the termination of employment 
shall not be paid until the first regularly scheduled pay period following the sixtieth (60th) day following such termination and shall include 
payment of any amount that was otherwise scheduled to be paid prior thereto.  

   
(i)                  No Offset . In the event of termination of his employment, the Executive shall be under no obligation to seek 

other employment and there shall be no offset against amounts due to him on account of any remuneration or benefits provided by any 
subsequent employment he may obtain. The Company’s obligation to make any payment pursuant to, and otherwise to perform its obligations 
under, this Agreement shall not be affected by any offset, counterclaim or other right that the Company or the Company Affiliates may have 
against the Executive for any reason.  

   
(j)                  280G Payments . In the event the Company determines in good faith that any payments, entitlements or benefits 

(whether made or provided pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise) provided to the Executive constitute “parachute payments” within the 
meaning of Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code ”), and may be subject to an excise tax imposed 
pursuant to Section 4999 of the Code, then, if the Executive would be placed in a better after-tax position, the Executive’s “parachute 
payments” will be reduced to an amount determined by the Company in good faith to be the maximum amount that may be provided to the 
Executive without resulting in any portion of such “parachute payment” being subject to such excise tax. The payment reduction contemplated 
by the preceding sentence shall be implemented as follows: first , by reducing any payments to be made to the Executive under Section 10(d)
(ii) and (iii) or Section 10(e)(ii) and (iii), as applicable; second , by reducing any other cash payments to be made to the Executive but only if 
the value of such cash payments is not greater than the parachute value of such payments; third , by cancelling the acceleration of vesting of 
any outstanding equity-based compensation awards that are subject to performance vesting, the performance goals for which were met as of the 
Executive’s date of termination or if later the date of the occurrence of the change in control; fourth , by cancelling the acceleration of vesting 
of any restricted stock or restricted stock unit awards; fifth , by eliminating the Company’s payment of the cost of any post-termination 
continuation of medical and dental benefits for the Executive and his eligible dependents and sixth , by cancelling the acceleration of vesting of 
any stock options or stock appreciation rights. In the case of the reductions to be made pursuant to each of the above-mentioned clauses, the 
payment and/or benefit amounts to be reduced and the acceleration of vesting to be cancelled shall be reduced or cancelled in the inverse order 
of their originally scheduled dates of payment or vesting, as applicable, and shall be so reduced (x) only to the extent that the payment and/or 
benefit otherwise to be paid or the vesting of the award that otherwise would be accelerated, would be treated as a “parachute payment” within 
the meaning of Section 280G(b)(2)(A) of the Code, and (y) only to the extent necessary to achieved the required reduction hereunder.  
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11.               Indemnification . During the Employment Period and thereafter, the Company agrees to indemnify and hold the Executive 
and the Executive’s heirs and representatives harmless, to the maximum extent permitted by law, against any and all damages, costs, liabilities, 
losses and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) as a result of any claim or proceeding (whether civil, criminal, administrative or 
investigative), or any threatened claim or proceeding (whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative), against the Executive that arises 
out of or relates to the Executive’s service as an officer, director or employee, as the case may be, of the Company, or the Executive’s service 
in any such capacity or similar capacity with a Company Affiliate or other entity at the request of the Company, both prior to and after the 
Effective Date, and to promptly advance to the Executive or the Executive’s heirs or representatives such expenses upon written request with 
appropriate documentation of such expense upon receipt of an undertaking by the Executive or on the Executive’s behalf to repay such amount 
if it shall ultimately be determined that the Executive is not entitled to be indemnified by the Company. During the Employment Period and 
thereafter, the Company also shall provide the Executive with coverage under its current directors’ and officers’ liability policy to the same 
extent that it provides such coverage to its other executive officers. If the Executive has any knowledge of any actual or threatened action, suit 
or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, as to which the Executive may request indemnity under this provision, 
the Executive will give the Company prompt written notice thereof; provided that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the Executive’s 
right to indemnification. The Company shall be entitled to assume the defense of any such proceeding and the Executive will use reasonable 
efforts to cooperate with such defense. To the extent that the Executive in good faith determines that there is an actual or potential conflict of 
interest between the Company and the Executive in connection with the defense of a proceeding, the Executive shall so notify the Company 
and shall be entitled to separate representation at the Company’s expense by counsel selected by the Executive (provided that the Company 
may reasonably object to the selection of counsel within ten (10) business days after notification thereof) which counsel shall cooperate, and 
coordinate the defense, with the Company’s counsel and minimize the expense of such separate representation to the extent consistent with the 
Executive’s separate defense. This Section 11 shall continue in effect after the termination of the Executive’s employment or the termination of 
this Agreement.  

   
12.               Notices . All notices, demands, requests, or other communications which may be or are required to be given or made by 

any party to any other party pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be hand delivered, mailed by first-class registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, delivered by overnight air courier, or transmitted by facsimile transmission addressed 
as follows:  

   
(i)              If to the Company:  
   

Tronox LLC  
One Stamford Plaza   
263 Tresser Blvd., Suite 1100   
Stamford, CT 06901  
   
Attention : General Counsel  
   

(ii)             If to the Executive:  
   

Address last shown on the Company’s records.  
   

Each party may designate by notice in writing a new address to which any notice, demand, request or communication may thereafter be so 
given, served or sent. Each notice, demand, request, or communication that shall be given or made in the manner described above shall be 
deemed sufficiently given or made for all purposes at such time as it is delivered to the addressee (with the return receipt, the delivery receipt, 
confirmation of facsimile transmission or the affidavit of messenger being deemed conclusive but not exclusive evidence of such delivery) or at 
such time as delivery is refused by the addressee upon presentation.  
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13.               Severability . The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more provisions of this Agreement, including, without 
limitation, Section 7 , shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the other provisions of this Agreement, which shall remain in full force 
and effect.  

   
14.               Survival . It is the express intention and agreement of the parties hereto that the provisions of Sections 7 , 8, 10 , 11 , 12 , 

13 , 15 , 16 , 17 , 19 , 20 , 21 , 23 , 24 and 25 hereof and this Section 14 shall survive the termination of employment of the Executive. In 
addition, all obligations of the Company to make payments hereunder shall survive any termination of this Agreement on the terms and 
conditions set forth herein.  

   
15.               Assignment . The rights and obligations of the parties to this Agreement shall not be assignable or delegable, except that 

(i) in the event of the Executive’s death, the personal representative or legatees or distributees of the Executive’s estate, as the case may be, 
shall have the right to receive any amount owing and unpaid to the Executive hereunder and (ii) the rights and obligations of the Company 
hereunder shall be assignable and delegable in connection with any subsequent merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of the 
assets or equity interests of the Company or similar transaction involving the Company or a successor corporation. Unless provided by 
applicable law, the Company shall require any successor to the Company to expressly assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same 
manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. As used in this 
Agreement, “ Company ” shall mean the Company and any successor to its business and/or assets, which assumes and agrees to perform the 
duties and obligations of the Company under this Agreement by operation of law or otherwise, including, without limitation, any assumption or 
assignment agreed upon in connection with the Exxaro Transaction.  

   
16.               Binding Effect . Subject to any provisions hereof restricting assignment, this Agreement shall be binding upon the parties 

hereto and shall inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective heirs, devisees, executors, administrators, legal representatives, 
successors and assigns.  
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17.               Amendment; Waiver . This Agreement shall not be amended, altered or modified except by an instrument in writing duly 
executed by the party against whom enforcement is sought. Neither the waiver by either of the parties hereto of a breach of or a default under 
any of the provisions of this Agreement, nor the failure of either of the parties, on one or more occasions, to enforce any of the provisions of 
this Agreement or to exercise any right or privilege hereunder, shall thereafter be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach or default of a 
similar nature, or as a waiver of any such provisions, rights or privileges hereunder.  

   
18.               Headings . Section and subsection headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only, 

shall not be deemed to be a part of this Agreement for any purpose, and shall not in any way define or affect the meaning, construction or scope 
of any of the provisions hereof.  

   
19.               Governing Law . This Agreement, the rights and obligations of the parties hereto, and any claims or disputes relating 

thereto, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York (but not including any choice of law rule 
thereof that would cause the laws of another jurisdiction to apply).  

   
20.               Waiver of Jury Trial . Each of the parties agrees that any dispute between the parties shall be resolved only in the courts 

of the State of New York or the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York and the appellate courts having jurisdiction 
of appeals in such courts. In that context, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each of the parties hereto irrevocably and 
unconditionally (a) submits in any proceeding relating to this Agreement or the Executive's employment by the Company or any Company 
Affiliate, or for the recognition and enforcement of any judgment in respect thereof (a “ Proceeding ”), to the exclusive jurisdiction of the 
courts of the State of New York, the court of the United States of America for the Southern District of New York, and appellate courts having 
jurisdiction of appeals from any of the foregoing, and agrees that all claims in respect of any such Proceeding shall be heard and determined in 
such New York State court or, to the extent permitted by law, in such federal court, (b) consents that any such Proceeding may and shall be 
brought in such courts and waives any objection that the Executive or the Company may now or thereafter have to the venue or jurisdiction of 
any such Proceeding in any such court or that such Proceeding was brought in an inconvenient court and agrees not to plead or claim the same, 
(c) waives all right to trial by jury in any Proceeding (whether based on contract, tort or otherwise) arising out of or relating to this Agreement 
or the Executive's employment by the Company or any Company Affiliate, or the Executive's or the Company’s performance under, or the 
enforcement of, this Agreement, (d) agrees that service of process in any such Proceeding may be effected by mailing a copy of such process 
by registered or certified mail (or any substantially similar form of mail), postage prepaid, to such party at the Executive's or the Company’s 
address as provided in Section 12 hereof, and (e) agrees that nothing in this Agreement shall affect the right to effect service of process in any 
other manner permitted by the laws of the State of New York.  

   
21.               Entire Agreement . This Agreement and its Exhibits constitute the entire agreement between the parties respecting the 

subject matter hereof, there being no representations, warranties or commitments except as set forth herein and supersedes and replaces all 
other agreements related to the subject matter hereof.  
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22.               Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in two counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which 
shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument.  

   
23.               Withholding . The Company may withhold from any benefit payment under this Agreement all federal, state, city or other 

taxes as shall be required pursuant to any law or governmental regulation or ruling.  
   
24.               Section 409A .  
   

(a)                 The intent of the parties is that payments and benefits under this Agreement comply with Code Section 409A 
and the regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder (collectively “ Code Section 409A ”) and, accordingly, to the maximum extent 
permitted, this Agreement shall be interpreted to be in compliance therewith. If the Executive notifies the Company (with specificity as to the 
reason therefor) that the Executive believes that any provision of this Agreement (or of any award of compensation, including equity 
compensation or benefits) would cause the Executive to incur any additional tax or interest under Code Section 409A and the Company 
concurs with such belief or the Company (without any obligation whatsoever to do so) independently makes such determination, the Company 
shall, after consulting with the Executive, reform such provision to attempt to comply with Code Section 409A through good faith 
modifications to the minimum extent reasonably appropriate to conform with Code Section 409A. To the extent that any provision hereof is 
modified in order to comply with Code Section 409A, such modification shall be made in good faith and shall, to the maximum extent 
reasonably possible, maintain the original intent and economic benefit to the Executive and the Company of the applicable provision without 
violating the provisions of Code Section 409A.  

   
(b)                A termination of employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of any provision of this 

Agreement providing for the payment of any amounts or benefits upon or following a termination of employment unless such termination is 
also a “separation from service” within the meaning of Code Section 409A and, for purposes of any such provision of this Agreement, 
references to a “termination,” “termination of employment”, “Date of Termination” or like terms shall mean “separation from service.” If the 
Executive is deemed on the date of termination to be a “specified employee” within the meaning of that term under Code Section 409A(a)(2)
(B), then with regard to any payment or the provision of any benefit that is considered deferred compensation under Code Section 409A 
payable on account of a “separation from service,” such payment or benefit shall be made or provided at the date which is the earlier of (i) the 
expiration of the six (6)-month period measured from the date of such “separation from service” of the Executive, and (ii) the date of the 
Executive’s death, to the extent required under Code Section 409A. Upon the expiration of the foregoing delay period, all payments and 
benefits delayed pursuant to this Section 24(b) (whether they would have otherwise been payable in a single sum or in installments in the 
absence of such delay) shall be paid or reimbursed to the Executive in a lump sum, and any remaining payments and benefits due under this 
Agreement shall be paid or provided in accordance with the normal payment dates specified for them herein.  

   

  

13 



(c)                 To the extent that reimbursements or other in-kind benefits under this Agreement constitute “nonqualified 
deferred compensation” for purposes of Code Section 409A, (i) all expenses or other reimbursements hereunder shall be made on or prior to the 
last day of the taxable year following the taxable year in which such expenses were incurred by the Executive, (ii) any right to reimbursement 
or in-kind benefits shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit, and (iii) no such reimbursement, expenses eligible for 
reimbursement, or in-kind benefits provided in any taxable year shall in any way affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind 
benefits to be provided, in any other taxable year.  

   
(d)                For purposes of Code Section 409A, the Executive’s right to receive any installment payments pursuant to this 

Agreement shall be treated as a right to receive a series of separate and distinct payments. Whenever a payment under this Agreement specifies 
a payment period with reference to a number of days, the actual date of payment within the specified period shall be within the sole discretion 
of the Company.  

   
(e)                 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in no event shall any payment under this 

Agreement that constitutes “nonqualified deferred compensation” for purposes of Code Section 409A be subject to offset by any other amount 
unless otherwise permitted by Code Section 409A.  

   
25.               Definitions .  
   

(a)                 “ Accrued Benefits ” means (i) any unpaid Base Salary through the Date of Termination; (ii) any earned but 
unpaid Annual Bonus, (iii) any unpaid Annual Bonus for performance periods which have ended prior to the Date of Termination; (iv) 
any accrued and unpaid vacation and/or sick days; (v) any amounts or benefits owing to the Executive or to the Executive’s beneficiaries under 
the then applicable benefit plans of the Company (excluding any severance plan, program, agreement or arrangement) and any accrued and 
vested equity-incentive awards which shall be treated in accordance with, and subject to, the terms and conditions of the applicable grant 
agreement(s) and equity plan(s) under which such awards were granted; and (vi) any amounts owing to the Executive for reimbursement of 
expenses properly incurred by the Executive prior to the Date of Termination and which are reimbursable in accordance with Section 6 or 
Section 10 . Amounts payable under (A) clauses (i), (ii) and (iv) shall be paid promptly after the Date of Termination, (B) clauses (iii) and (v) 
shall be paid in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable plan, program or arrangement, and (C) clause (vi) shall be paid in 
accordance with the terms of the applicable expense policy.  

   
(b)                “ Cause ” means (i) the Executive’s conviction of, or plea of nolo contendere to, a felony (other than for a traffic 

violation); (ii) the Executive’s continued failure to substantially perform the Executive’s material duties hereunder (other than due to a mental 
or physical impairment) after receipt of written notice from the Company that specifically identifies the manner in which the Executive has 
substantially failed to perform the Executive’s material duties and specifies the manner in which the Executive may substantially perform his 
material duties in the future; (iii) an act of fraud or gross or willful material misconduct by the Executive; or (iv) the Executive’s material 
breach of Sections 7(c) and 7(d) . Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the Executive shall not be terminated for “Cause” hereunder 
unless (A) written notice stating the basis for the termination is provided to the Executive and (B) as to clauses (ii) or (iv) of this paragraph, he 
is given fifteen (15) days to cure the neglect or conduct that is the basis of such claim, to the extent curable.  
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(c)                 “ Change in Control ” shall have the meaning set forth in the Company’s 2010 Management Equity Incentive 
Plan as well as the meaning set forth in Section 10(e) .  

   
(d)                “ Company Affiliate ” means any entity controlled by, in control of, or under common control with, the 

Company.  
   
(e)                 “ Competitive Enterprise ” means (i) a business enterprise that engages in, or owns or controls a significant 

interest in any entity that engages in competition with the Company or its subsidiaries with respect to the mining, processing and sales of 
mineral sands and titanium bearing ores and/or TiO2 pigment (the “ Company’s Business ”) (a) in the United States of America, (b) any other 
country where the Company or its subsidiaries operates facilities or sells products, in each case related to the Company’s Business, but only if 
the Executive had operational, financial reporting, marketing or other responsibility or oversight for the facility or business in the respective 
country. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event a business enterprise has one or more lines of business that do not involve the Company’s 
Business, the Executive shall be permitted to associate with such business enterprise if, and only if, the Executive does not participate in, or 
have supervisory authority with respect to, any line of business involving the Company’s Business.  

   
(f)                 “ Confidential Information ” means all non-public information concerning trade secrets, know-how, software, 

developments, inventions, processes, technology, designs, financial data, strategic business plans or any proprietary or confidential information, 
documents or materials in any form or media, including any of the foregoing relating to research, operations, finances, current and proposed 
products and services, vendors, customers, advertising and marketing, and other non-public, proprietary, and confidential information of the 
Company or the Company Affiliates. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the general skills, knowledge and experience 
gained during the Executive’s employment with the Company, information publicly available or generally known within the industry or trade 
in which the Company competes and information or knowledge possessed by the Executive prior to his employment by the Company, shall not 
be considered Confidential Information.  

   
(g)                “ Customer ” means any person, firm, corporation or other entity whatsoever to whom the Company or its 

subsidiaries provided services or sold any products to within a twelve (12)-month period on, before or after the Executive’s Date of 
Termination.  

   
(h)                “ Date of Termination ” means (i) if the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Executive’s death, the 

date of the Executive’s death; (ii) if the Executive’s employment is terminated because of the Executive’s Disability pursuant to Section 9(a)(ii)
(A) , thirty (30) days after Notice of Termination, provided that the Executive shall not have returned to the performance of the Executive’s 
duties on a full-time basis during such thirty (30)-day period; (iii) if the Executive’s employment is terminated during the Employment Period 
by the Company pursuant to Section 9(a)(ii)(B) or by the Executive pursuant to Section 9(a)(iv) , the date specified in the Notice of 
Termination; or (v) if the Executive’s employment is terminated upon the expiration of the Employment Period pursuant to Section 2, the last 
day of the Employment Period.  
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(i)                  “ Disability ” means the inability of the Executive to perform the Executive’s material duties hereunder due to a 
physical or mental injury, infirmity or incapacity, which is expected to exceed one hundred eighty (180) days (including weekends and 
holidays) in any three hundred sixty-five (365)-day period, as determined by the Executive’s treating physician in his or her reasonable 
discretion.  

   
(j)                  “ Good Reason ” means (i) any material diminution in the Executive’s titles, duties or authorities or any 

removal of the Executive as Chief Financial Officer of the Company’s ultimate parent company; (ii) a reduction in the Executive’s Base Salary 
or target bonus opportunity as a percentage of Base Salary; (iii) a material adverse change in the Executive’s reporting responsibilities to the 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company’s ultimate parent company; (iv) the assignment of duties substantially inconsistent with the 
Executive’s status as an executive officer of the Company’s ultimate parent company; (v) a relocation of the Executive’s primary place of 
employment to a location more than fifty (50) miles from the location set forth in Section 4 (or such other place that the Executive has 
otherwise consented to in writing); (vi) any other material breach of this Agreement; or (vii) the failure of the Company to obtain the 
assumption in writing of its obligations under the Agreement by any successor to all or substantially all of the assets of the Company after a 
merger, consolidation, sale or similar transaction in which such Agreement is not assumed by operation of law. In order to invoke a termination 
for Good Reason, (A) the Executive must provide written notice within ninety (90) days of the occurrence of any event of “Good Reason,” (B) 
the Company must fail to cure such event within thirty (30) days of the giving of such notice and (C) the Executive must terminate employment 
within thirty (30) days following the expiration of the Company’s cure period.  

   
(k)                “ Non-Compete Period ” means the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending twelve (12) months 

after the Executive’s Date of Termination.  
   

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]  
   

  

16 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have duly executed and delivered this Agreement as of June 15, 2012, or have caused this 
Agreement to be duly executed and delivered on their behalf.  
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  TRONOX LLC 
        
  By: /s/ Michael J. Foster 
    Name: Michael J. Foster 
    Title: Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary 
        
        
  EXECUTIVE 
        
  /s/ Willem H. Van Niekerk 
  Willem H. Van Niekerk 
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EXHIBIT B  

   
GENERAL RELEASE  

   
I, Willem H Van Niekerk, in consideration of and subject to the performance by Tronox Ltd (together with its parent companies and 
subsidiaries, the “ Company ”), of its obligations under Section 10 of the Employment Agreement, dated as of June __, 2012 (the “ Agreement 
”), do hereby release and forever discharge as of the date hereof the Company and its respective affiliates and subsidiaries and all present, 
former and future directors, officers, agents, representatives, employees, successors and assigns of the Company and/or its respective affiliates 
and subsidiaries and direct or indirect owners (collectively, the “ Released Partie s ”) to the extent provided herein (this “ General Release ” ). 
The Released Parties are intended third-party beneficiaries of this General Release, and this General Release may be enforced by each of them 
in accordance with the terms hereof in respect of the rights granted to such Released Parties hereunder. Terms used herein but not otherwise 
defined shall have the meanings given to them in the Agreement.  
   

1.                   I understand that, other than the Accrued Benefits, the payments or benefits paid or granted to me under Section 10 of 
the Agreement represent, in part, consideration for signing this General Release and are not salary, wages or benefits to which I was already 
entitled. I understand and agree that I will not receive the payments and benefits specified in Section 10 of the Agreement, other than the 
Accrued Benefits, unless I execute this General Release and do not revoke this General Release within the time period permitted hereafter or 
breach this General Release. Such payments and benefits will not be considered compensation for purposes of any employee benefit plan, 
program, policy or arrangement maintained or hereafter established by the Company or its affiliates.  

   
2.                   Except as provided in paragraph 4 below and except for the provisions of the Agreement which expressly survive the 

termination of my employment with the Company, I knowingly and voluntarily (for myself, my heirs, executors, administrators and assigns) 
release and forever discharge the Company and the other Released Parties from any and all claims, suits, controversies, actions, causes of 
action, cross-claims, counter-claims, demands, debts, compensatory damages, liquidated damages, punitive or exemplary damages, other 
damages, claims for costs and attorneys’ fees, or liabilities of any nature whatsoever in law and in equity, both past and present (through the 
date that this General Release becomes effective and enforceable) and whether known or unknown, suspected, or claimed against the Company 
and/or any of the Released Parties which I, my spouse, or any of my heirs, executors, administrators or assigns, ever had, now have, or 
hereafter may have, by reason of any matter, cause, or thing whatsoever, from the beginning of my initial dealings with the Company to the 
date of this General Release, and particularly, but without limitation of the foregoing general terms, any claims arising from or relating in any 
way to my employment relationship with Company, the terms and conditions of that employment relationship, and the termination of that 
employment relationship (including, but not limited to, any allegation, claim or violation, arising under: Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964, as amended; the Civil Rights Act of 1991; the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended (including the Older 
Workers Benefit Protection Act); the Equal Pay Act of 1963, as amended; the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990; the Family and Medical 
Leave Act of 1993; the Worker Adjustment Retraining and Notification Act; the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974; any 
applicable Executive Order Programs; the Fair Labor Standards Act; or their state or local counterparts; or under any other federal, state or 
local civil or human rights law, or under any other local, state, or federal law, regulation or ordinance; or under any public policy, contract or 
tort, or under common law; or arising under any policies, practices or procedures of the Company; or any claim for wrongful discharge, breach 
of contract, infliction of emotional distress, defamation; or any claim for costs, fees, or other expenses, including attorneys’ fees incurred in 
these matters) (all of the foregoing collectively referred to herein as the “ Claims ”). I understand and intend that this General Release 
constitutes a general release of all claims and that no reference herein to a specific form of claim, statute or type of relief is intended to limit the 
scope of this General Release.  
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3.                   I represent that I have made no assignment or transfer of any right, claim, demand, cause of action, or other matter 
covered by paragraph 2 above.  

   
4.                   I agree that this General Release does not waive or release any rights or claims that I may have under the Age 

Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 which arise after the date I execute this General Release. I acknowledge and agree that my 
separation from employment with the Company in compliance with the terms of the Agreement shall not serve as the basis for any claim or 
action (including, without limitation, any claim under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967).  

   
5.                   I agree that I hereby waive all rights to sue or obtain equitable, remedial or punitive relief from any or all Released 

Parties of any kind whatsoever, including, without limitation, reinstatement, back pay, front pay, and any form of injunctive relief. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, I acknowledge that I am not waiving and am not being required to waive any right that cannot be waived under 
law, including the right to file an administrative charge or participate in an administrative investigation or proceeding; provided, however, that I 
disclaim and waive any right to share or participate in any monetary award resulting from the prosecution of such charge or investigation or 
proceeding.  

   
6.                   In signing this General Release, I acknowledge and intend that it shall be effective as a bar to each and every one of the 

Claims hereinabove mentioned or implied. I expressly consent that this General Release shall be given full force and effect according to each 
and all of its express terms and provisions, including those relating to unknown and unsuspected Claims (notwithstanding any state or local 
statute that expressly limits the effectiveness of a general release of unknown, unsuspected and unanticipated Claims), if any, as well as those 
relating to any other Claims hereinabove mentioned or implied. I acknowledge and agree that this waiver is an essential and material term of 
this General Release and that without such waiver the Company would not have agreed to the terms of the Agreement. I further agree that in 
the event that I should bring a Claim seeking damages against the Company, or in the event that I should seek to recover against the Company 
in any Claim brought by a governmental agency on my behalf, this General Release shall serve as a complete defense to such Claims to the 
maximum extent permitted by law. I further agree that I am not aware of any pending claim, or of any facts that could give rise to a claim, of 
the type described in paragraph 2 as of the execution of this General Release.  
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7.                   I agree that neither this General Release, nor the furnishing of the consideration for this General Release, shall be 
deemed or construed at any time to be an admission by the Company, any Released Party or myself of any improper or unlawful conduct.  

   
8.                   I agree that I will forfeit all amounts payable by the Company pursuant to the Agreement if I challenge the validity of 

this General Release. I also agree that if I violate this General Release by suing the Company or the other Released Parties, I will pay all costs 
and expenses of defending against the suit incurred by the Released Parties, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, and return all payments 
received by me pursuant to the Agreement on or after the termination of my employment.  

   
9.                   I agree that this General Release and the Agreement are confidential and agree not to disclose any information regarding 

the terms of this General Release or the Agreement, except to my immediate family and any tax, legal or other counsel that I have consulted 
regarding the meaning or effect hereof or as required by law, and I will instruct each of the foregoing not to disclose the same to anyone.  

   
10.               Any non-disclosure provision in this General Release does not prohibit or restrict me (or my attorney) from responding to 

any inquiry about this General Release or its underlying facts and circumstances by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the 
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA), or any other self-regulatory organization or governmental entity.  

   
11.               I hereby acknowledge that Sections 7, 8, 10 , 11 , 12 , 13 , 14 , 15 , 16 , 17 , 19 , 20 , 21 , 23 , and 24 of the Agreement 

shall survive my execution of this General Release.  
   
12.               I represent that I am not aware of any Claim by me, and I acknowledge that I may hereafter discover Claims or facts in 

addition to or different than those which I now know or believe to exist with respect to the subject matter of the release set forth in paragraph 2 
above and which, if known or suspected at the time of entering into this General Release, may have materially affected this General Release 
and my decision to enter into it.  

   
13.               Notwithstanding anything in this General Release to the contrary, this General Release shall not relinquish, diminish, or in 

any way affect any rights or claims arising out of any breach by the Company or by any Released Party of the Agreement after the date hereof.  
   
14.               Whenever possible, each provision of this General Release shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid 

under applicable law, but if any provision of this General Release is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any 
applicable law or rule in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision or any other 
jurisdiction, but this General Release shall be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable 
provision had never been contained herein. This General Release constitutes the complete and entire agreement and understanding among the 
parties, and supersedes any and all prior or contemporaneous agreements, commitments, understandings or arrangements, whether written or 
oral, between or among any of the parties, in each case concerning the subject matter hereof.  
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BY SIGNING THIS GENERAL RELEASE, I REPRESENT AND AGREE THAT:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   
   

  

(i) I HAVE READ IT CAREFULLY; 

(ii) I UNDERSTAND ALL OF ITS TERMS AND KNOW THAT I AM GIVING UP IMPORTANT RIGHTS, INCLUDING 
BUT NOT LIMITED TO, RIGHTS UNDER THE AGE DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT ACT OF 1967, AS 
AMENDED, TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964, AS AMENDED, THE EQUAL PAY ACT OF 1963, THE 
AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT OF 1990, AND THE EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT INCOME SECURITY ACT 
OF 1974, AS AMENDED; 

(iii) I VOLUNTARILY CONSENT TO EVERYTHING IN IT; 

(iv) I HAVE BEEN ADVISED TO CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY BEFORE EXECUTING IT AND I HAVE DONE SO 
OR, AFTER CAREFUL READING AND CONSIDERATION, I HAVE CHOSEN NOT TO DO SO OF MY OWN 
VOLITION; 

(v) I HAVE HAD AT LEAST [ 21 ][ 45 ] DAYS FROM THE DATE OF MY RECEIPT OF THIS RELEASE TO CONSIDER 
IT AND THE CHANGES MADE SINCE MY RECEIPT OF THIS RELEASE ARE NOT MATERIAL OR WERE MADE 
AT MY REQUEST AND WILL NOT RESTART THE REQUIRED [ 21 ][ 45 ] -DAY PERIOD; 

(vi) I UNDERSTAND THAT I HAVE SEVEN (7) DAYS AFTER THE EXECUTION OF THIS RELEASE TO REVOKE IT 
AND THAT THIS RELEASE SHALL NOT BECOME EFFECTIVE OR ENFORCEABLE UNTIL THE REVOCATION 
PERIOD HAS EXPIRED; 

(vii) I HAVE SIGNED THIS GENERAL RELEASE KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY AND WITH THE ADVICE OF 
ANY COUNSEL RETAINED TO ADVISE ME WITH RESPECT TO IT; AND 

(viii) I AGREE THAT THE PROVISIONS OF THIS GENERAL RELEASE MAY NOT BE AMENDED, WAIVED, CHANGED 
OR MODIFIED EXCEPT BY AN INSTRUMENT IN WRITING SIGNED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE 
OF THE COMPANY AND BY ME. 

SIGNED:     DATE:   
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Exhibit 12.1 
   

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES  
   

The following table sets forth the ratio of earnings to fixed charges on a consolidated basis for each of the periods indicated. For the purposes 
of computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, earnings are defined as income before income taxes plus fixed charges. Fixed charges 
consist of interest expense (including capitalized interest) and the portion of rental expense that is representative of the interest factor.  
   

   

   

   

    For the Year Ended December 31, 
    2014   2013   2012 

Earnings:                         
Income (loss) before income taxes   $ (149 )   $ (61 )   $ 1,008   
Fixed charges     139       140       66   
Capitalized interest     (3 )     (5 )     (2 ) 
Total earnings (loss)   $ (13 )   $ 74     $ 1,075   

                          
Fixed Charges:                         
Interest expense   $ 124     $ 122     $ 53   
Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs and discounts on 

debt     10       9       10   
Rental expense representative of interest factor (1)     2       4       4   
Capitalized interest     3       5       2   
Total fixed charges   $ 139     $ 140     $ 69   

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges     —         1       16   

  

(1) Relates to the financing leases in South Africa. 

  

  



Exhibit 21.1 
  

LIST OF TRONOX LIMITED SUBSIDIARIES  
   

      
Subsidiary    Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization 
      
U.S. Subsidiaries:     
      
Tronox Finance LLC 

  
Delaware 

Tronox Incorporated 
  

Delaware 

Tronox LLC   Delaware 

Tronox Pigments LLC   Delaware 

Tronox US Holdings Inc.   Delaware 

Non-U.S. Subsidiaries:     

Pigment Holdings Pty Ltd*   Australia 

Senbar Holdings Pty Ltd*   Australia 

Synthetic Rutile Holdings Pty Ltd*   Australia 

Ti02 Corporation Pty Ltd   Australia 

Ticor Finance (A.C.T.) Pty Ltd*   Australia 

Ticor Resources Pty Ltd.*   Australia 

Tific Pty Ltd   Australia 

Tronox Australia Holdings Pty Limited   Australia 

Tronox Australia Pigments Holdings Pty Limited   Australia 

Tronox Australia Pty Ltd   Australia 

Tronox Global Holdings Pty Limited   Australia 

Tronox Holdings Cooperatief U.A.   The Netherlands 

Tronox Holdings Europe C.V.   The Netherlands 

Tronox Holdings (Australia) Pty Ltd.   Australia 

Tronox International Finance LLP   United Kingdom 

Tronox Investments (Australia) Pty Ltd*   Australia 

Tronox KZN Sands Proprietary Limited   South Africa 

Tronox Management Pty Ltd.   Australia 

Tronox Mineral Sales Pty Ltd   Australia 

Tronox Mineral Sands (Pty) Ltd   South Africa 

Tronox Pigments Australia Holdings Pty Limited   Australia 

Tronox Pigments Australia Pty Limited   Australia 

Tronox Pigments (Holland) B.V.   The Netherlands 

Tronox Pigments (Netherlands) B.V.   The Netherlands 



  



 

* This entity has been liquidated and deregistered as of January 28, 2015.  
   

   

  

Tronox Pigments Ltd.   Bahamas 

Tronox Pigments (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.   Singapore 

Tronox Pigments Western Australia Pty Limited*   Australia 

Tronox Sands Holdings Pty Limited   Australia 

Tronox Sands Investment Funding Limited   United Kingdom 

Tronox Sands LLP   United Kingdom 

Tronox UK Finance Limited   United Kingdom 

Tronox Western Australia Pty Ltd   Australia 

Tronox Worldwide Pty Limited   Australia 

Yalgoo Minerals Pty Ltd.   Australia 

  

  

  



   
Exhibit 23.1 

   
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

   
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-182556) of Tronox Limited of our 
report dated February 25, 2015 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which 
appears in this Form 10-K.  
   
/s/ Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP  
Stamford, CT  
February 25, 2015  
   
   

  

  



Exhibit 23.2 
  

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
   

We have issued our report dated February 27, 2014 (except for the adjustments to the statements of cash flows described in Note 1 under 
the caption of Basis of Presentation, and for the revisions to the guarantor condensed consolidating financial statements described in Note 27, 
which are as of February 25, 2015), with respect to the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2013 and for each of the two years 
in the period ended December 31, 2013, included in the Annual Report of Tronox Limited on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2014. We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of said report in the Registration Statement of Tronox Limited on Form S-8 (File 
No. 333-182556).  

   

   
   

   

  
/s/ Grant Thornton LLP   
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 
February 25, 2015 

  

  



EXHIBIT 31.1 
  

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER   
PURSUANT TO   

EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13A-14(A)/15D-14(A)    
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO   

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  
   

I, Thomas Casey, certify that:  
   
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 of Tronox Limited (the “Registrant”);  
   
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 

to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

   
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  
   
4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:  

   
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 

under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

   
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

   
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report 
based on such evaluation; and  

   
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

   
5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

   
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report 
financial information; and  

   
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  
   

Date: February 25, 2015  
   
 /s/ THOMAS CASEY   
 Thomas Casey   
 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer   



EXHIBIT 31.2 
  

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER   
PURSUANT TO    

EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13A-14(A)/15D-14(A)    
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO    

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  
   

I, Katherine C. Harper, certify that:  
   
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 of Tronox Limited (the “Registrant”);  
   
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 

to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

   
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  
   
4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:  

   
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 

under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

   
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

   
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report 
based on such evaluation; and  

   
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

   
5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

   
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report 
financial information; and  

   
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  
   

Date: February 25, 2015  
   

   
   
   

 /s/ KATHERINE C. HARPER   
 Katherine C. Harper   
 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer   



EXHIBIT 32.1 
  

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER   
PURSUANT TO   

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,   
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO   

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  
   

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C § 1350, the undersigned officer of Tronox Limited (the “Registrant”) hereby certifies that the Registrant’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as 
applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the 
financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.  
   
February 25, 2015  
   
   

   
The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a 

separate disclosure document.  
   

   /s/ THOMAS CASEY 
   Thomas Casey 
   Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 



EXHIBIT 32.2 
  

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER    
PURSUANT TO   

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,   
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO   

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  
   

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, the undersigned officer of Tronox Limited (the “Registrant”) hereby certifies that the Registrant’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as 
applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the 
financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.  
   
February 25, 2015  
   

   
The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a 

separate disclosure document.  
   

   

   /s/ KATHERINE C. HARPER 
   Katherine C. Harper 
   Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 


